

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.



WORLD EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMME RESEARCH

Working Papers





International Labour Office, Geneva

WORLD EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMME RESEARCH

Working Paper

Rural Employment Policy Research Programme

RURAL LABOUR IN LATIN AMERICA

Ъу

Alain de Janvry, Elisabeth Sadoulet, and Linda Wilcox

Note:

.

WEP Research Working Papers are preliminary documents circulated in a limited number of copies solely to stimulate discussion and critical comment. They are restricted and should not be cited without permission.

June 1986

Copyright © International Labour Organisation 1986

Publications of the International Labour Office enjoy copyright under Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. Nevertheless, short excerpts from them may be reproduced without authorisation, on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to the Publications Branch (Rights and Permissions), International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. The International Labour Office welcomes such applications.

ISBN 92-2-105589-2

First published 1986

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Labour Office concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers. The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office of the opinions expressed in them. Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the International Labour Office, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

ILO publications can be obtained through major booksellers or ILO local offices in many countries, or direct from ILO Publications, International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. A catalogue or list of new publications will be sent free of charge from the above address.

Printed by the International Labour Office, Geneva, Switzerland

PREFACE

This paper is part of the contribution by the Rural Employment Policies Branch to the World Labour Report III. This volume has as a specific theme the returns to labour. The present paper is part of the effort to document the issue of returns to rural labour. The main objective of this research is to measure the level and trends in returns to rural labour in Asia, Africa and Latin America, and identify the main determinants of returns to labour. Two issues are to be investigated: (a) the adequacy of returns to labour to maintain standards of living above the poverty line; and (b) the policy instruments that affect returns to rural labour.

In this paper, Professor Alain de Janvry and his colleagues draw on a massive amount of data in order to document the levels and trends in returns to rural labour in Latin America. The objective is to fill a gap in the studies of Latin American agriculture. These studies have so far concentrated on the distribution of landownership in the context of land reform programmes of the sixties; the diffusion of modern technologies of the green revolution type in the late sixties; the status of the peasantry in the early seventies and the role of agribusiness in the late seventies. In contrast to the Asian literature, relatively little is known in Latin America on the status of rural labour and the performance of labour markets. Thus, the present paper begins with an empirical picture of wage employment, then goes on to describe the variety of labour contracts prevailing in Latin American agriculture. This is followed by a study of the relationship between the sources of income of the rural households and the incidence of poverty.

The study comes to important conclusions relating to both the development of agriculture and labour situations in Latin America. The general picture that emerges from the study is one of a rapidly declining share of agriculture in the total labour force, weak capacity for generating non-agricultural employment in rural areas, and extremely rapid rural-urban migration. With lack of employment creation in the modern agricultural sector, insufficient access to land, and limited urban and rural non-agricultural employment opportunities, the peasantry persists as a refuge sector for surplus population, resulting in low level of returns to labour. In view of this analysis, several lines of policy intervention to improve the welfare of rural workers are suggested. These include a better access to land as the prime instrument of poverty alleviation; correcting the distortion in relative factor prices; support to the peasant sector; development of rural non-agricultural sources of employment and the creation of the institutional framework to facilitate these objectives.

> Dharam P. Ghai Chief Rural Employment Policies Branch Employment and Development Department

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors want to acknowledge the generous assistance, in getting access to information of Jaime Crispi, Ednaldo da Silva, Gustavo Esteva, Glynnis Gawn, Lynn Ground, Rodolfo Hoffman, Samir Radwan, Gervasio Castro de Rezende, and Victor Tokman.

Table of Contents

		Page
Prefa	ace	i
Ackno	owledgements	iii
List	of Tables	vii
Intro	oduction	1
		_
I.	Evolution of agricultural and rural populations	7
	Agricultural and rural populations	7
· .	Rural-urban migration	18
тт	Structure of employment and importance of ware	
110	employment in agriculture	23
	Employment structure in the rural and the urban sectors	23
	Structure of employment by farm size	33
	Number and average size of small farms over time	36
	Extent of landlessness	39
	Structure of employment in agriculture and rural sectors	41
III.	Agricultural wages	45
	Evolution of agricultural and non-agricultural wages	45
	Real wages paid to permanent and temporary workers	55
	Unemployment and underemployment in agriculture	57
	Implicit remuneration of family labour	61
IV.	Agricultural labour contracts	64
	Permanent and temporary employment in agriculture	64
	Forms of remuneration to workers	68

۷.	Household incomes and rural poverty	71
	Sources of income	71
	Rural poverty	74
VI.	Conclusion	79
	Footnotes	85
	References	87
List	of Previous Publications	89
List	of Books	95

Page

.

Doc. 9307e

- vii -

۵

List of Tables

Table	<u>e</u> de la constant de la const	Page
1	Agricultural and rural population	8
2	Basic economic indicators	13
3	Relative decline of agricultural and rural populations, 1960-1980	17
4	Rural migration	19
5	Correlations between migration rates and change in migration rates and selected economic and demographic variables	20
6	Employment structure in the rural and urban sectors	24
7	Regression results for share of total EAP in traditional sectors	28
8	Regression results for ratio of EAP in traditional urban to traditional rural sectors	29
9	Regression results for the share and change in the share of agricultural EAP in the traditional sector	31
10	Structure of employment by farm size	34
11	Number and average size of small farms over time	37
12	Extent of landlessness	40
13	Structure of employment in agricultural and rural sectors	42
14	Evolution of agricultural and non-agricultural nominal wages, 1965-1980	46
15	Agricultural and non-agricultural wages, 1980-1984	48
16	Comparison of agricultural and non-agricultural real wages	49
17	Agricultural and non-agricultural real wages, 1965-1984	50
18	Real wages paid to permanent and temporary workers	56

Page

Table

19 Unemployment and underemployment in agriculture, Chile, Peru, El Salvador, Mexico and Brazil 58 20 Implicit remuneration of family labour 62 65 21 Permanent and temporary employment in agriculture 22 Temporary versus permanent employment 66 Forms of remuneration to workers 69 23 24 72 Sources of income 25 Rural poverty: estimates of poverty in Latin America around 1970 76 Rural poverty in Mexico, 1963 and 1975 77 26 27 Rural poverty in Mexico, by occupation 78 of head of household, 1975

Introduction

The status of rural labour and the performance of rural labour markets in Latin America have changed markedly in recent years under the combined pressures of rapid urban-industrial development, modernisation of agriculture, changing land tenure patterns and labour laws, and increasing integration of the rural and urban labour markets. Yet, studies of Latin American agriculture have focused on other subjects which have been dictated by changes in the dominant issues and reforms of the moment. Thus, agrarian studies have concentrated on the distribution of landownership and on patterns of land use in the context of the land reform programmes of the 1960s, on the diffusion of modern technologies in the context of the technological changes brought about by the Green Revolution in the late 1960s, on the status of the peasantry in the context of the rural development programmes initiated in the early 1970s, and on the role of multinational agribusiness in the context of the increasisng internationalisation of capital in the late 1970s. In contrast to the Asian literature, relatively little is known in Latin America of the status of rural labour and the performance of labour markets. Yet, the levels of landlessness are extremely high in Latin America, the peasantry is highly dependent on wage earnings for its survival and its size has not declined in its share of the agricultural economically active population, surplus labour in agriculture remains unabatedly high, and the rural sector is the principal reservoir of poverty in spite of the gradual displacement of marginality toward the urban areas. It is thus important that greater attention be given to Latin American rural labour, both in terms of the economic performance of agriculture and the welfare of rural workers and peasants. It is the purpose of this report to provide a broad characterisation of the recent transformations of labour relations in Latin American agriculture since the 1950s and to explain the causes of some of the observed changes. The empirical basis is principally the agricultural and population censuses; the research of the International Labour Office and the Regional Employment Programme for Latin America and the Caribbean (PREALC) for the region; data transmitted by informants for Mexico, Brazil, and Chile; and a large number of case studies dispersed in the Latin American literature, more often than not in unpublished form. The report is only a first approximation of a vast and multifaceted subject with scattered and incomplete information.

The report is structured in five parts that address (1) the changes in the rural and agricultural populations and the patterns of rural-urban migration; (2) the structure of employment and the importance of wage employment in agriculture; (3) the evolution of agricultural wages and surplus labour; (4) the nature of labour contracts in agriculture; and (5) the levels of household income and the magnitude of rural poverty. We begin with a summary of the major findings documented in the report.

1. There has been a continuous rapid decline in both the share of rural population in total population and the share of agricultural economically active population (EAP) in total EAP. For Latin America as a whole (19 countries), these shares declined respectively from 50 per cent to 34 per cent and from 49 per cent to 32 per cent between 1960 and 1980. Thus, no longer does agriculture employ the majority of Latin Americans. Higher per capita-income countries have markedly lower shares of the total gross domestic product (GDP) originating in agriculture and lower shares of rural population and of agricultural EAP. The observed rapid decline in these two shares can thus be expected to continue as economic growth progresses.

The share of rural population has, in general, declined only slightly more slowly than the share of agricultural EAP, with a 1 per cent decline in the latter associated with a 0.73 per cent decline in the former. This indicates a generally weak ability on the part of the Latin American economies, with their current highly concentrated patterns of urban-industrial development, to generate non-agricultural employment opportunities in their rural sectors and, thus, to retain larger shares of their EAPs in the rural areas. This ability to generate non-agricultural employment in the rural sector is, however, greater in the higher per capita income countries, suggesting greater abilities of doing so in the future as economic growth continues.

2. Rural-urban migration rates have been generally exceptionally high by international standards during the last 30 years. Migration rates tend to increase with overall economic growth and with growth of non-agricultural activities, indicating that migration rates will likely continue to increase as economies grow and industrialise. Migration rates also increase with growth in agricultural GDP per capita, stressing the labour-saving and land-concentrating nature of agricultural growth in Latin America. Pull factors, however, tend to dominate among determinants of migraton rates. This is confirmed by the observed negative correlation between the share of the peasantry in agricultural EAP and migration rates: When pull factors are weak, migration opportunities are reduced, and the relative size of the peasantry increases as a refuge sector of surplus population.

3. In spite of a rapidly falling share of agricultural EAP in total EAP, the size of the peasant sector has increased in most countries in both absolute number and in share of agricultural EAP (with Mexico as the most significant exception). We thus observe a high resiliency of the peasantry to economic growth. The increase in the share of the peasantry in agricultural EAP tends to respond positively to growth of GDP per capita but negatively to growth in agricultural GDP per capita. In general, growth in the modern agricultural sector has created little new employment, and the overall size of the proletarian workforce in Latin American agriculture has remained relatively constant over the last 30 years. Since the number of peasants has increased and their dependency on wage income also seems to have increased, total proletarianisation (full and semi-proletarianisation) should have increased.

For the economy as a whole, total marginality (rural plus urban) has only declined from 47 per cent of total EAP in 1950 to 42 per cent in 1980, indicating the failure of the Latin American growth models to generate significant employment in their modern sectors. The absolute number of marginals has increased by no less than 91 per cent during the 30-year period. In addition, marginality has been increasingly displaced from the rural to the urban sectors, with the share of the urban sector in total marginality increasing from 28 per cent in 1950 to 46 per cent in 1980.

Over time, the ability of economic growth to absorb the marginal sectors seems to be declining, presaging that large sectors of marginal populations will remain a feature of the Latin American economies for many years to come unless these economies adopt alternative styles of economic development.

Doc. 9307e

- 3 -

4. The structure of labour absorption by farm size indicates that the peasantry tends to be a residual sector that expands faster during periods of slow economic growth and slower during periods of rapid growth when urban migration accelerates. This observation confirms the interpretation of the peasantry as a refuge sector of surplus population and not as an economically superior form of productive organisation.

5. Changes over time in the distribution of land across farm sizes indicate that the number of small farms has increased in almost every country and that the average size of these small farms has declined over time. While the peasantry has thus grown in absolute number, its qualitative nature has changed as it increasingly loses its producer status and must rely on off-farm income sources to compensate for the loss of productive resources.

6. The level of landlessness among the rural population is extremely high in most Latin American countries, and this percentage seems to have increased over time on the basis of the limited information available. Since landlessness is higher in the countries with lower shares of agricultural GDP in total GDP, the level of landlessness can be expected to further increase in the future as economic growth reduces the share of agriculture in total GDP.

7. The rural and urban labour markets have become increasingly integrated, with both an increasing share of the agricultural EAP which is urban based and an increasing share of the rural EAP which is employed in non-agricultural activities. Urbanisation of the agricultural labour force has generally been accelerated by changes in labour laws and in land tenure patterns which have led to the dismissal of permanent workers, their relocation in rural towns, and their replacement by temporary workers. This phenomenon is particularly advanced in specific regions of Brazil, Chile, and Mexico. An important consequence of this increased integration of the two labour markets is the marked decline in the gap between agricultural and non-agricultural wages, with the first still well below the second. Another consequence is the deskilling of the farm labourforce as temporary farm work increasingly acquires the features of a secondary labour market. Finally, town-based agricultural labour - which is easier to mobilise on a temporary basis, often with the mediation of labour contractors - increasingly competes for employment with semi-proletarian labour of peasant origin. In the areas

- 4 -

where there is a well-organised labour market for town-based agricultural labourers and a close integration between farm and urban employment opportunities, the peasantry loses its traditional function as a reservoir of cheap temporary labour.

8. Rural wages in agriculture have fallen in a majority of countries between 1965 and 1980, and this has worsened in the 1980s due to sharply rising rates of inflation. Urban wages have, however, fallen even more, resulting in a tendency for a convergence between agricultural and urban wages. In spite of this, agricultural wages were still in 1980 some 50 per cent to 75 per cent lower than urban wages for unskilled labour.

Agricultural wages tend to be sensitive to overall economic growth more than to growth of the agricultural sector. This reinforces the observations that (1) agricultural growth has not been employment creating, (2) pull factors are the main determinants of migration, and (3) integration of the rural and urban labour markets affects the determination of wages in agriculture.

Finally, countries with larger shares of peasantry in the agricultural EAP and with lower levels of full proletarianisation in agriculture tend to have lower levels of agricultural wages. This supports the interpretation of the peasantry as a reservoir of cheap labour able to sustain low levels of wages since semi-proletarian peasant labour is partially subsidised by subsistence production of household labour categories with low or zero opportunity cost.

9. Wages paid to temporary workers are higher than wages paid to permanent workers to compensate for greater flexibility on the employer's side and greater irregularity of work on the worker's side. Wages of temporary workers tend to be more unstable than those of permanent workers, increasing and falling more as employment opportunities fluctuate.

10. Rates of unemployment in agriculture have been increasing throughout the 1970s and especially the 1980s. This is true of both open unemployment, which remains low in agriculture, and underemployment which reaches levels of 17 per cent in Chile, 29 per cent in Brazil, 47 per cent in El Salvador, and 61 per cent in Peru. Seasonality in employment seems to increase in the less advanced regions where mechanisation of the labour process is still only partial and to subsequently decrease in the more advanced regions as the full annual cycle of tasks becomes mechanised.

11. Implicit remuneration of family labour in home-plot activities is only a fraction of the wage of permanent agricultural workers for large percentages of the farm population on small farms. This discrepancy can be used as a measure of surplus labour on these farms which is thus seen to be high and not significantly declining over time. While absolute implicit income levels have improved on small farms, household members on large farms have benefited substantially more. the result has been a decline in absolute poverty but an increase in inequality in the distribution of farm income.

12. Due to changes in technology and in labour laws on the demand side and to rising landlessness and a growing town-based agricultural labour force on the supply side, there has been a rapid shift in the structure of employment from permanent to temporary workers. With mechanisation occurring simultaneously, the substitution of permanent by temporary workers was often accompanied by a fall in total employment [Argentina, Mexico, and Chile (Region IV)].

13. There has been a rapid decline in labour payments under the form of land rights or in kind. Only in the more marginal areas, dominated by peasant farming, do payments in food and drink remain of some importance. Cash remuneraton is, thus, the main form of wage payment. Social security benefits and profit sharing still represent only minimal complements to the cash wages received.

14. Data on sources of income show a high level of dependency on non-farm income for a large percentage of farm households, with wages providing, by far, the largest source of off-farm income. The Latin American peasantry is, thus, highly semi-proletarianised. More than rural development programmes directed at increasing yields in peasant farming systems, access to employment opportunities, the level of wages paid, and the degree of integration between rural and urban labour markets are thus key to permanence on the land for large percentages of small farmers.

Doc. 9307e

- 6 -

15. Even though the real implicit incomes of smallholders have increased and the gap between rural and urban wages has narrowed, rural poverty remains extreme in Latin America, eventually affecting as much as 62 per cent of rural households. The percentage of households below the poverty line that are in the rural sector declines sharply with GNP per capita, principally due to the urban shift of populations. In spite of rising per capita incomes in the country, as a whole, and of relocation of marginality towards the urban sector, the share of population below the poverty line is increasingly in agriculture. The rural sector thus remains the ultimate reservoir of poverty. Direct antipoverty interventions on behalf of the rural population are thus required if poverty in that sector is to be reduced to the level of other sectors of the economy.

I. Evolution of agricultural and rural populations

Agricultural and rural populations

While the average annual growth rates of population and of total EAP for Latin America (19 countries) between 1960 and 1980 were both high and about equal to 2.6 per cent, the growth rate of the rural population was only 0.65 per cent and that of EAP in agriculture was 0.43 per cent (table 1). This reflects an intense migratory flow toward the urban sector and the weak employment-generating capacity of agriculture and the rural economy relative to population growth.

Even though the growth rates of rural population and agricultural EAP have been positive, the share of both rural population in total population and of agricultural EAP in total EAP have continued to decline rapidly. The first declined from 50.2 per cent (1960) to 34.3 per cent (1980) and the second from 48.7 per cent to 31.7 per cent. With respect to the level of these shares (figure 1), three groups of countries can be distinguished:

- (a) Highly urbanised countries with low shares of both rural population and agricultural EAP - Argentina, Chile, Uruguay, and Venezuela;
- (b) Industrialising countries with intermediate shares of both rural population and agricultural EAP - Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Mexico, Panama, and Peru.

- 7 -

Table 1 - Agricultural and Rural Population

	Total pop	Rural pop	Total EAP	Ag EAP	Rural/ Tot pop	Ag EAP/ Tot EAP		Total pop	Rural pop	Total EAP	Ag EAP	Rural/ Tot.pop	Ag EAP/ Tot FAP	
Argentina	millions	millions	millions	millions	*	*		millions	millions	millions	millions	x	x x	
1050	17 005					•	Dom Rep							
1950	20 611	E 441	7.070	1.778		25.1	1950	2.136		0.794	0.331		41.7	
1900	20.011	5.441	7.887	1.592	26.4	20.2	1960	3.047	2.127	0.895	0.592	69.8	66.1	
1970	23.740	5.130	9.055	1.486	21.6	16.4	1970	4.006	2.392	1.339	0.726	59.7	54.2	
1900	27.740	4.882	10.068	1.314	17.6	13.1	1980	5.431	2.661	1.815	0.890	49.0	49.0	
Bolivia	:						C ousido -			,			е. Т	
1950	3.019		1.387	1,009		72 7	Ecuador							
1960	3.428	2.605	1,180	0 752	76.0	12.1	1950	3.231		1.316	0.841		63.9	
1970	4.325	3.110	1.387	0.732	70.0	03./ 57.7	1960	4.422	2.901	1.454	0.841	65.6	57.8	
1980	5.570	3.097	1.782	0.886	55 6	33.7	1970	5.962	3.607	1.803	0.920	60.5	51.0	
				0.000	55.0	49.7	1980	8.354	4.628	2.342	0.814	55.4	34.8	
Brazil	•	•				•	El Salvador							ſ
1950	51.973		17.689	10.572		59.8	1050	1 022		0 670	0 110			
1960	72.594	39.128	23.089	12.030	53.9	52.1	1950	2 542	1 560	0.070	0.442	<u> </u>	66.0	
1970	95.847	42.269	29.944	13.655	44.1	45.6	1900	2.342	2 050	0.025	0.508	61.7	61.6	
1980	118.332	38.340	42.801	12.992	32.4	30.4	1980	4.540	2.674	1.565	0.057	50.0	56.1	
Chilo										1.000	0.750	50.9	Q 0. 2	
LIIIe	0.050						Guatemala							
1950	6.058		1.148	0.674		58.7	1950	2.791		0.989	0.679		68 7	
1960	7.585	2.442	2.479	0.744	32.2	30.0	1960	3.966	2.657	1.229	0.820	67.0	66.7	
1970	9.368	2.323	2.935	0.699	24.8	23.8	1970	5.353	3.442	1.608	0.981	64 3	61.0	
1900	11.104	2.154	3.581	0.583	19.4	16.3	1980	7.262	4.437	1.639	0.946	61.1	57.7	
Colombia	•		•										2 x. *	
1950	11.330	•	3.847	2 182		56 7	Haiti							
1960	15.754	8.161	4.689	2 410	51.9	50.7	1950			1.769	1.052		59.5	
1970	21.266	8.549	6 193	2 347	40.2	JI.4	1960	3.630	3.064	1.973	1.557	84.4	78.9	
1980	25.892	9.399	7 500	1 037	40.Z	37.9	1970	4.235	3.392	2.297	1.641	80.1	71.4	
		0.000	7.303	1.957	30.3	25.8	1980	5.009	3.632	2.717	1.997	72.5	73.5	
Costa Rica							Honduras							
1950	0.859		0.293	0.167		57.0	1050	. 1 372		0 472	0 770			
1960	1.236	0.785	0.361	0.186	63.5	51.5	1060	1 043	1 500	0.472	0.338		71.6	
1970	1.732	1.044	0.512	0.215	60.3	42.0	1070	2 670	1.000	0.010	0.428	77.2	70.2	
1980	2.279	1.290	0.765	0.219	56.6	28.6	1970	7 601	1.002	0.785	0.521	71.3	66.5	
						2010	1900	2.021	2.3//	1.107	0.693	64.4	62.6	

ω

TABLE 1

•

continued.

(

•	Total pop	Rural pop	Total EAP	Ag EAP	Rural/	Ag EAP/ Tot FAP		
	millions	millions	millions	millions		*	tel si San si	Dorii
Mexico						CO 0		1050
1950	26.282		8.201	4.983		60.8		1060
1960	37.073	18.240	10.705	5.898	49.2	55.1		1900
1970	51.176	20.982	13.933	6.298	41.0	45.2		1970
1980	69.393	23.108	18.893	6.726	33.3	35.6		1900
								Uruguay
Nicaragua	1 177		0 374	0.233		62.3		1950
1950	1.155	0.827	0 484	0.301	58.6	62.2		1960
1960	1.411	0.027	0.527	0.264	52.8	50.1		1970
1970	1.030	1 424	0.367	0 327	53.3	42.6		1980
1980	2.072	1.424	0.707	0.527				Venezuela
								1950
Panama			0 202	0 158		56.0		1960
1950	0.795	0.047	0.202	0.130	58 7	50.9		1970
1960	1.095	0.643	0.350	0.170	50.7	41 5		1980
1970	1.464	0.766	0.484	0.201	J2.J	71.5		
1980	1.835	0.839	0.555	0.175	45.7	31.5		
Paraguay								
1950	1.397		0.491	0.274		55.8		
1960	1.778	1.145	0.599	0.337	64.4	56.3		1950
1970	2.290	1.440	0.743	0.391	62.9	52.6		1960
1980	2.982	1.807	1.019	0.458	60.6	44.9		1970
								1080

	Total non	Rural DOD	Total EAP	Ag EAP	Rural/	AG EAPI
	10(0) 000	nur ur pop			Tot pop	Tot EAP
•	millions	millions	millions	millions	x	*
1050	8,217		2.889	1.519		52.6
1060	0 665	5,190	3.223	1.678	53.7	52.1
1900	12 833	5, 197	3.829	1.770	40.5	46.2
1980	16.610	5.780	5.126	2.029	34.8	39.6
uav						40.0
1950	2.193		0.493	0.211		42.0
1960	2.538	0.505	0.970	0.191	19.9	19.7
1970	2.808	0.503	1.083	0.197	17.9	18.2
1980	2.908	0.465	1.122	0.121	16.0	10.8
zuela						27 5
1950	5.035		1.718	0.403		23.3
1960	7.632	2.549	2.354	0.793	33.4	33.7
1970	10.709	2.549	3.133	0.803	23.8	25.0
1980	14.930	2.493	4.368	0.786	16.7	18.0
(19 coun	tries)					57 7
1950	146.828		51.892	27.846		107
1960	201.950	101.478	65.356	31.836	50.2	40.7
1970	264,995	111.605	82.759	34.517	42.1	41.7

115.487 109.541

264.995

336.534

Source: Population in World Bank, World Tables, 1976 and 1983; EAP in ECLA, Statiscal Yearbook for Latin America, 1983.

1980

I. 9 I

31.7

34.3

34.683



(c) Agrarian economies with high shares of both rural population and agricultural EAP - Bolivia, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Nicaragua, and Paraguay.

1980	Group 1	Group 2	<u>Group 3</u>
GDP per capita	1 075	829	354
Agricultural population as per cent of GDP	8.4	12.9	23.0
Rural population as per cent of total population	17.6	34.4	59.5
Agricultural EAP as per cent of total EAP	14.7	31.9	56.3
Ratio of share of rural population to share of agricultural EAP	1.20	1.08	1.06

The GDP per capita declines from group 1 to group 3, while the share of agricultural GDP in total GDP increases. The ratio of rural population in total population over agricultural EAP in total EAP decreases, indicating that the richest and less agrarian economies are the ones where non-agricultural employment in the rural sector is relatively more plentiful. As economic growth occurs, we can thus expect to see a greater ability of the rural economy to retain population in non-agricultural activities.

A comparison of the country-specific relative declines in the shares of rural population and EAP in agriculture (table 3) shows that in 13 countries the latter declined faster than the former, while in the other six countries the converse was true. Four of the six countries with slower declines in the share of EAP in agriculture were in the agrarian group, while the majority of the fastest relative declines occurred in countries in the industrialising group. For all countries combined, the share of EAP in agriculture declined slightly faster than the share of rural population (2.0 per cent faster per decade). An unweighted regression of the share of rural population on the share of EAP in agriculture for the three years (1960, 1970, and 1980) combined, confirms the overall trend of a slightly faster relative decline of the share of EAP in agriculture, with a 1 per cent decline in share of EAP in agriculture being associated with a decline of 0.73 per cent in share of population in rural areas. However, apart from a few countries, such as Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, and Uruguay which all had relative declines in agricultural EAP of more than 15 per cent per decade, the data indicate a weak employment-generating capacity in the rural sector of Latin American economies. This apparent correspondence in the declining shares of agricultural EAP and rural population, however, masks two complementary shifts in the labour markets: more agricultural labour is coming from urban areas and more non-agricultural activities are located in rural areas. This increasing integration of the rural and urban labour markets will be analysed in table 13.

As observed by Kuznets, there exists a close relationship between GDP per capita and the share of EAP in agriculture (figure 2). The share of EAP in agriculture (1980 figures) ranges from 74 per cent in Haiti to 13 per cent in Argentina and 11 per cent in Uruguay, while GDP per capita ranges from US\$114 in Hati to US\$1,132 in Uruguay and US\$1,172 in Venezuela (see table 2 for the Basic economic indicators on the Latin American countries). Regressions of the share of EAP in agriculture on GDP per capita for the years 1960, 1970, and 1980 confirm this negative relationship. However, the coefficient on GDP per capita declines over time in absolute value (-0.068 to -0.042) indicating that recent growth does not have as much capacity to absorb agricultural EAP The share of GDP originating in agriculture was included as a as before. second explanatory variable in these regressions. The coefficient of this variable was insignificant for the individual years (possibly due to multicollinearity with GDP per capita) but was significant when the data were pooled. The elasticity of the share of EAP in agriculture with respect to the share of GDP originating in agriculture was found to be as low as 0.11 in the latter case. However, the share of GDP originating in agriculture also declines as GDP per capita increases. Continued sharp declines in the share of EAP in agriculture can thus be expected to occur if the Latin American countries pursue their current styles of development which are highly biased toward a geographically concentrated urban-industrial sector and labour-saving technology in modern agriculture.

	•	• •					Aver Grow	age annual th rate of:		
A	GDP US\$ (millions)	GDP per capita US\$	Ag. GDP US\$ (millions)	Ag. GDP per capi US\$	Ag. GDP as ta % of GDP	3	GDP pe r capita	Ag. GDP	Manuf. GDP per	Total popn.
Argentina	11676	(70	(1111000)					capita	capita	
1950	11570	6/8 726	05/0	100						
1970	23311	730	2043	123	16.7		0.8			1 0
1980	29616	1068	2034	119	12.2		2.9	0.4	4 2	1.5
Politita	29010	1000	5470	125	11.7		0.3	0.9	-1.5	1.6
1950										
1960	667	195	141	41	21 1					
1970	1042	241	189	41	18 1					2.2
1980	1613	290	259	46	16.1		2.8	0.6	3.0	2.4
Brazil							1.8	0.3	2.7	2.6
1950	12973	250					,			
1960	25185	347								
1970	45734	477	3722	39	8.1		3.8			3.1
1980	104702	885	6378	54	6.1		2.6	-0.9	6.9	2.8
Chile							2.0	3.1	6.6	2.1
1950	3650	602								
1960	5419	714	461	61	8 5					
1970	8200	875	558	60	6.8		1.8			2.2
1980	10504	946	686	62	6.5		2.3	1.0	3.4	2.1
Colombia							0.4	1.3	8.2	1.7
1950	2689	237	971	86	36 1					
1960	4234	269	1318	84	31 2					
· 1970	7068	332	1857	87	26.3		1.5	0.0	3.4	3.1
1980	12433	480	2925	113	23.5		2.1	0.5	2.7	3.0
Costa Rica							3.7	2.8	3.8	1.9
1950										
1960	547	443	129	104	23.6					
1970	985	569	222	128	22.5	2 · ·	• •			3.7
1980	1705	784	287	126	16.8		3.1	2.3	7.2	3.4
Dominican R	epublic				•		2.4	-0.4	4.3	2.8
1950	516	242								
1960	905	297	280	92	30.9					
1970	1486	371	345	86	23.2		2.2	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		3.6
1980	2900	534 .	483	89	16.7		1.6	-0.8	2.1	2.9
Ecuador		•					3.3	0.2	3.1	3.0
1950										
1960										
1970	1674	281	401	67	24.0			<i>*</i>		2.9
1980 .	3917	469	545	65	13.9		1.4	0.7	1.9	3.0
	•	•					5.2	-0.5	7.4	3.4

(Continued on next page.)

Table 2: Basic economic indicators

- 13 -

						:		Average and Growth rate	vial of:		
	GDP US\$ (millions)	GDP per capita US\$	Ag. GDP US\$	Ag. GDP per capita US\$	Ag. GDP as % of GDP		GDP per capita	Ag. GDP per capita	Manuf. GDP _l per capita _l	Total popn.	
El Salvador									. .		
1950	400	208	100	78	32 5		1.6			2.8	
1960	613	241	202	86	28 /		2.9	0.1	5.9	2.9	
19/0	1029	311	394	87	27.9		0.3	-0.2	°0.6	2.9	
1980	1415	JIL	374	07	27.02						
Guatemala			051	01	22 1						
1950	767	275	254	91	33.1		0.8	-0.1	1.6	3.0	
1960	1114	281	338	07	20.3		2.6	1.3	5.2	3.0	
1970	1904	356	520	97	27.5		2.4	1.2	2.8	3.1	
1980	3300	454	820	115	24.0						
Haiti											
1950			· · · ·							1.6	
1960	385	106	171	47	44.4		1 4	-22	-17	1.6	
1970	394	93	159	37	40.4		-1.4	-0.6	5.9	1.7	
1980	576	115	189	38	32.8		1.7	-0.0	5.5		
Honduras											
1950	331	241	129	94	39.0			• •	• •	2 2	
1960	447	230	135	69	30.2		-0.2	-2.8	3./	2.1	
1970	723	274	212	80	29.3		2.2	2./	2.6	3.4	
1980	1132	307	281	76	24.8		1.0	-1.1	2.0	J.4	
Morriso											
Mex100 1050	9827	374									
1950	17007	459	. 2634	71	15.5		2.5			3.1	
1970	35542	694	4330	85	12.2		4.3	1.2	6.8	3.3	
1980	67348	970	6056	87	9.0		3.4	0.3	4.0	3.1	
Nicaragua	07010			•							
1950	239	211									
1960	397	281	99	70	24.9		2.8			2.4	
1970	777	423	193	105	24.8		4.7	5.2	8.8	2.6	
1980	845	316	238	89	28.2		-3.1	-1.1	-1.1	3.9	
Panama											
1950	294	370	68	85	23.1						
1960	475	434	88	80	18.5		2.0	-0.4	5.9	2.9	
1970	1021	697	149	102	14.6		4.9	2.9	7.6	2.9	
1980	1715	935	178	97	10.4		2.2	-0.3	0.4	2.3	
raraguay	296	212									
1040	390	219					0.2			2.6	
1070	595	260	191	83	32.1		1.6	-0.5	2.3	2.6	
1020	1358	455	361	121	26.6		6.2	4.4	5.5	2.6	
1,000	2030						· • -				

(Continued on next page.)

Table 2 continued:

L 14 ı

Doc. 9307e

							Growth rate of:				
Peru	GDP US\$ (millio	GDP per capit Dns) US\$	Ag. GDP a US\$ (millions)	Ag. GDP per capita US\$	Ag. GDP as % of GDP	GDP per capita	Ag. GDP per capita	Manuf. GDP per capita	Total popn.		
19	950 2472	301	571	69	23 1						
19	960 4224	437	751	78	17.8						
19	970 6902	538	1129	88	16.4	2.9	0.2	5.4	2.6		
19	980 9471	570	1081	65	11.4	2.0	0.8	2.8	2.9		
Uruguay								0.5	2.0		
19	950 1604	731	200	91	12.5		•				
19	960 1968	775	200	79	10.2 ,	0 0	0 (0.0			
19	970 2452	873	268	95	10.9	0.8	8.0	2.6	1.3		
19	980 3292	1132	291	100	8.8	2.7	0.9	0.5	1.0		
Venezuel	la					/	0.0	5.0	0.4		
19	950 2956	587									
19	6373	835	483	63	7.6	1.0					
19	970 11629	1086	826	77	7.1	4.0	~ /		4.0		
19	980 17498	1172	1127	75	6.4	2.6 1.1	2.4	3.0 1.9	3.4 3.4		

Note:

All at constant 1970 prices.

Note: Growth is average annual for the decade up to and including year listed (for the 1980 growth rate, the period is 1970-81).

Source: World Bank, World Tables, 1983.

- 15 -



۰.

 $|\mathbf{k}_{1}| = \mathbf{1}$

Figure 2

Share of EAP in Agriculture by Income Level

Country -	Growth rate of share of rural population in total population (% per decade)	Growth rate of share of ag EAP in total EAP (% per decade)	Growth rate of ratio of share of rural pop. to share of ag. EAP
			(% per decade)
		с. А.	
Argentina	-18.3	-19.4	1.1
Bolivia	-14.4	-11.7	-2.8
Brazil	-22.4	-23.6	1.2
Chile	-22.3	-26.3	3.9
Colombia	-16.3	-29.2	12.9
Costa Rica	- 5.6	-25.5	19.9
Dominican Republic	-16.2	-13.9	-2.3
Ecuador	- 8.1	-22.4	14.4
El Salvador	- 2.3	- 9.4	7.2
Guatemala	- 4.5	- 6.9	2.4
Haiti	- 7.3	- 3.4	-3.9
Honduras	- 8.7	- 5.5	-3.2
Mexico	-17.7	-19.6	1.9
Nicaragua	- 4.6	-17.2	12.6
Panama	-11.7	-21.3	9.6
Paraguay	- 3.0	-10.7	7.7
Peru	-19.5	-12.8	-6.7
Uruguay	-10.3	-25.9	15.6
Venezuela	-29.2	-26.9	-2.4
Latin America	•		
(19 countries)	-17.3	-19.3	2.0

Table 3: Relative decline of agricultural and rural population (1960-1980)

.

Rural-urban migration

Rural-urban migration has been a very important demographic phenomenon in Latin America over the past three decades. As other studies show (e.g., United Nations, 1980), migration rates are higher in Latin America than in other developing countries - the Asian countries, in particular. Table 4 reveals significant variations in both levels and trends in migration rates across countries. While the rates have been high and increasing for most countries, Argentina and Uruguay have high but decreasing rates, and Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, and Paraguay all have low and decreasing rates.

Correlation coefficients of both migration rates for the 1960s and 1970s and the change in migration rates from the 1960s to the 1970s with various economic and demographic indicators are given in table 5. For the group as a whole, the variables most highly correlated with migration rates are initial GDP per capita and initial proportion of population in urban areas. Thus, a pull effect appears to be the dominant motivating force for migration. This is further corroborated by the positive coefficients for growth rate of manufacturing GDP per capita, growth rate of non-agricultural GDP per capita, and the difference between manufacturing and agricultural GDP per capita growth rates.

Growth rate of GDP per capita is fairly strongly correlated with migration rate in the 1960s (coefficient of 0.359) but not in the 1970s. However, ranking the countries according to both the level of GDP per capita in 1970 and the migration rate provides an almost perfect division into a high GDP per capita, high migration group (1), and a low GDP per capita, low migration group (2).¹ The correlation coefficients of migration rate with growth rate of GDP per capita for the two groups are 0.590 for group 1 and 0.905 for group 2, while for migration rate with growth rate of agricultural GDP per capita, the coefficients are 0.554 and 0.154, respectively. For change in migration, the coefficients are 0.568 and 0.982 with growth rate of GDP per capita, and 0.531 and 0.501 with growth rate of agricultural GDP per capita, for groups 1 and 2, respectively. Thus, for group 2 (which consists of relatively agrarian countries), although migration rates are low, both the rate and the change in the rate respond very closely to increases in the growth rate of GDP per capita, while the low positive association of migration

	Mig	ration ra	ates	Share of urban pop.	Rate of natural increase
	1950s	1960s	1970s	urban pop. in 1975	in rural areas 1970s
Argentina	3.25		2.29	80.5	2.26 -
Brazil	1.94	2.27	4.48	60.7	2.43
Chile	2.69	2.89	3.98	78.5	1.61
Colombia	1.77		4.56	65.4	2.24
Dom. Rep.	.99	1.55	2.29	45.8	3.00
Ecuador	.88	.85	•68	41.9	3.48
El Salvador	.46	.52	.07	39.9	3.20
Guatemala		.55	• 26	37.0	3.26
Mexico		1.93	3.07	63.0	3.16
Nicaragua	.77		1.59	50.2	3.48
Paraguay		•64	•49	37.9	3.69
Peru		2.44	3.28	62.8	2.57
Uruguay		• 25	2.67	83.0	• 30
Venezuela	3.67	3.47	3.06	80.2	3.44

Table 4: Rural migration

<u>Note</u>: Urban population is defined as the population of cities over 100,000 inhabitants in 1960. Migration rates are net rural outmigration as a percentage of average rural population over the decade.

Source: Data for 1950 and 1960 are from UN, Patterns of Urban and Rural Employment, 1980. For 1970, rural and urban rates of natural increase were estimated using the 1960 ratios of urban to rural natural increase, and the average urban share of population in 1970 and 1980. Net rural migration is then calculated by comparing this urban rate to the growth rate of urban population during the decade. Data and estimations of urban population were taken from UN, Patterns ..., total population from World Bank, World Tables, 1983.

	M	igration	rates	Change	Change in migration rates							
	1960s Total	Total	1970s Groupl	Group2	Total	1960s to 19 Groupl	70s Group2					
Initial GDP per capita	0.499	0.442			0.339							
Growth rate of GDP p.c.	0.359	0.035	0.590	0.905	0.149	0.568	0.982					
Growth rate of ag. GDP p.c.	0.336	0.119	0.554	0.154	0.147	0.531	0.501					
Growth rate of manuf. GDP p.c.	•	0.122										
Growth rate of non-ag. GDP p.c.	0.241				0.170		•					
Initial % of pop. in urban	0.444	0.647	•		0.557							
Lagged urban unemployment in per cent		0.322			-0.609	•						
% of ag. EAP in traditiona	1	-0.017			-0.311							
Growth rate of manuf. GDP p.c growth rate of ag												
GDP p.c.		0.196			0.202							
Rate of natur increase in rural areas	a 1	-0.514	-0.044	0.443								
Note: Groupl Nicara	consi gua, Pe:	sts of ru, Urugu	Argentina ay and Ve	a, Brazil nezuela.	, Chile,	Dom. Rep.	, Mexico					

Table 5:Correlations between migration rates and change in migration
rates and selected economic and demographic variables

rate with the growth rate of agricultural GDP per capita suggests that growth in the agricultural sector has been rather neutral with respect to labour absorption. In contrast, agricultural growth has been fairly strongly associated with migration in the group 1 countries, probably due to a combination of the increased use of labour-saving technology and land concentration.

The correlations of migration rate and change in migration with lagged urban unemployment show that, while urban unemployment does not act as a deterrent to migration in absolute terms, it does slow down its rate of increase. This is consistent with the Harris-Todaro theory that rural-urban migration is a function of expected urban wages.

The share of the peasantry in agricultural EAP is negatively correlated with both migration rate and the change in migration (although the former coefficient is very small in absolute value), suggesting that the peasantry is effective as a buffer sector, particularly with respect to slowing down the rate of increase in migration. But causality in this correlation can more meaningfully be read the other way around, namely, that rather than the successful expansion of the peasantry lowering the migration rate, it is the lack of migration opportunities (weak pull factors) that lead to an accumulation of surplus population in the peasant sector.

The rate of natural increase of the population in rural areas is negatively correlated with the migration rate, as a whole, but rather different results are obtained when the two groups of countries are analysed separately. For group 1, the correlation is still negative but very small in absolute value (-0.044), while for group 2 the correlation is fairly strongly positive (0.443). Thus, population pressure appears to act as a push factor among group 2 countries but not for group 1 countries which have a lower average rate of natural increase than in group 2.

In addition to high levels of rural-urban migration, there is an increasing incidence of rural-rural migration in the form of seasonal labour markets, a phenomenon that is well documented in Mexico (Pare, 1977; Astorga Lira and Commander, 1983). These seasonal labour markets are based on regional disparities and the development of areas of advanced commercialised agriculture which, because of crop specialisation and partial mechanisation of the labour process, require large numbers of casual workers for short periods of time. The development of one such migrant labour market in the northern states of Sinaloa and Sonora complements the more traditional migrant labour market of the southern coffee and sugar cane regions.

These migrant labour markets draw on the large pool of landless labourers and those <u>ejidatarios</u> and <u>minifundistas</u> who can afford to be away from their plots for long periods of time. Local labour markets, which increasingly offer more sporadic and casual employment than before as specialisation and mechanisation invade all regions of the country, draw more and more on women and children and smallholders who live nearby. This off-farm employment is a necessary complement to the production of many smallholders who cannot support a household from their plots.

As can be seen in table 20, the implicit remuneration to family labour on small farms has eroded relative to the minimum wage. Those who can secure a sufficient number of days of wage work (perhaps, by joining a migrant labour stream) are probably well off compared to those smallholders who are tied to the land and pick up whatever casual employment they can in the local labour market.

The results of table 5 corroborate at a regional level what has been found in a study of all developing countries (United Nations, 1980). In that study, the net flow of migrants from rural areas increases with the rate of natural increase of rural population, with growth in agricultural productivity, and with higher share of urban population. Using regression analysis, these variables were found to explain most of the wide range of migration rates that are observed across the different regions.

A specific analysis of rural migration in Latin America (Shaw, 1974) also suggests that the land tenure system is an important factor in explaining rural migration rates since it conditions employment opportunities in agriculture. A more concentrated land tenure system acts as a push factor, while a large small-farm sector allows, as we have seen, a retention of population in agriculture and a reduction in migration rates.

- 22 -

While the limitation of correlation analysis must be noted,² the major conclusion to be drawn is that pull factors appear to be more important than push factors as causes of migration, although population pressure does appear to be important for the small group of low migraton, relatively agrarian countries.

II. <u>Structure of employment and importance of</u> wage employment in agriculture

Employment structure in the rural and the urban sectors

Table 6 is constructed on the basis of data compiled by PREALC (1982) on shares of the economically active population in the traditional the agricultural, modern agricultural, and traditional urban sectors. The data are based on population censuses but have been adjusted by PREALC to derive a more exact measurement of EAP. The EAP in traditional activities in both the agricultural and the urban sectors is defined as including workers on own-account and non-paid family members. In the urban sector, paid domestic services were also included in the traditional sector. The modern agricultural sector includes agricultural workers, employers, professionals, and technicians. Because the population censuses tend to underestimate the importance of women in the agricultural EAP, the data on the number of unpaid family members and agricultural workers were adjusted on the basis of comparisons with the agricultural censuses to correct this deficiency. PREALC only reports the resulting shares of EAP in the traditional rural and urban sectors, and they are included in table 6. In order to compute the absolute number of workers in the different categories, adjusted total EAP and agricultural EAP were estimated by taking the difference between the shares of agricultural EAP given in table 6 and table 1. This difference was attributed to traditional agriculture. The size of population in the traditional agricultural sector increases relative to the population census data of table 1 in all countries except Chile in 1950, the Dominican Republic in 1980, Guatemala, Honduras in 1970 and 1980, Mexico in 1960, Nicaragua in 1980, Panama in 1950, 1960, and 1970, and Uruguay in 1950.

Doc. 9307e

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			EA	P in Tradit. /	Agr.		EAP	in Modern.	Agr.	EAP in Trac		EAP in Tr					
Argentina 7.6 27.6 0.555 100.0 19.9 1.453 100.0 15.2 1.109 22.8 1.664 100.0 7.299 2.007 1950 7.6 27.6 0.555 100.0 19.9 1.453 100.0 15.2 1.109 22.8 1.664 100.0 7.299 2.007 1970 6.7 37.4 0.618 111.1 11.2 1.033 77.1 14.6 1.438 22.3 2.056 152.5 232.8 9.219 1.650 1970 6.7 37.4 0.618 117.1 8.8 0.907 62.5 19.4 2.000 25.7 2.650 159.2 30.9 10.11 1.557 Bollvia - - - 173.6 55.6 17 0.227 72.1 0.944 1.04 3.09 1.033 1.039 133.6 91.0 1.353 0.910 1.35 5.6 17 1.11.59 1.33.4 1.033 1.033			In Tot EAP	in Ag EAP	numbers	index	In Tot EAP	numbers	Index	in Tot EAP	numbers	in Tot EAP	numbers	index	ratio urb/ag	Adj. EAP	Adj. Ag EAP
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Arnentii	าล	N.	70	1111110115	1950-100	N	1111110115	1950-100	N.		N	IIIIIIIIII	1930-100	õ	1111110115	IIIIIIIIIII
i950 77 353 0.620 111.7 141 1.135 78.1 142 1.143 21.9 1.763 105.5 1944 8.050 7.755 1970 6.7 37.4 0.618 111.3 11.2 10.33 71.1 15.6 1.438 22.3 2.056 123.5 23.8 9.219 1.650 1980 6.3 41.7 0.650 117.1 8.8 0.907 62.5 19.4 2.000 25.7 2.660 159.2 307.9 10.311 1.557 bollvla 0.55.1 81.0 0.737 99.1 12.9 0.173 65.6 17 0.227 72.1 0.964 101.4 30.9 1.338 0.910 1970 53.5 86.6 0.899 120.9 8.3 0.139 53.0 19.6 0.329 73.1 1.229 125.3 1.61 1.039 1980 37.6 62.6 6.707 100.0 22.5 4.013 <td< td=""><td>7 ii goittii</td><td>1950</td><td>7.6</td><td>27.6</td><td>0.555</td><td>100.0</td><td>19.9</td><td>1.453</td><td>100.0</td><td>15.2</td><td>1.109</td><td>22.8</td><td>1.664</td><td>100.0</td><td>200.0</td><td>7.299</td><td>2.007</td></td<>	7 ii goittii	1950	7.6	27.6	0.555	100.0	19.9	1.453	100.0	15.2	1.109	22.8	1.664	100.0	200.0	7.299	2.007
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1960	7.7	35.3	0.620	111.7	14.1	1.135	78.1	14.2	1.143	21.9	1.763	105.9	184.4	8.050	1.755
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		1970	6.7	37.4	0.618	111.3	11.2	1.033	71.1	15.6	1.438	22.3	2.056	123.5	232.8	9.219	1.650
Bolivia 1950 53.7 73.9 0.744 100.0 19 0.263 100.0 15 0.208 68.7 0.951 100.0 27.9 1.385 1.007 1970 53.5 86.6 0.899 12.9 0.139 53.0 196 0.329 73.1 1.229 129.2 36.6 1.681 1.039 1980 50.9 90.7 1.039 139.7 5.2 0.106 40.3 23.2 0.474 74.1 1.512 159.0 45.6 2.041 1.145 Brazil		1980	6.3	41.7	0.650	117.1	8.8	0.907	62.5	19.4	2.000	25.7	2.650	159.2	307.9	10.311	1.557
1950 53.7 73.9 0.744 100.0 19 0.263 100.0 15 0.208 68.7 0.951 100.0 27.9 1.385 1.007 1960 55.1 81.0 0.737 99.1 12.9 0.173 65.6 17 0.227 72.1 0.964 101.4 30.9 1.338 0.910 1970 53.5 86.6 0.899 12.09 8.3 0.139 53.0 1980 50.9 90.7 1.039 139.7 5.2 0.106 40.3 23.2 0.474 74.1 1.512 159.0 45.6 2.041 1.145 Brazil 0.265 17.837 10.70 0.76 62.6 6.707 100.0 22.5 4.013 100.0 10.7 1.909 48.3 8.615 100.0 28.5 17.837 10.70 1960 36.1 62.2 8.352 124.5 3.764 93.8 14.9 4.466 48.3 14.543 168.8 44.6 30.109 13.820 <td>Bolivia</td> <td></td> <td>•</td>	Bolivia																•
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	•	1950	53.7	73.9	0.744	100.0	19	0.263	100.0	15	0.208	68.7	0.951	100.0	27.9	1.385	1.007
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		1960	55.1	81.0	0.737	99.1	12.9	0.173	65.6	17	0.227	72.1	0.964	101.4	30.9	1.338	0.910
1980 50.9 90.7 1.039 139.7 5.2 0.106 40.3 23.2 0.474 74.1 1.512 159.0 45.6 2.041 1.145 Brazil 1950 37.6 62.6 6.707 100.0 22.5 4.013 100.0 10.7 1.909 48.3 8.615 100.0 28.5 17.837 10.720 1960 35.1 69.2 8.352 124.5 1.61 3.725 92.8 15.4 3.563 51.5 11.915 138.3 42.7 23.16 12.077 1970 33.4 72.8 10.056 149.9 12.5 3.764 93.8 14.9 4.486 48.3 14.543 168.8 46.67 10.100 246.0 61.2 47.618 17.809 Chile		1970	53.5	86.6	0.899	120.9	8.3	0.139	53.0	19.6	0.329	73.1	1.229	129.2	36.6	1.681	1.039
Brazil 1950 37.6 62.6 6.707 100.0 22.5 4.013 100.0 10.7 1.909 48.3 8.615 100.0 28.5 17.837 10.720 1970 33.4 72.8 10.05 149.9 12.5 3.764 93.8 14.9 4.486 48.3 14.543 168.8 44.6 30.109 13.820 1980 27.6 73.8 13.143 196.0 9.8 4.667 116.3 16.9 8.047 44.5 21.190 246.0 61.2 47.618 17.809 Chile 1950 8.9 27.8 0.062 100.0 23.1 0.161 100.0 22.1 0.154 31.0 0.216 100.0 248.3 0.697 0.223 1950 8.9 27.8 0.062 100.0 23.1 0.161 100.0 22.1 0.154 31.0 0.216 100.0 248.3 0.697 0.223 1950 8.3		1980	50.9	90.7	1.039	139.7	5.2	0.106	40.3	23.2	. 0.474	74.1	1.512	159.0	45.6	2.041	1.145
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Brazil											ł					
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1950	37.6	62.6	6.707	100.0	22.5	4.013	100.0	10.7	1.909	48.3	8.615	100.0	28.5	17.837	10.720
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		1960	36.1	. 69.2	8.352	124.5	16.1	3.725	92.8	15.4	3.563	51.5	11.915	138.3	42.7	23.136	12.077
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		1970	33.4	72.8	10.056	149.9	12.5	3.764	93.8	14.9	4.486	48.3	14.543	168.8	44.6	30.109	13.820
Chile 1950 8.9 27.8 0.062 100.0 23.1 0.161 100.0 22.1 0.154 31.0 0.216 100.0 248.3 0.697 0.223 1960 12.1 39.0 0.304 490.4 18.9 0.475 295.1 20.5 0.515 32.6 0.820 379.3 169.4 2.514 0.779 1970 9.3 34.2 0.286 460.4 17.9 0.550 341.4 16.7 0.513 26.0 0.799 369.6 179.6 3.071 0.835 1980 8.8 38.6 0.342 550.9 14 0.544 337.6 20.1 0.761 26.9 1.122 519.4 228.4 3.883 0.885 Colombia 1950 33 55.7 1.347 100.0 26.2 1.069 100.0 15.3 0.624 48.3 1.971 100.0 46.4 4.081 2.416 1960 25.3 47.5 1.235		1980	27.6	73.8	13.143	196.0	9.8	4.667	116.3	16.9	8.047	44.5	21.190	246.0	61.2	47.618	17.809
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Chile	• • •												•			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1950	8.9	27.8	0.062	100.0	23.1	0.161	100.0	22.1	0.154	31.0	0.216	100.0	248.3	0.697	0.223
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1960	12.1	39.0	0.304	490.4	18.9	0.475	295.1	20.5	5 0.515	5 32.6	0.820	379.3	169.4	2.514	0.779
1980 8.8 38.6 0.342 550.9 14 0.544 337.6 20.1 0.781 28.9 1.122 519.4 228.4 3.883 0.885 Colombia 1950 33 55.7 1.347 100.0 26.2 1.069 100.0 15.3 0.624 48.3 1.971 100.0 46.4 4.081 2.416 1960 25.3 47.5 1.235 91.7 28 1.366 127.8 17.1 0.834 42.4 2.069 105.0 67.6 4.880 2.601 1970 22.3 52.2 1.497 111.1 20.4 1.369 128.1 17.7 1.188 40.0 2.685 136.2 79.4 6.712 2.866 1980 18.7 54.2 1.591 118.1 15.8 1.344 125.7 22.3 1.897 41.0 3.488 177.0 119.3 8.507 2.935 Costa Rica 1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097<		1970	9.3	34.2	0.286	460.4	17.9	0.550	341.4	16.7	0.513	5 26.0	0.799	369.6	179.6	3.071	0.835
Colombia 1950 33 55.7 1.347 100.0 26.2 1.069 100.0 15.3 0.624 48.3 1.971 100.0 46.4 4.081 2.416 1960 25.3 47.5 1.235 91.7 28 1.366 127.8 17.1 0.834 42.4 2.069 105.0 67.6 4.880 2.601 1970 22.3 52.2 1.497 111.1 20.4 1.369 128.1 17.7 1.188 40.0 2.685 136.2 79.4 6.712 2.866 1980 18.7 54.2 1.591 118.1 15.8 1.344 125.7 22.3 1.897 41.0 3.488 177.0 119.3 8.507 2.935 Costa Rica 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 <		1980	8.8	38.6	0.342	550.9	14	0.544	337.6	20.1	0.781	28.9	1.122	519.4	228.4	3.883	0.885
1950 33 55.7 1.347 100.0 26.2 1.069 100.0 15.3 0.624 48.3 1.971 100.0 46.4 4.081 2.416 1960 25.3 47.5 1.235 91.7 28 1.366 127.8 17.1 0.834 42.4 2.069 105.0 67.6 4.880 2.601 1970 22.3 52.2 1.497 111.1 20.4 1.369 128.1 17.7 1.188 40.0 2.685 136.2 79.4 6.712 2.866 1980 18.7 54.2 1.591 118.1 15.8 1.344 125.7 22.3 1.897 41.0 3.488 177.0 119.3 8.507 2.935 Costa Rica 1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097 100.0 60.3 0.298 0.172 1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 <	Colombi	a								· .							
1960 25.3 47.5 1.235 91.7 28 1.366 127.8 17.1 0.834 42.4 2.069 105.0 67.6 4.880 2.601 1970 22.3 52.2 1.497 111.1 20.4 1.369 128.1 17.7 1.188 40.0 2.685 136.2 79.4 6.712 2.866 1980 18.7 54.2 1.591 118.1 15.8 1.344 125.7 22.3 1.897 41.0 3.488 177.0 119.3 8.507 2.935 Costa Rica 1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097 100.0 60.3 0.298 0.172 1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 0.119 122.5 63.2 0.364 0.189 1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5		1950	33	55.7	1.347	100.0	26.2	1.069	100.0	15.3	0.624	48.3	1.971	100.0	46.4	4.081	2.416
1970 22.3 52.2 1.497 111.1 20.4 1.369 128.1 17.7 1.188 40.0 2.685 136.2 79.4 6.712 2.866 1980 18.7 54.2 1.591 118.1 15.8 1.344 125.7 22.3 1.897 41.0 3.488 177.0 119.3 8.507 2.935 Costa Rica 1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097 100.0 60.3 0.298 0.172 1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 0.119 122.5 63.2 0.364 0.189 1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5 0.163 167.6 69.4 0.518 0.221 1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2		1960	25.3	47.5	1.235	91.7	28	1.366	127.8	17.1	0.834	42.4	2.069	105.0	67.6	4.880	2.601
1980 18.7 54.2 1.591 118.1 15.8 1.344 125.7 22.3 1.897 41.0 3.488 177.0 119.3 8.507 2.935 Costa Rica 1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097 100.0 60.3 0.298 0.172 1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 0.119 122.5 63.2 0.364 0.189 1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5 0.163 167.6 69.4 0.518 0.221 1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2 0.226 232.4 83.8 0.832 0.286		1970	22.3	52.2	1.497	111.1	20:4	1.369	128.1	17.7	7 1.188	3 40.0	2.685	136.2	79.4	6.712	2.866
Costa Rica 1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097 100.0 60.3 0.298 0.172 1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 0.119 122.5 63.2 0.364 0.189 1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5 0.163 167.6 69.4 0.518 0.221 1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2 0.226 232.4 83.8 0.832 0.286		1980	18.7	54.2	1.591	118.1	15.8	1.344	125.7	22.3	5 1.897	41.0	3.488	177.0	119.3	8.507	2.935
1950 20.4 35.4 0.061 100.0 37.3 0.111 100.0 12.3 0.037 32.7 0.097 100.0 60.3 0.298 0.172 1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 0.119 122.5 63.2 0.364 0.189 1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5 0.163 167.6 69.4 0.518 0.221 1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2 0.226 232.4 83.8 0.832 0.286	Costa Ri	ca .															•
1960 20.1 38.7 0.073 120.3 31.8 0.116 104.1 12.7 0.046 32.8 0.119 122.5 63.2 0.364 0.189 1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5 0.163 167.6 69.4 0.518 0.221 1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2 0.226 232.4 83.8 0.832 0.286		1950	20.4	35.4	0.061	100.0	37.3	0.111	100.0	12.3	0.037	32.7	0.097	100.0	60.3	0.298	0.172
1970 18.6 43.6 0.096 158.7 24.1 0.125 112.4 12.9 0.067 31.5 0.163 167.6 69.4 0.518 0.221 1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2 0.226 232.4 83.8 0.832 0.286	ŧ	1960	20.1	38 7	0.073	120.3	31.8	0.116	104.1	12 7	0.046	32.8	0.119	122.5	63.2	0.364	0.189
1980 14.8 43.0 0.123 202.7 19.6 0.163 146.8 12.4 0.103 27.2 0.226 232.4 83.8 0.832 0.286		1970	18.6	43.6	0.096	158.7	24.1	0.125	112.4	12 9	0.067	31.5	0.163	167.6	69.4	0.518	0.221
		1980	14.8	43.0	0.123	202.7	19.6	0.163	146.8	12.4	1 0.103	27.2	0.226	232.4	83.8	0.832	0.286

(Continued on next page.)

- 24 -

		FAP	in Tradit A	nr		FAP	in Modern /	Aar	EAP in Trad		FAP in Tra					
		In Tot EAP	n Ag EAP	numbers	Index	InTot EAP	numbers	Index	in Tot EAP	numbers	In Tot EAP	numbers	index	ratio urb/eg	Adj. EAP	Adj. Ag EAF
		æ	R	millions	1950=100	·· %	millions	1950=100	× 8	millions	8	millions	1950=100	ж	millions	millions
Dom Rep		·														
	1950	58.4	81.5	0.955	100.0	13.3	0.218	100.0	8.5	0.139	66.9	1.095	100.0	14.6	1.636	1.173
	1960	50.7	76.2	0.459	48.0	15.8	0.143	65.7	14.1	0.128	64.8	0.586	53.5	27.8	0.904	0.601
	1970	36.6	67.4	0.491	51.4	17.7	0.237	109.1	15.5	0.208	52.1	0.699	63.9	42.3	1.341	0.728
	1980	24.6	59.6	0.388	40.6	16.7	0.263	120.9	16	0.252	40.6	0.640	58.5	65.0	1.576	0.651
Ecuador																
	1950	39	58.7	0.551	100.0	27.4	0.387	100.0	11.7	0.165	50.7	0.717	100.0	30.0	1.414	0.939
	1960	38.6	62.1	0.626	113.5	23.6	0.383	98.8	18.4	0.298	57.0	0.924	129.0	47.7	1.622	1.009
	1970	41.2	70.1	0.883	160.2	17.6	0.377	97.4	23.7	0.508	64.9	1.391	194.1	57.5	2.143	1.260
	1980	37.9	73.4	1,197	217.0	13.7	0.433	111.7	25.4	0.802	63.3	1.998	278.8	67.0	3.157	1.629
FI Salvar	hr.									1						
2100110	1950	35	519	0.246	100.0	325	0.228	100.0	13.7	0.096	48.7	0.342	100.0	39.1	0.702	0.474
	1960	24.9	39.4	0.210	87.4	38 3	0.330	1447	14	0 121	38.9	0.335	98.1	56.2	0.861	0 5 4 4
	1070	21.5	48.4	0.211	139.2	20.0	0.000	160.1	16.6	0.203	44.6	0.545	159.4	593	1 221	0 707
	1080	30.1	574	0.342	109.2	29.9	0.303	150.1	18.9	0.200	49.0	0.010	233.5	62.8	1.628	0.853
	1900	50.1	57.4	0.450	199.0	22.5	0.000	109.2	10.7	0.000	12.0	0.170	200.0	02.0	1.020	0.000
Guatema	la													·		
	1950	44.8	65.4	0.441	100.0	23.7	0.233	100.0	16.2	0.159	61.0	0.600	100.0	36.2	0.984	0.674
	1960	39	61.2	0.439	99.7	24.7	0.278	119.3	17.6	0.198	56.6	0.638	106.2	45.1	1.127	0.718
	1970	37	61.6	0.581	131.9	23.1	0.363	155.6	17.3	0.272	54.3	0.853	142.1	46.8	1.571	0 944
	1980	33.1	59.7	0.514	116.7	22.3	0.347	148.6	17.8	0.277	50.9	0.791	131.7	53.8	1.554	0.861
Honduras														•		
	1950	50.3	625	0.346	100.0	30 2	0.208	100.0	7.5	0.052	57.8	0.397	100.0	14.9	0.687	0.553
	1960	49.7	69.8	0 314	90.9	21.5	0.136	65.5	11.7	0.074	61.4	0.388	97.7	23.5	0.632	0.450
	1070	40 3	62 0	0.014	85.1	21.0	0.174	837	13.8	0 101	54.1	0.395	99.4	34.2	0 730	0.468
	1080	70.5	57 1	0.237	00.1 00.7	20.0	0.174	112.9	17.2	0.165	40 7	0.070	120.2	52.9	0.100	0.547
	1900	52.5	57.1	0.512	50.5	27.7	0.254	112.7	17.2	0.100	-17.7	V.177	120.2	02.9	0.201	0.011
Mexico	1050			7 077	100.0	00.4	1044	100.0	10.0	1 1	54.0	E 1 47	100.0	00.7	0.070	E 001
	1950	44	68.3	3.977	100.0	20.4	1.844	100.0	12.9	1.166	56.9	5.143	100.0	29.3	9.039	5.821
	1960	27.6	52.1	2.823	71.0	25.4	2.598	140.9	13.5	1.381	41.1	4.204	81.7	48.9	10.228	5.421
	1970	24.9	53.2	3.574	89.8	21.9	3.143	170.4	18.2	2.612	43.1	6.185	120.3	73.1	14.352	6.717
	1080	18.4	48.9	3 588	90.2	192	3 744	203.0	22	4 200	40.4	7 877	153.2	1196	19 498	7 331

(Continued on next page.)

- 25 -

• • -		•													
	EAP in Tradit. Agr. EAP in Modern Agr.							EAP in Trad. urban EAP in Traditional Activities							
	in Tot EAP	in Ag EAP	numbers	Index	in Tot EAP	numbers	Index	in Tot EAP	numbers	in Tot EAP	numbers	index	ratio urb/ag g	Adj. EAP	Adj. Ag. EAP millions
	8	8	millions	1950=100	Ж	millions	1920=100	ኤ	Intitions	Ň	IIIIIIIIIII	1950-100		mmons	IIIIIIII
Nicaragua	05.0	776	0 1 1 7	100.0	42.0	0 104	100.0	117	0.053	37.6	0 170	100.0	45.2	0.452	0.311
1950	25.9	37.0	0.117	1177	72.5	0.151	87.2	15.1	0.000	43.6	0.110	123.6	53.0	0.482	0.299
1960	28.5	46.0	0.137	117.3	33.3	0.101	73.0	20.7	0.073	46.7	0.210	150.3	79.6	0.547	0.284
1970	26	50.1	0.142	121.3	23,9	0.142	73.0	20.7	0.113	52 1	0.200	2318	118.9	0.756	0.316
1980	23.8	56.9	0.180	153.7	. 10	0.150	70.2	20.5	0.214	52.1	0.001	201.0	110.5	0.100	0.010
Panama									,						• • • • •
1950	47	88.3	0.125	100.0	6.2	0.016	100.0	11.8	0.031	58.8	0.156	100.0	25.1	0.265	0.141
1960	41.5	82.5	0.144	115.3	8.8	0.030	185.4	13.1	0.045	54.6	0.189	121.3	31.6	0.346	0.174
1970	31.7	78.9	0.150	120.5	8.5	0.040	244.9	15.8	0.075	47.5	0.225	144.3	49.8	0.473	0.190
1980	24.6	73.0	0.141	113.2	9.1	0.052	317.5	20.9	0.120	45.5	0.261	167.4	85.0	0.573	0.193
Donu															
1050	70 /	643	1 305	100.0	21.9	0 775	100.0	16.9	0.598	56.3	1.993	100.0	- 42.9	3.540	2.170
1950	39. 1 40.5	71 9	1.330	102.0	15.8	0.559	72.1	17.9	0.633	58.4	2.065	103.6	44.2	3.535	1.990
1900	70.5	785	1.407	102.1	10.0	0.009	52.6	20.7	0.820	58.4	2.312	116.0	54.9	3.960	1.901
1970	31.1	80.0	1.450	118.4	10.0	0.100	53.3	23.8	1 228	55.8	2.880	144.5	74.4	5.162	2.065
1900	52	00.0	1.002	110.1	v	0.110	00.0	20.0	1.2.2.0					,	
Uruguay					·				0.050		0.000	100.0	709 5	0 362	0.080
1950	4.7	21.4	0.017	100.0	17.3	0.063	100.0	14.5	0.052	19.2	0.069	0 100.0	500.5	0.302	0.000
1960	5.9	28.6	0.058	340.7	14.7	0.144	230.6	15.6	0.153	5 21.5	0.211	303.9	204.4	0.901	0.202
1970	6.9	36.7	0.075	443.1	11.9	0.130	207.6	16.8	0.183	5 23.1	0.259	372.5	243.3	1.091	0.203
1980	8	45.7	0.097	571.2	9.5	0.115	184.3	.19	0.231	27.0	0.328	3 471.9	237.3	1.213	0.212
Venezuela		•													
1950	22.5	49.1	0.546	100.0	23.3	0.565	100.0	16.4	0.398	38.9	0.944	100.0	72.9	2.426	1.111
1960	21.3	62.1	0.506	92.7	13	0.309	54.6	20	0.475	5 41.3	5 0.981	I 104.0	93.9	2.376	0.815
1970	100	73.4	0.636	1165	7.2	0.230	40.7	22.4	0.716	5 42.3	5 1.352	2 143.2	112.6	3.196	0.866
1080	15.5	77 4	0.000	123.1	44	0.196	34.6	16.4	0.730) 31.5	5 1.402	2 148.5	108.6	4.450	0.868
1900	10.1	11.7	0.072	120.1	1, 1	0.190					•				
LA (17 countri	es)						100.0			ברג ו	2 25 141	100.0	28.0	53 103	29 991
1950	34.3	60.7	18.190	100.0	22.2	11.801	100.0	13.1	0.90	1 47.3 2 44		1 100.0	57.4	67 776	30 534
·1960	29.1	60.5	18.473	5 101.6	19.0	12.061	102.2	15.6	9.90	5 44.0		I IIZ.9	00.0 60 E	91 074	30.001
1970	27.0	63.7	22.113	5 121.6	15.4	12.589	106.7	16.9	13.83	2 43.9	35.945	5 143.0	02.0	01.900	JA. 102
1980	23.0	65.1	26.117	/ 143.6	12.3	14.027	118.9	19.3	21.918	5 42.2	2 48.035	2 191.1	03.9	113.720	40.145

Note: Traditional sector in Agriculture includes workers on own account and non-paid family members, excluding professionals and technicians. Urban Traditional includes workers on own account and non-paid family members in non-agricultural activities, excluding professionals and technicians, and domestic services.

Sources: Shares of EAP in traditional agriculture, in modern agriculture and in traditional urban in PREALC, Mercado de Trabajo en Cifras, 1950-80 (Geneva, ILO: 1982); Adjusted EAP and Agricultural EAP: authors' calculations (see text).

L 26 I

continued:
The total size of the marginal sector, defined as the sum of the EAPs in the rural and the urban traditional sectors, shows only a minimal decline in percentage of the total EAP over 30 years - from 47 per cent in 1950 to 42 per cent in 1980. Marginality is thus a highly resilient structural feature of the Latin American societies. In absolute number of EAP, the marginal sector increased by no less than 91 per cent - from 25.1 million in 1950 to 48.0 million in 1980.³ This dramatic increase in the number of marginals shows the failure of recent modern sector economic growth to create productive employment in spite of rapid overall rates of industrialisation and economic growth.

This resiliency of marginality is confirmed by the results of the regressions of the share of marginality in total EAP on the level and growth of per capita income (table 7). For each individual year (1960, 1970, and 1980), the level of marginality across countries decreased significantly with the level of GDP per capita and with the level of agricultural GDP per capita. Rich countries have less marginality than poor ones so that, over the long run, economic growth has induced growth of wage employment. When comparing these results across years, however, one sees that the impact of per capita income on marginality decreases (the regression coefficients decline from 0.049 in 1950, to 0.033 in 1970, and to 0.029 in 1980). Economic growth thus appears to be increasingly less labour absorbing over time, presaging a continued existence of large marginal sectors in spite of eventually successful economic growth.

Between 1950 and 1980, there has been a marked displacement in marginality away from the agricultural sector toward the urban economy as indicated by an increase in the ratio of traditional urban to traditional rural EAP from 38 per cent to 84 per cent. This urbanisation of marginality occurred in all 17 countries for which data are available, except Uruguay.

Regressions of this ratio on the level of GDP per capita and the growth rate of GDP per capita and on agricultural GDP per capita yielded significant results for the first two variables (table 8). The GDP per capita is positively related to the ratio of traditional urban EAP to traditional rural EAP, with the impact again diminishing over time. Likewise, the growth rate of GDP per capita is negatively significant, with a decreasing effect from

Year	Gross domestic product per capita	Growth rate of gross domestic product per capita	Agricultural gross domes- tic product per capita	Growth rate of agricul- tural gross domestic product per capita	Concen- tration ratio	p2
1960	-0.049 (-3.602)b	3.540 (1.417)			0.257 (1.041)	0.573
1970	-0.033 (-3.526)	0.853 (0.313)	-0.269 (-2.062)	1.556 (0.715)	0.083 (0.386)	0.658
1980	-0.029 (-4.405)	1.375 (1.286)	-0.232 (-2.684)	-1.673 (-0.934)	0.029 (0.175)	0.788

^aConcentration ratio is the share of total urban population in the largest city (excepting Brazil where the two largest cities were used).

^bFigures in parentheses are t-ratios.

for

share

of

total

EAP

1n

traditional

sectors

Year	Gross domestic product per capita	Growth rate of gross domestic product per capita	Growth rate of agricultural gross domestic product per capita	R ²
1960	 0.28 (5.78) ^a	-23.48 (- 2.66)		0.770
1970	0.19 (4.82)	-21.34 (- 1.84)	3.22 (0.37)	0.671
1980	0.15 (3.53)	-19.85 (- 2.75)	19.85 (1.68)	0.622

Table 8:	Regression	results fo	r ratio c	of EAP	in traditional
	urban to t	raditional	rural sec	tors	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

^a Figures in parentheses are t-ratios.

1960 to 1980. Thus, countries with higher levels of GDP per capita have a higher proportion of marginal population in the urban sector, reflecting the fact that growth has induced migration and urbanisation and displaced marginality to the cities, though the strength of this relation decreases over time. In addition, the higher the growth rates of GDP per capita, the less the increase in the urban share of marginality, indicating that high growth rates are successful in drawing urban marginals into the economy, although the impact of this effect also diminishes with time. Growth of agriculture has not been employment creating and has contributed to increase the displacement of marginality toward the urban sector.

In spite of the fact that the percentage of total EAP in agriculture declined from 32 per cent in 1950 to 20 per cent in 1980, the percentage of agricultural EAP in the traditional sector increased from 60.7 in 1950 to 65.1 in 1980; and the absolute number of EAP in traditional agriculture increased by 43.6 per cent over the 30-year period. The share of peasantry in agricultural EAP increased in all countries, except five, all located in Central America and the Caribbean. The absolute number of peasants increased in all countries except Mexico, the Dominican Republic, and Honduras. This indicates that, despite rapid urban migration and the displacement of marginality toward the cities, the peasantry remains a large refuge sector for surplus population and a labour reserve for modern agriculture.

The results of regressions of the change in the share of agricultural EAP in the traditional sector from one decade to the next on the growth rates of GDP and agricultural GDP per capita are reported in table 9. While results are not significant for 1960-70, they indicate, for 1970-80, that higher growth rates in GDP per capita slow the growth of the share of peasantry in agriculture. This confirms the interpretation that comes back repeatedly in this report that the peasantry in Latin America tends to be a residual sector of surplus population whose relative size declines under the pull effect of growth in the rest of the economy that enhances migration opportunities. Agricultural growth, by contrast, has been labour-saving and contributes to increase the relative size of the peasantry.

Modern agricultural sector employment increased by only 19 per cent in 30 years in spite of an average annual percentage growth in agricultural GDP of

Change in share of agricultural -3.077 1.294 0.059 EAP in tradi-1960- -3.077 1.294 0.059 tional sector1970 $(-0.941)^a$ (0.529) Change in share of agricultural -2.799 3.063 0.254 EAP in tradi-1970- -2.799 3.063 0.254 tional sector1980 (-2.131) (1.499)	Dependent variable	Year	Growth rate of gross domestic product per capita	Growth rate of agricultural gross domestic product per capita	R ²
Change in share of agricultural EAP in tradi- 19603.077 1.294 0.059 tional sector 1970 (-0.941) ^a (0.529) Change in share of agricultural EAP in tradi- 19702.799 3.063 0.254 tional sector 1980 (-2.131) (1.499)					
EAP in tradi- 1960- -3.077 1.294 0.059 tional sector 1970 (-0.941) ^a (0.529) Change in share 0 0.059 of agricultural EAP in tradi- 1970- -2.799 3.063 0.254 tional sector 1980 (-2.131) (1.499) 0.254	Change in share of agricultural				
tional sector 1970 (-0.941) ^a (0.529) Change in share of agricultural EAP in tradi- 19702.799 3.063 0.254 tional sector 1980 (-2.131) (1.499)	EAP in tradi-	1960-	-3.077	1.294	0.059
Change in share of agricultural EAP in tradi- 19702.799 3.063 0.254 tional sector 1980 (-2.131) (1.499)	tional sector	1970	(-0.941) ^a	(0.529)	
of agricultural EAP in tradi- 19702.799 3.063 0.254 tional sector 1980 (-2.131) (1.499)	Change in share				
EAP in tradi-19702.7993.0630.254tional sector1980(-2.131)(1.499)	of agricultural			· · · · · ·	
tional sector 1980 (-2.131) (1.499)	EAP in tradi-	1970-	-2.799	3.063	0.254
	tional sector	1980	(-2.131)	(1.499)	

Table 9:Regression results for the share and change in the
share of agricultural EAP in the traditional sector

^a Figures in parentheses are t-ratios.

3.3 per cent, or a total increase of 85 per cent over the period. A 1 per cent increase in agricultural GDP thus only contributed to a 0.2 per cent increase in modern sector employment. The result is that the share of agricultural EAP working in modern agriculture declined slightly from 39 per cent in 1950 to 35 per cent in 1980. While countries with low agricultural growth (less than 2.8 per cent annually) had absolute losses in modern agricultural sector employment (Argentina, Chile, Peru, and Uruguay with a 36 per cent employment loss and an average growth rate of 2.4 per cent), high growth countries had a mixed employment performance (Ecuador, Bolivia, Colombia, Brazil, and Nicaragua had an average growth rate of 3.9 per cent but an absolute employment loss of 17 per cent, while the Dominican Republic, Panama, Mexico, Honduras, Guatemala, El Salvador, and Costa Rica had an average growth rate of 3.2 per cent and a modern sector employment gain of 113 per cent). It must thus be concluded that the employment performance of modern agriculture has on the whole been highly unsatisfactory and that higher growth rates in agricultural output would not necessarily improve this performance if the current patterns of labour-saving technological change and land concentration are followed.

The results thus show that a higher level of GDP per capita, which is determined by non-agricultural GDP, fundamentally induces rural-urban migration and a displacement of EAP out of agriculture. It should both reduce total marginality and displace it to the urban centers. In rural areas, however, the share of marginality in agricultural EAP remains high as increasing agricultural growth fails to generate enough employment; and in urban areas, the share of marginality in total EAP increases rapidly with GDP per capita and remains absolutely constant as a share of total urban EAP (for Latin America as a whole, it remains at 30 per cent between 1950 and 1980), following a Todaro-type migratory effect.

It is distressing to observe that the very rapid economic growth that has characterised the last decade is not as employment creating as earlier growth, thus reducing the expected positive effect of higher incomes on marginality. It is for this reason that the share of total marginality in EAP has kept relatively constant in spite of rapid growth. In the recent period, modern non-agricultural employment has only been able to compensate for the inability of the growth of modern agriculture to generate employment.

Structure of employment by farm size

The decade of the 1960s exhibits very different patterns from the 1970s in the evolution of employment in the agricultural sector in Brazil (table 10).

In the 1960s, one sees a 50 per cent increase of family labour together with a substantial decline in the absolute number of wage earners. The rise in family labour is due to an increase of the small peasantry, as can be seen from the fact that family employment was mostly generated in the small-farm sector and that the number of these farms also increased dramatically during this decade as will be seen in table 11. This phenomenon can be explained by changing labour laws which in 1963 introduced regulations and minimum wages for wage earners. This induced the expulsion of resident workers from the <u>fazendas</u> as their costs became higher and non-competitive for employers. At the same time, unfavourable economic conditions meant a lack of employment opportunities in the urban areas for these workers and, hence, the reconstitution of a semi-subsistence peasantry outside the fazendas.

In the 1970s, the economic situation was quite different, with rapid growth in both the agricultural and non-agricultural sectors. In this decade, there was an increase in wage earner employment, in particular on large farms, with a greater increase in numbers of temporary workers than permanent. The slow growth of employment of family labour corresponds to a decrease following 1975 of the number of small farms as will be seen in table 11 and, hence, a relative decline of the small peasantry. Again, this transformation can be explained by economic conditions outside the peasant sector itself. The booming industrial economy provided opportunities for small peasants in the urban areas. At the same time, agricultural growth and technological change raised land prices, affecting purchase prices even more than rental prices. Small farmers and landless workers were thus strongly motivated to leave their situations. Migration data confirm this accelerating flow from the rural areas (table 4). In fact, more detailed studies of migration show that small farmers often used their capital to migrate to the frontier where they acquired larger plots, while the landless migrated to the cities. This is a special feature of Brazil due to its expanding frontier possibilities.

- 33 -

DRALL Farm Family members Permanent members Temporary workers Sharecroppers & others Total Producers & Family memb. Permanent workers Temporary workers Sharecroppers Total (10 ha 3112128 81.4 65084 2.2 473756 12.4 152704 4.0 3623708 Ejidos 2331959 n.a. 517766 n.a. 10-100 ha 3657616 64.5 375047 65.6 1141074 20.1 4982297 8.8 5683034 Priv. Sha 956000 n.a. 209716 20163																
i a miny remining remining remining remining remining remining removerary Shafe Croppers Iotal Producers & Permanent Temporary size 1960 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1950 1.a. 1950 1950 1.a. 1955 1.a. 1955 1.a. 1955 1.a. 1955 1.a. 19555 1.a. 19555 1.a. 19555 1.a. 19555 1.a. 19555 1.a. 19565 1.a. 19565 1.a. 19565 1.a. 19565 <	DKALIL	Family		Danmanast		T		C1			MEXICO		_			
Industry Industry Industry Industry Industry Panly memb. Panly me	5170	rainity		workers		remporary		Sharecroppers		lotal		Producers &	Permanent	Temporary		
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	5120	member 3		HUI KCI S	1960	WUI KEI'S	•	o ouners				Family memb.	workers	workers	Sharecroppers	Total
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	<10 ha	3112128	814	85084	22	473756	12.4	152740	40	7007700	Elidea	0771050		1950		
100 ha 103049 23.8 1133049 20.8 513347 16.3 3146821 Priv. Sha 850000 13.2 23739 732169 16886 19853 Total 763021 60.3 1211279 9.6 2647879 20.9 1164384 9.2 12653563 Total 3297959 23739 732169 16886 19853 (10 ha 5448205 93.2 70631 1.2 257051 4.4 71368 1.2 5847255 Ejidos 2870115 n.a. 674995 n.a. 1960 n.a. 100000 n.a. 1043894 39.0 710652 26.5 590249 22.0 332314 12.4 2677109 Priv. Sha 995442 143096 956700 117396 22126 100 ha 1043894 39.0 7105506 7.3 1457141 9.9 749402 5.1 14681759 Total 5670557 1931695 1233668 n.a. 103069 1332428 n.a. 1393668 n.a. 1300000 n.a. 1031695 123463 n.a. 13326123 133	10-100 ha	3667616	64.5	376047	6.6	1141074	20.1	408207	4.0	5683034	Doin (5ha	2001909	n.a.	517/66	n.a.	
Total 7630021 60.3 1211279 9.6 2047879 20.9 1164384 9.2 1265365 Total 3297959 1429651 (10 ha 5448205 93.2 70631 1.2 257051 4.4 71368 1.2 5847255 Ejidos 2870115 n.a. 674995 n.a. 10-100 ha 4907311 79.7 294523 4.8 609841 9.9 345720 5.6 6157395 Priv. Sha 1805000 n.a. 300000 n.a. 100 ha 1043994 39.0 71055806 7.3 1457141 9.9 749402 5.1 14681759 Total 5670557 1931695 117396 22126 10-100 ha 5729838 90.7 102500 1.6 444552 7.0 42996 0.7 6319886 Ejidos 3711432 159814 1239648 n.a. 10-100 ha 5276780 73.9 519646 7.3 109399 15.3 248139 3.5 7136561 Priv. Sha 80568 234263 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. <td>>100 ha</td> <td>850277</td> <td>27.0</td> <td>750148</td> <td>23.8</td> <td>1033049</td> <td>32.8</td> <td>513347</td> <td>16.3</td> <td>3146821</td> <td>Driv Sha</td> <td>850000</td> <td>11.8.</td> <td>209710</td> <td>n.a.</td> <td>1005744</td>	>100 ha	850277	27.0	750148	23.8	1033049	32.8	513347	16.3	3146821	Driv Sha	850000	11.8.	209710	n.a.	1005744
1970 1970 1970 19600 1973 19600 1973 19600 1970 19600 1970 19600 1970 1.a. 370000 1.a. 370000 1.a. 370000 1.a. 1970 1.a. 1970 1.a. 1970 1.a. 1970 1.a. 1970 1931695 1931695 1931695 1970	Total	7630021	60.3	1211279	9.6	2647879	20.9	1164384	9.2	12653563	Total	3207050	237309	102109	100000	1985344
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $				-					2.2	12000000	iocui	0237303		1439031		
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $					1970									1960		
10-100 ha 4907311 79.7 294523 4.8 609841 9.9 345720 5.6 6157395 Priv. <5ha	<10 ha	5448205	93.2	70631	1.2	. 257051	4.4	71368	1.2	5847255	Ejidos	2870115	n.a.	674995	n a.	
>100 ha 1043894 39.0 710652 26.5 590249 22.0 332314 12.4 2677109 Priv. >5ha 995442 143096 956700 117396 22126 Total 11399410 77.6 1075806 7.3 1457141 9.9 749402 5.1 14681759 Total 5670557 1931695 1931695 100 ha 5729838 90.7 102500 1.6 444552 7.0 42996 0.7 6319886 Ejidos 3711432 159814 1239688 n.a. 10-100 ha 5276780 73.9 519646 7.3 1093996 15.3 248139 3.5 7138561 Priv. <5ha	10-100 ha	4907311	79.7	294523	4.8	609841	9.9	345720	5.6	6157395	Priv. <5ha	1805000	n.a.	300000	n.a.	
Total 11399410 77.6 1075806 7.3 1457141 9.9 749402 5.1 14681759 Total 5670557 1931695 1980 1980 1970 1075806 7.3 1457141 9.9 749402 5.1 14681759 Total 5670557 1931695 100 ha 5729838 90.7 102500 1.6 444552 7.0 42996 0.7 6319886 Ejidos 3711432 159814 1239668 n.a. 100-100 ha 5276780 73.9 519646 7.3 1093996 15.3 248139 3.5 7138561 Priv. <5ha	>100 ha	1043894	39.0	710652	26.5	590249	22.0	332314	12.4	2677109	Priv. >5ha	995442	143096	956700	117396	2212634
1980 1980 1970 (10 ha 5729838 90.7 102500 1.6 444552 7.0 42996 0.7 6319886 Ejidos 3711432 159814 1239688 n.a. 10-100 ha 5276780 73.9 519646 7.3 1093996 15.3 248139 3.5 7138561 Priv. (5ha 867538 89058 234263 n.a. >100 ha 1257097 31.7 1334123 33.6 1160789 29.3 213096 5.4 3965105 Priv. (5ha 867538 89058 234263 n.a. 15351 Total 12263715 70.4 1956269 11.2 2699337 .15.5 504231 2.9 17423552 Total 4578970 248872 1473951 Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1970-80 93.5 73.3 52.9 Ejidos 23.1 30.4 30.7 -29.2 11 Total	Total	11399410	77.6	1075806	7.3	1457141	9.9	749402	5.1	14681759	Total	5670557		1931695		
(10 ha 5729838 90.7 102500 1.6 444552 7.0 42996 0.7 6319886 Ejidos 3711432 159814 1239688 n.a. 10-100 ha 5276780 73.9 519646 7.3 1093996 15.3 248139 3.5 7138561 Priv. <5ha														e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e		
C10 ha 572935 90.7 102500 1.6 444552 7.0 42996 0.7 6319886 Ejidos 3711432 159814 1239688 n.a. 10-100 ha 5276780 73.9 519646 7.3 1093996 15.3 248139 3.5 7138561 Priv. <5ha	(10 b)	5700979	00.7	100500	1980									1970		
10-100 ha 5276760 73.9 519646 7.3 1093996 15.3 240139 3.5 7138561 Priv. <5ha 867538 89058 234263 n.a. >100 ha 1257097 31.7 1334123 33.6 1160789 29.3 213096 5.4 3965105 Priv. <5ha		5/29030	90.7	102500	1.6	444552	7.0	42996	0.7	6319886	Ejidos	3711432	159814	1239688	n.a.	
Not ha 1237097 31.7 1334123 33.6 1160789 29.3 213096 5.4 3965105 Priv. /5ha 723057 184846 627241 n.a. 15351 Total 12263715 70.4 1956269 11.2 2699337 .15.5 504231 2.9 17423552 Total 4578970 248872 1473951 Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1960-70 <10 ha	10-100 ha	32/0/00	73.9	319040	7.5	1093996	15.3	248139	3.5	7138561	Priv. <5ha	867538	89058	234263	n.a.	
Total 12203713 70.4 1930209 11.2 2699337 15.5 504231 2.9 17423552 Total 4578970 248872 1473951 Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1960-70 <10 ha	Total	1237097	31.7 70.4	1056260	33.0	1160789	29.3	213096	5.4	3965105	Priv. >5ha	723057	184846	627241	n.a.	1535144
Percent change 1960-70 Percent change 1950-60 <10 ha	Total	12203713	70.4	1930209	. 11.2	2099337	. 15.5	504251	2.9	17423552	lotal	4578970	248872	1473951		
<10 ha				Percent	change 19	60-70							Perce	ont change 10°	50-60	
10-100 ha 33.8 -21.7 -46.6 -30.6 8.3 Priv. <5ha	<10 ha	75.1		-17.0		-45.7		-53.3		52.9	Elidos	23.1		30 4		
> 100 ha 22.8 -5.3 -42.9 -35.3 -14.9 Priv. >5ha 17.1 -39.7 30.7 -29.2 11 Total 49.4 -11.2 -45.0 -35.6 16.0 Total 71.9 32.3 Percent change 1970-80 Percent change 1970-80 Percent change 1970-80 Percent change 1960-70 <10 ha	10-100 ha	33.8		-21.7		-46.6		-30.6		8.3	Priv. <5ha	86.9		43.1		
Total 49.4 -11.2 -45.0 -35.6 16.0 Total 71.9 32.3 Percent change 1970-80 Percent change 1970-80 <10 ha	>100 ha	22.8		-5.3		-42.9		-35.3		-14.9	Priv. >5ha	17.1	-39.7	30.7	-29.2	114
Percent change 1970-80 Percent change 1960-70 <10 ha	Total	49.4		-11.2		-45.0		-35.6		16.0	Total	71.9		32.3	27.2	11.4
<10 ha 5.2 45.1 72.9 -39.8 8.1 Elidos 29.3 83.7				Percent	change 19	70-80							Dono	nt change 104	0.70	
	<10 ha	5.2		45.1	yo 13	72 9		-39.8		8 1	Fildos	20 3	Perce	ni change 190	00-70	,
10-100 ha 7.5 76.4 79.4 -28.2 15.9 Priv (5ha -51.9 -21.0	10-100 ha	7.5		76.4		79.4		-28.2		15.0	Priv (Sha	-510		-21.0		
>100 ha 20.4 87.7 96.7 -35.9 d81 Priv 5ha -27.4 29.2 -34.4 zo	>100 ha	20.4		87.7		96.7		-35.9		48.1	Priv 5ha	-07.4	20.2	-21.9		70 6
Total 7.6 81.8 85.2 -32.7 18.7 Total -19.3 -32.7	Total	7.6		81.8		85.2		-32.7		18.7	Total	-193	27.2	-04.4		-30.6

		ECUADOR :	: 1974						
				Family La	bor			Hired Labor	
		Farm	Total labor	On-farm	Off-farm	Surplus	Permanent	Temporary	Avuda*
		size	available	employment	employment	labor		•	
*Ayuda: system of non-monetary labor exchange			(millions)	0	% of family labor)	(% of	farm employ	ment)
Sources: Brazil: Agricultural censuses		<1 ha	98139	23	43	34	0.2	2.1	1.6
Ecuador: S.Commander and P. Peek, Oil Exports, Agrarian Change and the Rural Labour		1-5 ha	122381	29	29	42	0.7	8.9	3.3
Process:The Ecuadorian Sierra in the 1970s, ILO working paper WEP 10-6/WP63, 1983		5-20 ha	52007	35	17	48	1.1	25.6	29
Mexico: Censos Agricola, Ganadero y Ejidal 1950, 1960, 1970, and Centro de Investiga	clones	>20 ha	17981	44	13	43	15.5	50 7	07
Agrarias, Estructura agraria y desarrollo agricola en Mexico, Mexico: FCE, 1974.							10.0	00.1	0.7

၊ ပ္

34 -

Thus, the case of Brazil, with an increase of the peasantry in periods of depressed economic conditions and its decline in periods of rapid economic growth, supports the thesis of a residual peasantry which acts as a refuge for marginal labour.

In Mexico, the <u>ejidal</u> sector exhibits a markedly different experience from the private sector. The private sector suffered dramatic declines in both family- and hired-labour employment in the decade from 1960 to 1970. For the small private farms, this decline reflects the increasing marginality of smallholder production and the decreasing ability to support a household on a small private plot.

By contrast to small private farms, labour absorption in the <u>ejidos</u> increased during the 1960s. Although many <u>ejidal</u> plots are found in the most marginal areas of the country, <u>ejidarios</u> have access to forms of government assistance to which marginal private farmers do not. In addition, many <u>ejidatarios</u> with larger irrigated plots are not marginal producers at all and, in fact, resemble large private producers in many ways.

In general, the high growth rates of agricultural production and GDP in the 1960s seemed to work in conjunction to decrease employment in the private sector. On the one hand, high growth rates in the industrial sector were attracting migrants to the cities while, on the other hand, the tremendous increases in agricultural production were accompanied by high levels of mechanisation and the rise in cultivation of Green Revolution crops, such as wheat, which demand little labour.

Government support for irrigation and credit programmes for the <u>ejidos</u>, though relatively weak, probably kept many peasants from abandoning their hard-earned plots. The increases in employment of both family and hired labour in the <u>ejidal</u> sector, however, were not accompanied by similar rises in income levels for <u>ejidatarios</u>. As can be seen in table 20, implicit remuneration to family labour in the <u>ejidal</u> sector rose very little in real terms from 1950 to 1970 and, in fact, declined relative to wage-labour employment. Commander and Peek (1983) point out an interesting change in the labour process on small farms. Although the peasantry absorbs marginalised populations, its capacity to generate productive employment is limited since farm size is small and labour intensity is already high. Data from Ecuador, based on man-days of employment, show both a high level of surplus labour on all farms and that small-farm households spend more time working off the farm than on the farm. At the same time, temporary workers are hired precisely to enable family labour to seek these off-farm opportunities.

Number and average size of small farms over time

The data on the number and average size of small farms over time confirm the observation of a growing peasantry in absolute number. Of the 17 countries for which there are data on the number of small farms over time (table 11), 15 have an increasing number of small farms while that number decreases in only two (Panama and Venezuela). A Latin American aggregate of the number of small farms, based on linear extrapolations for the years 1950 and 1980, indicates a growth of 92 per cent, corresponding to an annual compound growth rate of 2.2 per cent. It is thus clear that the peasantry did increase significantly in number, even if the qualitative nature of that peasantry changed over time.

Another clear direction of change over time is the decline in the size of small farms that accompanied the growth in their numbers. In the 16 countries for which there is information (table 11), 11 have declining peasant farm size while it increased in only three, the other two showing no significant An aggregate for the 14 countries on which there is recent change. information (table 11), using extrapolations for 1950 and 1980, shows that the average size of peasant farms declined from 2.4 to 2.1 hectares, an annual compound growth rate of -0.4 per cent. This observation confirms the interpretation of the peasantry as a cornered sector of population, increasingly dependent on non-farm sources of income but unable to find sufficient employment opportunities to either migrate and abandon the agricultural sector or to fully depend on wage earnings for its subsistence. Thus, while the peasantry grows quantitatively, it undergoes significant qualitative changes away from being pure farm producers and toward increasing integration in the labour market.

Country	Years	Maximum farm size	Number of farms	Percent of farms	Percent of area	Average farm size
			-	pero	cent	hectares
Argentina	1914 1947	25 hectares	100,836 161,452	33.0 34.3	1.0 1.0	9.6 10.9
	1952 1960		235,953 181,404 226,065	41.8 38.5	1.1 1.0	9.2 9.7
	1909		220,005	42.0	0.9	8.9
Bolivia	1950	5 hectares		59.3	0.2	
Brazil	1940 1950	5 hectares	458.676	21.8	0.5	2.6
	1960		1,029,336	30.8	1.0	2:5-
	1970		1,800,243	36.6	1.3	2.2
	1975		1,911,730	38.3	1.2	2.1
			1,000,150	50.0	1.1	2.1
	1950	10 hectares	710,934	34.4	1.3	4.3
	1900		1,495,020	44.4	2.3	4.0
	1975		2,519,030	51.2	3.1	3.6
	1980	·	2,598,019	50.4	2.8	3.5 3.5
Chile	1055	10 heaters	75 (07			0.0
GHIE	1955	10 nectares	156,769	61.0	0.8	2.9
	1065	E DIU	100 500			2.0
	1905	5 BIH	189,529	81.0	9.7	
	1976			79.0	9.7	
	1979	5.1 BIH	254,925	75.0	14.6	
Colombia	1054	10 hostores	640 115	77 0	<i>c o</i>	
Gorombra	1960	IN NECLATES	925 750	71.0	6.9	2.9
	1970		859,884	73.0	7.2	2.6
Costa Rica	1955	10.5 hectares	25.575	54 0	5 2	7 0
	1963		34,038	53.0	4.8	3.8
	1963	10 hectares	30,377	50.0	5.0	4.1
	1973		29,927	48.0	4.0	3.9
Dominican Republic	1971	5 hectares	235,000	77.1	12.9	15
	1981		314,700	81.7	12.2	1.0
Ecuador	1954	5 hectares	212,153	82.0	11 0	1.6
	1974		298,965	77.0	13.0	• 1.3
Ecuador Sierra	1954	10 hectares	234,596	90.0	16.0	2.1
	1974		280,974	87.0	18.0	1.9
El Salvador	1950	5 hectares	140,473	80.7	12.4	1.4
	1961		193,298	85.3	15.5	1.3
	1971		234,941	86.9	19.6	1.2
Guatemala	1950	7 hectares	308,000	88.0	14.0	2.5
	1964		364,879	88.0 .	19.0	2.5
	1979		547,574	90.0	16.0	1.8
Haiti	1971	5 hectares	593,325	96.0	78.0	1.1
Honduras	1952	5 hectares	88,997	57.0	8.0	2 7
	1966		,007	47.0	6.0	2.3
· · · ·	1974		124,781	64.0	9.0	1.9
Jamaica	1969	5 hectares		91.3	26.5	

Table 11: Number and average size of small farms over time

(Continued on next page.)

Table 11 (continued):

		Maximum	Number	Percent	Percent	Average
Country	Years	farm size	or rarms	perc	cent	hectares
Mexico	1950 1960 1970	5 hectares, private ^a	1,020,747 928,717 678,214	39.2 34.2 25.2	7.6 6.1 5.0	1.5 1.6 1.7
	1950 1960 1970	4 hectares, ejido ^a	569,866 668,162 951,878	21.9 24.6 35.6	6.1 5.9 8.6	2.1 2.1 2.1
Nicaragua	1952 1963 1971 1978 1983	7 hectares	17,943 51,936 37,500	34.8 50.8 43.8	2.3 3.5 2.2 2.0 5.4	3.0 2.6 3.5
Panama	1950 1961 1971	5 hectares	44,442 43,692 41,307	52.0 45.7 45.4	8.3 5.3 3.7	2.2 2.2 1.8
Paraguay	1943 1956 1961	5 hectares	45,426 68,714 74,559	48.1 45.9 46.4	8.0 1.0	2.7 2.4
Peru	1961 1972	5 hectares	699,427 1,083,775	82.9 77.9	5.2 6.6	1.3 1.4
Uruguay	1951 1961	20 hectares	35,841 39,829	42.0 45.8	1.8 1.9	8.3 8.0
Venezuela	1950 1961 1971	5 hectares	125,990 155,617 121,778	54.7 49.3 42.3	1.2 1.4 1.0	2.1 2.3 2.2
Latin America ^b	1950 1980	Small farms	4,134,000 7,949,000			2.4 2.1

^aRefers to cultivated land.

 b_{Based} on linear extrapolations from the nearest two censuses and excluding Paraguay and Uruguay for which recent information is not available.

Source: Agricultural Censuses, various years.

The data on percentage of peasant farms in the total number of farms and on percentage of land they occupy show greater diversity across countries but indicate that, in a majority of cases, these two percentages increased - the first more frequently than the second. This, again, supports the interpretation of a peasantry growing more in share of farms than in share of land and being thus dispossessed of its productive resources and forced to rely on alternative sources of income.

Extent of landlessness

The concept of landlessness is generally not measurable through census data since a large number of those workers who appear as hired workers in the agricultural EAP also have plots of land which are not sufficient to support their households. Thus, the extent of landlessness must be estimated through household surveys or by other means which often lead to widely varying estimates.

In table 12, data on the extent of landlessness have been compiled from a variety of case studies. Data over time are available only for Nicaragua and El Salvador; and these data, which come from different sources, are spotty and often inconsistent. In addition, the data for Brazil and El Salvador refer to rural instead of agricultural households and thus overestimate landlessness in the agricultural labour force. They both indicate an increase in landless over time. In Nicaragua, the share of agricultural EAP that is landless increased from 31 per cent in 1965-70 to 32-40 per cent in 1978. In El Salvador, the proportion of landless rural households increased dramatically from 12 per cent in 1961 to 41 per cent in 1975.

While data are otherwise not available over time, we notice (1) the high levels of landlessness that exist in all cases and (2) the relatively higher levels of landlessness in countries, such as Brazil, Chile, and Costa Rica, with low shares of agricultural GDP in total GDP compared to agrarian countries, such as Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua, with high shares of agricultural GDP in total GDP. On this basis, one can expect that the current high level of landlessness will further increase in Latin America as its pattern of economic growth reduces the share of agricultural GDP in total GDP as GDP increases.

· .					
Source	С	ountry	Year	Basis	Percentage of basis
		<u></u>	•		
(1)	В	razil	1972	Rural households	61.3
(2)	С	hile	1965	Agricultural EAP	36.1
(3)	С	osta Rica	1965/1970	Agricultural EAP	2.0
(3)	E	l Salvador	1965/1970	Agricultural EAP	17.0
(4)	E	l Salvador	1961	Rural households	12.0
(4)	E	l Salvador	1971	Rural households	29.0
(4)	E	l Salvador	1975	Rural households	41.0
(3)	G	uatemala	1965/1970	Agricultural EAP	7.0
(3)	Н	onduras	1965/1970	Agricultural EAP	26.0
(3)	N	icaragua	1965/1970	Agricultural EAP	31.0
(5)	N	icaragua	1978	Agricultural EAP	39.6
(6)	N	icaragua	1978	Agricultural EAP	31.5
(7)	N	icaragua	1970	Rural households	32.5
Sources:	(1)	Graziano da <u>Subsistencian</u> Editora Hucit	Silva, J. et a Agricultura ec, 1890, pp.6	al. <u>Estructura Agrari</u> a Brasileira. Sao 0-63.	a e Producao de Paulo, Brazil:
	, (2)	Marchetti, P. Rurales Latin	."Reforma Agra oamericanos, V	aria y la Conversion Di ol. 4, No. 1 (January-A	ficil", <u>Estudios</u> April, 1981).
	(3)	Barraclough, Food Security (eds.), <u>Towa</u> Caribbean. I	S., and P. Ma in the Carib ard an Alterr ondon: George	rchetti. "Agrarian Tr bean Basin". In Irvin ative for Central A Allen and Urwin, 1985.	ansformation and and Goriostiaga merica and the
	(4)	Klein, E. ' IV, (1980), p	Pauperizacion	Campesina", <u>Nueva An</u>	tropologia, Vol.
	(5)	International Mision Especi	Fund for Agr al de Programa	icultural Development. cion a Nicaragua. Rome	Informe de la e, 1980.
	(6)	Peek, P. "A Paper. Genev	grarian Reform a: Internatio	and Poverty Alleviati nal Labour Office, 1984	on", WEP Working 4.
	(7)	Hintermeister Transformacio 2 and 3 (May-	, A. "El Er on", <u>Estudios</u> December, 1983	npleo Agricola en Una Rurales Latinoamericano).	a Estructura en os, Vol. 6, Nos.

Table 12: Extent of landlessness

ø

Structure of employment in agriculture and rural sectors

The similarity in the evolution over time of the rural population and of the agricultural labour force shown in table 1 could erroneously be interpreted as indicating a stable commitment of the rural population to agriculture. This is not the case. Deep transformations have occurred over the last 20 years which have led to an increasing integration of the agricultural and urban labour markets. The agricultural labour force has become more and more urbanised (mainly town based) and the rural labour force increasingly works in non-agricultural activities.

The increased integration of the urban and rural labour markets can be seen in table 13 by examining two distinct, yet complementary processes: the share of the agricultural EAP which is urban based has increased and the share of the rural EAP which is employed in non-agricultural activities has increased as well. For every country in table 13, the share of agricultural EAP which is urban based has increased, with Puerto Rico and Brazil experiencing the greatest percentage increases. At the same time, the proportion of rural EAP employed in non-agricultural activities increased in every country except Peru, with the greatest percentage increases occurring in In most cases, the magnitudes of these two patterns of Mexico and Brazil. change was quite dramatic. For example, Mexico's non-agricultural share of rural EAP increased from 23 per cent in 1970 to 42 per cent in 1980.

It is important to note that census data tend to overestimate non-agricultural employment in rural areas. This is due to the fact that peripheral urban areas are often still classified as rural areas. Although most of their residents work in the urban areas, they are classified as rural workers. The overestimation is particularly high in those countries where migration to the urban periphery has been extensive.

The origin of the urbanisation of the agricultural labour force can, in many cases, be traced to the introduction of new agricultural labour laws -(Chile and Brazil) which led to the expulsion of resident workers from the large farms, their relocation in urban towns, and the generalisation of the practice of contracting non-resident workers on a temporary basis (in Brazil,

Country	Year	Share of agricul- tural EAP of urban origin (in %)	Share of rural EAP working in non- agriculture (in %)
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		······································
Brazil	1970	12.3	15.2
	1980	17.7	23.4
Pernambuco	1970	13.1	а
	1980	16.3	
Sao Paulo	1970	26.6	
	1980	38.0	
Costa Rica	1963	5.4	29.1
	1973	6.2	41.2
Ecuador	1962	6.5	19.3
	1974	6.8	26.4
Mexico	1970	23.8	23.1
• .	1980	26.0	42.4
Nicaragua	1963	11.0	12.8
	1971	11.7	20.0
Peru	1961	18.3	20.1
	1972	23.7	18.8
Puerto Rico	1960	6.5	56.1
	1970	11.8	80.8

Table 13: Structure of oemployment in agricultural and rural sectors

^a Blanks indicate no data available

<u>Note</u>: Census definition of urban is as follows: Brazil (unspecified); Costa Rica (administrative centers of cantons); Ecuador (capitals of provinces and cantons); Mexico (center of population with at least 2,500 inhabitants); Nicaragua (administrative centers of departments and <u>municipios</u>); Peru (populated centers with 100 or more occupied dwellings; Puerto Rico (center of population with at least 2,500 inhabitants and employed persons only).

Sources:

For Mexico, Censo General de Poblacion y Vivienda, 1970 and 1980.

For Brazil, Demographic Censuses, 1970 and 1980.

For other countries, United Nations, Department of International Economic and Social Affairs, <u>Patterns of Urban and Rural Growth:</u> Population Studies No. 68, 1980.

in particular), often through the mediation of labour contractors. In Chile, labour legislation forced employers, in 1970, to substitute payment in kind (land usufruct against payment of land in labour services) by 100 per cent payment of minimum wage in cash, inducing landlords to replace permanent workers (<u>inquilinos</u>) by temporary workers. In 1979, labour laws restricted union activity to farms with more than 15 permanent workers, further inducing landlords to reduce their staff of permanent workers and to shift to temporary farmhands. Land concentration and the resulting increase in landlessness also accelerated rural outmigration in most countries.

This labour force of landless workers had a tendency to concentrate in the neighbourhoods of small rural towns, especially in the areas of temporary employment in agriculture, where labour contractors can easily mobilise them. Klein (1984) argues that, where this has happened, the town-based rural labour force increasingly displaces the traditional peasantry from employment opportunities since it is easier to mobilise on a temporary basis and does not have employment conflicts with the labour needs of their own farms as peasants often do in the critical weeks of harvest. The traditional peasantry then becomes increasingly disconnected from the labour market and is forced to migrate to the towns if it cannot subsist on its small plots of land.

In Chile, between 1970 and 1982, the rural population increased at an annual average rate of 0.2 per cent and the population of the large cities by 2.8 per cent, while that of small towns increased by 3.6 per cent (Rivera and Cruz, 1984). Living in these urban areas and working in agriculture principally on temporary contracts induced this labour force to also participate in the urban labour market and contributed to the greater integration of the two markets. For Chile, in 1982, Rivera and Cruz thus show that the structure of household income for residents of small rural towns was as follows:

	Per cent
Agricultural temporary labour	33
Agricultural permanent labour	10
Urban temporary labour	11
Urban permanent labour	7
Public minimum employment programmes	6
Self-employment	3

An important consequence of this increased integration of the two labour markets is the necessary decrease in the gap between agricultural and non-agricultural wages. As will be seen in tables 14, 15, 16, and 18, this is particularly true in periods of rapid growth of the economy when competition of the non-agricultural sector with agriculture for access to temporary urban-based labour increases.

For Brazil, Rezende observed a decline in the qualification of temporary workers in agriculture due to the increasing integration of markets. Jobs in agriculture usually have less desirable attributes, such as instability, interruptions, lack of social security rights, and weak enforcement of labour legislation, compared to employment on the urban labour market. Because of this, agriculture does not attract the more competitive workers. Data reveal an increased participation of unskilled workers, the handicapped, women, old men, and children in this urban-based agricultural labour force. Thus, the market for temporary agricultural labour increasingly acquires the characteristics of a secondary labour market.

Competition between this new urban-based labour force and the peasantry for complementary temporary work can, indeed, in many circumstances turn against the semi-proletarianised peasantry. While the economic structure of peasant households, with family labour generating income from the home plot, allows them to compete for lower levels of wages than a fully proletarianised labour force (the theory of functional dualism), as can be seen from the analysis of data in tables 14, 15, and 16, the competition between its own labour needs and the needs of employers in priods of peak seasonal employment will play against the peasants. Urban-based workers (once plentifully available due to sufficient dispossession of the peasantry through changing labour laws and reduced access to land) are, by contrast, more flexibly accessible, and the concentration of urban dwellings facilitates and cheapens access to workers by labour contractors.

While the traditional semi-proletarianised peasantry remains the bulk of labour reserve for the modern agricultural sector in most countries, we increasingly witness a weakening of this role with the emergence of a landless town-based labour force that gravitates with great fluidity among temporary employers in agriculture and among agricultural and urban employment

opportunities. The rural and urban labour markets are thus increasingly integrated, and wages paid on the two markets tend to converge, except for differences in labour skills, with agriculture acquiring the features of a secondary labour market.

III. Agricultural wages

Evolution of agricultural and non-agricultural wages

Table 14 shows the evolution of agricultural and non-agricultural wages from 1965 to 1980 for permanent, unskilled workers in 15 Latin American countries. For most countries, only a minimum wage is available for agricultural workers and, when this is the case, it is compared with the minimum urban wage. When an average wage is reported, it is compared with the average wage of construction workers (when available) and, otherwise, with that of manufacturing workers. Agricultural and non-agricultural wages in the early 1980s are similarly compared in table 15.

In these tables, data are kept in their original undeflated form to avoid the cumulation of errors that might come from the utilisation of price indices for which different sources give information which is rarely consistent and often highly contradictory, particularly in periods of hyperinflation. On the other hand, most of the discussion that follows and the analysis reported in table 16 are based on the computation of real wages (table 17) by using as a deflator the CPIs reported in tables 14 and 15.

The first striking observation is that it is only in a few countries that the real agricultural wage (either minimum or average) is substantially higher in the 1979-80 period than in 1965-66 period. These countries are Mexico (where it is 60 per cent higher); Ecuador (52 per cent higher than in 1968); Colombia (47 per cent); Brazil, Chile, and Costa Rica (40 per cent); and Panama (30 per cent). Note, however, that a 40 per cent increase over a 15-year period corresponds to an average annual increase of only 2.3 per cent. In all the other countries, real wages in 1980 are either at the same level as 15 years before or substantially lower, the most extreme cases being those of Argentina where the real average wage has fallen by more than 40 per cent and Nicaragua where it has fallen by 30 per cent. This contradicts

Argentina	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979	1980	Tabl
Constr. w	153	201	262	280	306	358	488	710	1262	1675	5914	17132	46569	108011			0
Agr. w	88	117	153	163	182	228	350	500	898	1282	3366	10058	25517	61857			
CPI	41	55	70	82	- 88	100	135	213	342	425	1202	6539	18050	49729	129051	259090	÷.
GDP/cap	3.27	3.25	3.28	3.38	3.60	3.71	3.79	3.80	3.88	4.04	3.95	3.87	4.05	3.84	4.06	4.03	l m
Brazil								·									
Constr. w					146	175	221	252	295	383	519	762	1152	1645	2413	4435	
Agr. w		49	64	-75	88	107	136	164	223	324	435	601	893	1286			Lt It
CPI	29.8	42.0	54.6	66.8	81.6	100.0	120.2	139.9	171.4	218.9	282.4	400.7	575.7	798.5	1219.3	2228.9	o l
GDP/cap	1.76	1.80	1.83	1.94	2.06	2.19	2.40	2.60	2.90	3.10	3.19	3.44	3.56	3.66	3.84	4.06	Ĕ
Chile					,												0
Urban min w	0.21	0.26	0.31	0.37	0.48	0.62	0.83	1.27	4.51	34.1	163.4	565	1279	2265	2996	4056	יד
Agr min w	0.09	0.12	0.14	0.18	0.22	0.36	0.60	1.15	4.43	24.7	130.5	534	1243	1814	2399	3248	ag
CPI	31.4	38.6	45.6	57.7	75.5	100.0	126.7	263.8	1461	8733	41850	139278	297776	446665	595811	804994	r
GDP/cap	27.9	29.2	29.2	29.3	29.6	30.2	32.4	31.4	29.2	29.0	24.8	25.3	27.3	29.0	30.9	32.7	
Colombia									×*								
Urban min w	364	364	364	364	371	450	450	460	572	802	1040	1066	1601	2045	2298	3900	1±
Manuf w	759	863	952	1050	1149	1394	1499	1527	1860	2207	2674	3284	4175	5443	7229	9260	L.
Agr min w	234	234	234	234	236	260	260	267	338	622	885	906	1363	1756	1979	3640	1
Agr w	. 311	. 371	384	405	494	502						1710	2581	3244	3926	5070	a
CPI	61.9	74.2	80.3	85.0	93.6	100.0	109.0	124.6	152.9	190.3	239.2	280.8	365.1	429.5	532.4	681.0	nd
GDP/cap	5.44	5.55	5.60	5.76	5.93	6.13	6.33	6.67	7.05	7.24	7.46	7.65	7.8 7	8.41	8.67	8.86	
Costa Rica																	lor
Urban min w	310	310	311	318	341	350	375	385	415	501	585	661	734	838	937	1100	1
Constr w						495	523	565	616	724	883	1008	1166	1360	1561	1780	ag
Agr min w	230	230	230	236	253	259	278	288	320	422	504	600	679	799	899		1
Agr w							388	400	445	533	629	750	963	1118	1330	1573	2
CPT CDD (see	88.2	88.4	89.4	93.0	95.6	100.0	103.1	107.8	124.2	161.6	189.5	196.2	204.4	216.6	236.5	279.4	
GDP/cap	2.01	2.70	2.82	2.99	3.16	3.22	3.35	3.53	3.71	3.82	3.80	3.90	4.12	4.25	4.33	4.23	1 t
Ecuador				600	600	600			750	1000	1100	1500				4000	ra
Urban min w				600	600	600	750	750	750	1000	1167	1500	1500	1500	2000	4000	1
Agr min w	70 4	00 C	05 0	450	450	450	450	450	450	700	750	960	960	960	1350	2500	D.
	0 57	02.0	00.0	09.5	95.2	100.0	100.4	117.0	132.1	163.0	188.0	208.1	235.2	202.0	289.6	327.3	m
60P7Cap	9.57	9.51	9.70	9.97	10.11	10.55	10.80	11.99	14.55	14.94	15.25	10.11	10.59	17.10	17.38	17.02	in n
	00	00	00	06	06	00	00	00	107	157	100	100	100	210			a
	90 68	· 90	90	90	90	90	90	90	74	100	07	100	100	210	156	156	-
	00	07 7	00	00	07 7	100 0	00	102.0	109 5	126.0	95	100	100 0	204 9	270.0	271.1	Na
GDP/cap	94.0	95.7	95.1	97.5	97.5	100.0	100.5	102.0	100.5	120.0	131.1	101.7	100.0	204.0	230.9	271.1	ge
OUF/Cap	9.25	9.19	9.01	9.79	9.07	10.10	10.29	10.54	10.70	11.15	11.41	11.52	11.00	12.23	11.70	9.19	s,
· · ·																	
				•									(Cont:	inued o	n next	page.)	961
																	្រក
									•		4	۹,					12
•																	
																	10

- 46 -

	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979	1980	
Guatemala											•						
Urban min w	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	48	57	57	57	57	57	57	99	
Manuf w	90	93	96	99	104	104	104	105	105	106	110	119	127	144	165	169	
Agr min w										34	34	34	34	34	34	. 75	
Agr w									25	29	33	34	34	38	42	40	
CPI	92.8	93.4	93.9	95.6	97.7	100.0	99.5	100.1	114.4	132 7	150 1	166 0	187 0	201 0	225 0	250 1	
GDP/cap	2.81	2.90	2.96	3.15	3.23	3.35	3.43	3.57	3.70	3 81	3 77	3 03	4 11	4 18	4 25	4 28	
Honduras									0170	5101	5.77	0.55		1.10	1.25	1.20	
Urban min w										104	104	104	104	106	125	137	
Agr min w					•					52	61	65	65	66	78	05	
CPÍ	91.8	92.0	93.1	95.5	97.2	100.0	102.3	105.8	110.6	124 8	135 1	141 8	153 0	162 7	177 0	210 3	
GDP/cap	4.66	4.75	4.84	4.97	4.85	5.00	5.11	5.10	5.13	4 96	4 72	4 04	5 18	5 36	5 48	5 60	
Mexico							••••		0110		1.72		5.10	5.50	5.10	J.00 -	
Urban min w	559	650	650	735	735	832	831	988	088	1427	1647	2045	2767	3110	3580	4240	
Agr min w	384	454	453	523	523	610	610	721	764	1037	1108	1556	1086	2727	2837	3572	
CPI	84.1	87.7	90.3	92.0	95.2	100.0	105.4	110.7	124 0	153 5	176 8	204 7	263 0	310 1	366 5	463 3	
GDP/cap	10.59	10.95	11.25	11.75	12.07	8.68	7.62	9.20	9.65	0 02	10 14	10 27	10 33	10.86	11 52	12 13	
Nicaragua								5120	5.05	5.52	10.14	10.27	10.55	10.00	11.52	12.15	
Urban min w	317	317	317	317	317	317	317	325	347	403	450	487	552	585	815	078	
Agr min w	243	243	243	243	243	243	243	268	201	320	354	365	420	462	584	700	
CPI	87.9	91.3	92.3	96.5	97.7	100.0	101 5	104 8	133 1	150.8	162 3	166 8	185 8	104 2	287 8	709	
GDP/cap	10.25	10.19	10.74	10.50	10.78	10.95	11 16	11 00	11 21	12 16	11 05	12 08	11 73	10 50	7 50	9 10	
Panama								11.05		12.10	11.35	12.00	11.75	10.30	7.30	0.19	
Urban min w	83	83	83	83	83	83	83	104	104	111	114	114	114	114	121	147	
Agr min w	39	39	39	39	39	30	30	65	65	75	78	79	79	70	121	145	
CPI	92.3	92.5	93.7	95.3	97.0	100 0	101 8	107 4	114 7	134 1	141 4	147 1	157 7	160 7	177.0	104	
GDP/cap	5.60	5.84	6.15	6.39	6.72	6 98	7 48	7 64	7 87	7 80	7 84	7 90	7 70	100.3	175.0	190.9	
Paraguay						0.50	7.10	7.01	/.0/	7.09	7.04	7.00	7.70	0.27	0.45	9.54	
Urban min w	5850	5850	5850	5850	5850	5850	6240	6430	8150	0057	0340	. 0340	0740	10740	10740	17275	
Agr min w		5201	5272	5310	5429	5603	5814	6053	6000	8100	9310	9070	9340	10/90	14202	10000	
CPI	93.9	96.7	98.0	98.6	100 9	100.0	105 0	114 7	120 3	161 0	172 8	9020	107 4	12139	14202	10002	
GDP/cap	62.62	61.81	64.22	65.54	66.62	68.89	70 36	72 53	75 80	80.00	82 05	86 54	05 17	102 04	111 17	120.85	
Peru						00105	10.50	12.33	/5.00	00.00	02.95	00.34	93.17	102.94	111.17	120.05	
Urban min w	938	1200	1275	1500	1500	1860	1080	2225	2400	2850	3270	4020	1075	6475	11067	10675	÷
Agr min w	730	730	751	864	982	1055	1253	1318	1483	1576	2017	9020	7121	7994	11003	19075	•
CPI	63.0	68.6	75.3	89.6	95.2	100.0	106.8	114 5	125 4	146 5	181 2	2393	377 0	527 0	0007	13771	
GDP/cap	25.76	26.68	26.62	25.92	26.25	27 48	28 07	27 75	28 14	20 42	0.03	20 80	20.09	20 25	20 77	20.17	
Uruguay				20002	20120	27.10	20.07	21.15	20.14	29.72	0.05	29.00	29.00	20.25	20.75	29.15	
Constr w (inde	x)		37	60	01	100	150	247	407	907	1424	1042	2650	7670	EAFO	0.40.4	
Agr w		1.5	3 3	8.1	12 R	15 6	10.6	240	44 0	88 6	1967 2	1992	2009	562 4	2429	0494	
CPI	9.6	16.7	31 5	71 1	85 0	100	19.0	20.9	0.FF	00.0	1704	2000	339./	302.4	009.0	12/4.3	
GDP/cap	8.76	8 04	8 47	8 40	8 00	100	124	219	101	100	1304	2000	3299	4/09	/95/	13007	
	0.10	0.31	0.17	0.79	0.90	9.21	9.21	9.05	a.01	9.34	9.07	10.21	10.27	10.75	11.35	11.94	

Note: Wages are monthly wages in national currency unless otherwise mentioned. GDP/cap is Gross Domestic Product in constant market prices per capita, in thousands of national currency, except for Panama (in 100 Balboas) and Uruguay (in 100 new Pesos); Base years for prices are 1958 for Guatemala, 1966 for Costa Rica and Honduras, 1970 for Argontina, Brazil, Mexico and Panama, 1973 for Peru, 1975 for Ecuador and El Salvador, 1973 for Other State 1977 for Chile, Colombia and Paraguay, 1978 for Uruguay and 1980 for Nicaragua.

Sources: Wages and CPI: PREALC, Mercado de Trabajo en Clfras, 1950-80 (Geneva, ILO: 1982); GDP/cap: World Bank, World Tables, 1976 and 1983

1 47 L

14 continued:

Table

	1980	1981	1982	1983	1984		1980	1981	1982	1983	1984
Brazil						Guatemala					
DI 0211	100	198	302	807	2347		100	1075	107.5	102.5	99.1
an aver w	4293	9058	18145	40594 1	22079	an min w**	100	109.5	106.3		
CDI arowth rate	95 3	912	97.9	179.2	203.3	CPI growth rate	91	8.7	-2.0	15.4	5.2
GDP /c or rate		-42	- 9	-49	25	GDP/c or rate	0.9	-1.8	-6.1	-5.5	-2.4
Chile		1.4.			2.0	Honduras	0.2		0.1	0.0	
non-an min w**	• 100	115.9	9 116.6	5 93.9	. 80.2	non-an min w*	135	155	168	168	168
an min w**	100	120.0	0 121.5	5 97.9	83.6	ag min w*	179	228	256	256	256
CPI growth rate	31.2	2 9.5	5 20.7	7 23.6	23.0	CPI growth rate	15.0	9.4	9.4	8.6	2.4
GDP/c or rate	6.2	2 3.6	5 -14.4	4 -2.1	4.5	GDP/c or rate	8	-2.3	-5.1	-3.8	-1.4
Colombia						Mexico					
non-ag min w	3900	4940	6422	8008	9802	non-ag min w *	136.6	178.9	275.6	418.0	658.8
ag min w	3640	4602	6084	7592	9646	ag min w*	134.2	178.9	275.6	418.0	658.8
manuf aver w	9260	12059	15519	19585	24403	CPI growth rate	29.8	28.7	98.8	80.8	59.2
ag aver w	5070	6266	7384	8996	10426	GDP/c gr rate		5.4	-2.6	-7.6	0.9
CPI growth rate	26.5	27.5	24.1	16.5	18.3	Nicaragua					
GDP/c gr rate	1.9	0.1	-1.1	-1.0	1.4	manuf aver w*	84.7	100	113.1	136.6	150.7
Costa.Rica						ag aver w*	74.8	100	115.1	125.2	151.1
non-ag min w*i	* 100	90.9	5 85.1	7 99.3	5 104.5	CPI growth rate	24.8	23.2	22.2	32.9	50.2
ag min w**	100	90.	7 87.9	5 101.3	5	GDP/c gr rate	2.0	-4.4	1.7	-4.8	-5.9
non-ag aver w*	* 100	88.3	2 70.9	9 78.1	84.7	Panama					
ag aver w**	100	92.0	0 81.2	2 89.8	3	non-ag min w**	100	93.2	89.4	89.6	86.0
CPI growtg rate	17.8	B 65.	1 81.1	7 10.7	17.3	ag min w**	100	93.2	89.4	86.2	101.1
GDP/c gr rate	-2.	1 -5.0	0 -9.	7 -0.4	1 3.4	CPI growth rate	14.4	4.8	3.7	2.0	0.9
Ecuador						GDP/c gr rate	10.5	1.7	2.7	-2.2	-2.5
non-ag min w	4000	4000	4100	5100	6600	Paraguay					
ag min w	2500	2500	2617	3550	4400	non−ag min w*	100	117.7	123.0	129.2	155
CPI growth rate	14.5	17.9	24.3	52.5	25.1	ag min w*	100	117.8	123.2	129.3	155.1
GDP/c gr rate	1.9	0.8	-1.8	-4.4	1.7	manuf aver w*	100	120.3	122.7	128.4	153.5
El Salvador						ag aver w*	100	111.8	119.7	137.0	133.4
non-ag min w	310	330	330	330	370	CPI growth rate	8.9	15.0	4.2	14.1	•29.8
ag min w	156	156	156	156	155	GDP/c gr rate	7.9	5.4	-3.9	-5.9	-0.1
CPI growth rate	18.6	11.6	13.8	15.5	9.8	Uruguay					
GDP/c gr rate	-11.3	· 11.0	· 8.4	- 5.8	-1.5	non ag min w**	100	103.4	104.6	94.2	89.9
						ag min w**	100	99.2	97.0	79.8	80.3
						CPI growth rate	42.8	29.4	20.5	51.5	66.1
						GDP/c gr rate	5.3	0.3	-11.3	-6.5	-1.9

Table 15: Agricultural and non-agricultural wages, 1980-1984

Note: Wages are nominal wages in national currency, monthly, except otherwise noticed.

* nominal wage indices

** real wage indices

Sources: - Wages - Brazil: Agr. wage of permanent workers: Foundation Getulio Yargas, Agropecuaria, precios medios, revisao e atualização da serie 1966-1984, and update issue (Rio de Janeiro, 1985); FIESP index of industrial wages: Conjuntura Economica, Aug. 85; Mexico: Comision Nacional de los Salarios Minimos, Memoria de Labores, Mexico, 1964-1985; Colombia, Ecuador, El Salvador, Honduras, Nicaragua and Paraguay: CEPAL, Estudios Economico de Americana y el Caribe, August 85; Chile, Costa Rica, Guatemala, Panama and Uruguay: Ag. real wages: PREALC, unpublished document; Non-agr. wages: CEPAL, unpublished document.

- CPI and GDP/capita growth rates: CEPAL, Notas sobre la economia y el desarrollo, 1984 and 1985.

p,	e	r	İC)d	<u>S</u>	0	ſ	e	<u>C(</u>	<u>)(</u>	10)n	n	<u>ic</u>	0	r	0	W	t	h	l

Mid-sixties	to mid-se	eventies						
		An	nual gro	owth rate	of	1970		change in ratio
	Period	GDP/c %	CPI %	non-agw %	ag w %	ag wage US \$	type	non ag/ag wages
Argentina	65-74	2.6	28.3	0.1	3.6	60.4	aver	+
Brazil	67-74	8.0	21.3	-0.5 ⁸	3.3	23.3	aver	+
Colombia	65-73	3.3	10.4	-4.6	-6.1	13.0	min	8
				0.9	0.5 ^b	25.2	aver	~
Costa Rica	65-74	4.4	5.7	-0.7	0.2	39.1	min	*
				-2.2 ^c	-4.2 ^d	54.7°	aver	*
Ecuador	65-73	4.5	6.3	-1.8	-7.2	21.5	min	-
El Salvador	65-78	2.0	6.1	1.3	-1.1	27.2	min	
Ouatemala	65-77	3.2	12.99	-11.2 ^f ·	-11.7 ^r		min	~
				-6.99	-4.99		aver	•
Mexico	65-69	3.4	3.0	3.8	4.7	48.8	min	*
•	72-77	2.2	18.6	4.3	4.0			~
Panama	65-73	4.5	2.6	0.1	3.6	39.0	min	¥
Paraguay	65-76	3.1	6.4	-1.2	-1.1 ^h	44.5	min	8

Late sevent	lies							
		An	inua) gr	owth rate	of	1975		change in ratio
	Period	GDP/c	CPI	non-ag w	ag w	ag wage	type	non ag/ag wages
		8	X	X	x	US\$		
Brazil	74-80	4.5	45.9	1.6	1.8 ⁱ	53.5	aver	_i
Chile	75-81	6.0	74.9	7.0	4.7	26.6	min	*
Colombia	73-80	3.5	23.4	4.3	9.1	28.6	min	+
				2.3	4.5J	49.3	aver	+
Costa Rica	74-79	2.9	6.9	5.8	8.8	58.8	min	+
				8.8	11.7	73.4	ever	+
Ecuador	73-79	3.3	13.4	1.7	2.3	30.0	min	8
Honduras	75-80	3.5	8.8	-2.8	-0.4	30.5	min	+
Mexico	77-81	5.5	20.3	-4.3	1.0	95.9	min	+
Panama	77-81	6.2	8.5	-0.6	1.3	78.0	min	+
Paraguay	76-80	8.5	17.7	-7.6	3.0	65.1	min	+
Uruguay	74-80	3.9	58.1	-9.5	-2.3	70.9	aver	+

Notes: ²69-74 ^b65-70 ^c70-74 ^d71-74 ^e1971 ^f74-77 973-77 ^b66-76 ^l74-78 ^l76-80 ^k80-82 * irregular ≈ ratio approximatively constant Source: Tables 8a and 8b

		A	nnual gr	owth rate	of	1970		change in ratio
	Period	GDP/c %3	CPI %	non-agw %	ag w %	ag wage US \$	type	non ag/ag wages
Chile	65-70	1.3	25.9	-1.8	2.7	30.0	min	+
Nicaragua	65-76	1.6	6.3	-2.5	-2.2	34.7	min	a
Peru	68-75	1.9	9.7	2.0	1.8	27.3	min	*
Uruguay	65-74	0.8	56.2	1.5	1.9	70.9	aver	≈ ,
Chile	71-75	-5.9	352.7	-11.8	-11.9		min	R
Mexico	69-71	-20.5	5.2	1.0	2.6	48.8	min	+
Late sevent	les							
		A	nnual gr	owth rate	of	1975		change in ratio
	Period	GDP/c	CP1	non-ag w	ag w	ag wage	type	non ag/ag wages
	Period	GDP/c %	: CPI %3	non-agw %	ag w %	ag wage US\$	type	non ag/ag wages
	Period	GDP/c %	s CPI X8	non-agw X	ag w %	ag wage US\$	type	non ag/ag wages
Argentina	Period 74-80	GDP/c % 0.1	CPI % 198.6	non-ag w % -16.8 ⁱ	ag w % -21.9 ¹	ag waga US\$ 92.0	type aver	non ag/ag wages -
Argentina Guatemala	Period 74-80 77-80	GDP/c % 0.1 1.4	CPI % 198.6 10.3	non-ag w % -16.8 ¹ 7.8	ag w % -21.9 ¹ 15.1	ag wage US\$ 92.0 34.0	type aver min	non ag/ag wages - *
Argentina Guatemala	Period 74-80 77-80	GDP/c % 0.1 1.4	: CPI % 198.6 10.3	non-ag w % -16.8 ¹ 7.8 0.3	ag w % -21.9 ¹ 15.1 -3.4	ag wage US\$ 92.0 34.0 33.3	type aver min aver	non ag/ag wages - * -
Argentina Guatemala Panama	Period 74-80 77-80 73-77	GDP/c % 0.1 1.4 -0.6	CPI 8 198.6 10.3 7.0	non-ag w % - 16.8 ¹ 7.8 0.3 - 4.8	ag w % -21.9 ¹ 15.1 -3.4 -2.8	ag wage US\$ 92.0 34.0 33.3 78.0	type aver min aver min	non ag/ag wages - * - +
Argentina Guatemala Panama Peru	Period 74-80 77-80 73-77 75-80	GDP/c % 0.1 1.4 -0.6 -0.8	CPI 8 198.6 10.3 7.0 51.7	non-ag w % -16.8 ¹ 7.8 0.3 -4.8 -6.2	ag w % -21.9 ¹ 15.1 -3.4 -2.8 -3.2	ag waga US\$ 92.0 34.0 33.3 78.0 49.4	type aver min aver min min	non ag/ag wages - * - + +
Argentina Guatemala Panama Peru	Period 74-80 77-80 73-77 75-80	GDP/c % 0.1 1.4 -0.6 -0.8	CPI 8 198.6 10.3 7.0 51.7	non-ag w % - 16.8 ¹ 7.8 0.3 - 4.8 - 6.2	ag w % -21.9 ¹ 15.1 -3.4 -2.8 -3.2	ag wage US\$ 92.0 34.0 33.3 78.0 49.4	type aver min aver min min	non ag/ag wages - * - + +
Argentina Guatemala Panama Peru El Salvador	Period 74-80 77-80 73-77 75-80 78-80	6DP/c 8 0.1 1.4 -0.6 -0.8 -13.3	CPI 8 198.6 10.3 7.0 51.7 15.0	non-ag w % -16.8 ¹ 7.8 0.3 -4.8 -6.2	ag w % 15.1 -3.4 -2.8 -3.2 -4.1	ag wage US\$ 92.0 34.0 33.3 78.0 49.4 37.2	type aver min aver min min	non ag/ag wages - * - + +
Argentina Guatemala Panama Peru El Salvador Nicaragua	Perlod 74-80 77-80 73-77 75-80 78-80 76-79	6DP/c % 0.1 1.4 -0.6 -0.8 -13.3 -14.3	CPI 8 198.6 10.3 7.0 51.7 15.0 18.3	- 16.8 ¹ 7.8 0.3 - 4.8 - 6.2	ag w % 15.1 -3.4 -2.8 -3.2 -4.1 -2.0	ag wage US\$ 92.0 34.0 33.3 78.0 49.4 37.2 50.6	type aver min aver min min min	non ag/ag wages - * - + +

Periods of economic stagnation or recession

Mid-sixtles to mid seventles

Early eightles

		A	nnual gr	owth rate	of	1984		change in ratio
	Period	GDP/c	CPI	non-agw gr	ag w	ag wage	type	non ag/ag wages
		70	70	<i>1</i> 0	<i>N</i> O			
Brazil	80-83	-3.3	122.8	-9.3	-4.5	60.1	aver	+
Chile	81-84	-4.1	22.5	-12.4	-12.2		min	~
Colombia	80-84	.3	22.6	5.0	-1.2	97.2	aver	-
				4.0	5.2	95.2	min	+
Costa Rica	79-83	-5.0	46.7	-1.4	-1.2		min	*
				-7.9	-4.5		aver	+
Ecuador	80-84	4	26.9	-14.5	-12.1	70.4	min	· +
El Salvador	80-84	-7.2	13.9	-8.8	-12.3	62.4	min	-
Guatemala	80-84	-4.3	6.6	3.7 ^k	3.1 ^k		mIn	. R
Honduras	81-84	-3.1	7.5	-2.3	0.9		min	· · · ·
Mexico	81-84	-3.1	79.6	-15.0	-15.0	110.0	min	ø
Nicaragua	82-84	-2.6	35.1	-12.2	-10.5		aver	. +
Panama	80-84	0.0	2.8	-3.3	-3.3		min	8
Paraguay	82-84	-3.3	16.0	-4.7	-5.8		aver	- ,
				-3.8	-3.8		min	*
Uruguay	80-84	-5.6	39.7	-3.1	-6.3		min	-

1 ı

Table

16:

Comparison

of

agricultural

and non-agricultural

real wages

49

Table 17:	Agr	icult	tural	and	non-ag	gricul	tural	real	wages,	1965	5-1984										• ,
Arcentina	19	65	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979、	1980	1981	1982	1983	1984
Constr. w Agr. w	32	73 15	365 213	374 219	341 199	348 207	358 228	361 259	333 235	369 263	394 302	4 92 280	262 154	258 141	217 124						
Brazil Constr. w Agr. w			117	117	112	179	175 107	184 113	180 117	172	175	184 154	190	200 155	206 161	198	199 100*	206	· 209	152 90	146 89
Chile Urban min	w 0.	67 28	0.67	0.68	0.64	0.64	0.62	0.66	0.48	0.31	0.39	0.39	0.41	0.43	0.51	0.50	0.50	0.58	0.59	0.47	0.40
Agr min w Colombia		20	490	0.52	428	U.SU 396	450	413	769	374	421	435	0.30 380	0.42 430	476	0.40	573	569	596	678	660
Manuf w Agr min w Agr w	12 3 5	26 78 02	1163 315 500	1186 291 478	1235 275 476	1228 252 528	1394 260 502	1375 239	1226	1216	1160 327	1118	1170 323 609	1144 373 707	1267 409 755	1358 372 737	1360 535 744	1389 530 722	1440 565 685	1560 605 717	1643 650 702
Costa Rica Urban min Constr w	w 3	51	351	348	342	357	350 495	364 507	357 524	334 496	310 448	309 466	337 514 706	359 570	387 628	396 660	394 637	356 562	337 452	391 498	411 540
Agr min w Agr w Ecuador	2	01	200	297	254	200	259	376	371	250 358	330	332	382	471	516	562	563	518	457	506	701
Urbanmin Agrminw El Salvador	W				503	630 473	600 450	415	385	341	429	621 399	461	638 408	366	466	764	648	855 546	485	481
Urban min Agr min w Guatemala	₩	95 72	96 73	101 72	98 70	99 70	96 68	96 68	94 67	68	121 68	123 62	67	103 63	103 63	68	114 58	109 52	96 45	83 39	85 36
Urban min Manuf w Agr min w Agr w	₩	51 97	50 100	50 102	49 104	48 106	47 104	47 105	47 105	42 92 22	43 80 26 22	38 73 23 22	34 72 20 20	30 68 18 18	28 71 17 19	25 73 15 19	40 68 30 16	43 33	43 32	41	39
Honduras Urban min Agr min w	W										83 42	77 45	73 46	68 42	65 41	71 44	65 45	68 53	68 54	62 50	61 49
Mexico Urban min Agr min w	w 6 4	65 57	741 518	720 502	799 568	772 549	832 610	788 579	893 651	797 616	930 676	932 678	999 760	1049 753	1006 750	979 774	915 771	931 799	722 619	605 519	599 514
Urban min Agr min w Danama	w 3 2	61 76	347 266	343 263	328 252	324 249	317 243	312 239	310 256	261 219	267 218	283 218	292 219	297 231	301 238	283 203	241 182		×.		
Urban min Agr min w	₩ .	90 42	90 42	89 42	87 41	86 40	83 39	82 38	97 61	91 57	83 56	81 55	77 53	74 51	71 49	70 49	73 53	68 49	65 47	65 46	62 53
Urban min Agr min w	w 62	30	6050 5378	5969 5380	5933 5385	5798 5381	5850 5603	5943 5537	5606 5277	6303 5336	5594 5003	5405 4745	5175 4997	4732 4566	4918 5558	3837 5074	3874 5510	3965 5644	3976 5665	3660 5211	3383 4815
Urban min Agr min w	w 14 11	189 59	1749 1064	1693 997	1674 964	1576 1032	1860 1055	1854 1173	1943 1151	1914 1183	1945 1076	1805 1113	1663 1072	1460 935	1229 737	1252 974	1398 979				
Constr w (Agr w	Index)		9.0	117 10.5	97 11.4	106 14.9	100 15.6	127 15.8	111 12.3	115 10.2	118 11.6	103 11.8	93 11.2	81 10.9	76 11.8	69 10.8	65 9.8	68 9.7	68 9.5	62 7.8	59 7.9

, I

* New series Sources: Tables 8a and 8b - 50 -

PREALC's (1980) findings of an overall increase in real wages in agriculture which was based on data extending to 1977 only.

During this period, 1965-1980, GDP per capita (although experiencing a very unequal evolution) has increased significantly in most countries. Exceptions are Nicaragua, where it was in 1980 below its 1965 level, and Mexico and Peru where it was only 10 per cent higher. The result is that during this favourable growth period of 15 years agricultural wage earners have lost very significantly compared to the average income in the nation in all countries except Chile and Mexico.

This phenomenon of absolute impoverishment in a majority of Latin American countries has further worsened in the 1980s. During this period, real agricultural wages have fallen drastically in all countries, with the only exceptions being Colombia, Honduras, and Panama. In Mexico, for example, where wages had risen enormously between 1965 and 1980, the dramatic fall in wages in the early 1980s has brought the agricultural wage back to its 1965 level. In Brazil, wages in 1984 were only 11 per cent higher than in 1965; in Chile, 17 per cent.

For some wage earners, falling real wages may have been compensated by greater access to land. Indeed, the number of small farms has increased by 92 per cent between 1950 and 1980 while agricultural EAP increased by 67 per cent. Yet, we do not know whether the growing number of small farms is due to landless gaining access to land or to medium farms becoming increasingly subdivided: While land reform programmes have given access to land to landless workers, in Peru, for instance (Brass), the aggregate effect of these reforms has been small and the process of subdivisions should dominate in the creation of small farms.

Impoverishment of the agricultural wage earners has been shared by the urban unskilled workers as well. In fact, urban wages of unskilled workers have declined even more than agricultural wages during the last 20 years. The result is that, relative to their urban counterparts, agricultural workers have improved their wage conditions in all countries except Ecuador and El Salvador. Wages of agricultural and non-agricultural workers have thus, over the last 20 years, converged in a downward movement as rural wages fell less than urban wages. Doc. 9307e

The absolute value of the two wages can hardly be compared because agricultural contracts often include more than the monetary wage and because the cost of living is also frequently lower in rural than in urban areas. However, in most countries, the level of agricultural wages was still in 1980 between 50 and 75 per cent of the corresponding urban wage. (A notable exception is Paraguay where the agricultural minimum wage is higher than the urban minimum wage, but this could be due to a change in the statistical base in 1977). An even more formidable task is an international comparison of agricultural wages when they are transformed into dollars using the official rate, years of hyperinflation exchange particularly during the when computations of the average level of wage, CPI, and exchange rate are more difficult. In spite of this, table 16 reports these levels for 1970, 1975, and 1980.

International comparisons of agricultural wages can be used to test the hypothesis that the level of wages is lowered by the presence of a large mass of semi-proletarianised peasantry and that it increases as the peasantry disappears and full proletarianisation increases. This hypothesis derives from the theory of functional dualism according to which peasant household production acts as a subsidy to wages since part of the subsistence cost of semi-proletarian households is borne by household labour, largely with zero opportunity cost on the labour market, applied to home production. The counterthesis is that full proletarianisation of the peasantry would increase the supply of agricultural labour and drive the level of agricultural wages down further.

Regressions were run across countries for which data are available to explain average wages and minimum wages as a function of the relative importance of the peasantry in the agricultural labour force (the ratio of EAP in traditional agriculture to total agricultural EAP in table 6), of the level of proletarianisation (taken as the share of wage labour in agriculture in the population census closest to 1970, as published in the United Nations, Demographic Yearbook), and of GDP per capita. The results are as follows:

Endogenous variable: average agricultural wage, 1970 and 1975. Observations: Colombia, Brazil, Costa Rica, Uruguay, and Argentina.

Wage	GDP per capita	Size of peasantry	$\underline{\mathbf{R}}^2$
1970	0.038 (1.509)*	-0.771 (-1.672)*	0.89
1975	0.056 (1.909)**	-0.306 (-0.553)	0.80
		Proletarianisation	
1970	0.041 (1.217)	0.807 (1.485)	0.88
Endogenous var:	iable: minimum agricul	ltural wage, 1970.	
Observations:	Colombia, Ecuador, Rica, Panama, Mexico	El Salvador, Nicaragua, , (Chile omitted).	Peru, Costa
Wage	GDP per capita	Size of peasantry	\underline{R}^2
1970	0.060	-0.256 (-1.465)**	0.78

0.050 0.302 0.91 (6.170)** (3.155)**

Proletarianisation

* Indicates significant at the 85 per cent confidence level.
** Indicates significant at the 90 per cent confidence level.

These results support the thesis that, in spite of the increasing integration of the rural and urban labour markets and of the competition for temporary employment that originates in town-based landless labour, the peasantry remains an important source of semi-proletarian labour. The larger this reservoir of cheap labour, the lower the level of agricultural wages.

This overall evaluation of the evolution of wages during the last 20 years overlooks very contrasted periods in each country. Most countries have indeed had very unstable growth of GDP per capita with, in most cases, either a change in economic regime or a short recession in the mid-1970s. Noticeable exceptions are Colombia, Costa Rica, and Ecuador which have had a moderate but sustained growth, at least until 1980. The evolution of wages is observed to be strongly influenced by macroeconomic changes. For most countries, a

periodisation of the macroeconomy also gives a good periodisation of wage movements. This analysis by periods is reported in table 16.

It is interesting to note that agricultural wages do not seem to be influenced by the growth of the agricultural sector itself but more by overall economic growth. This supports a similar result that was found in the analyses of migration and employment patterns in which pull effects determined outside of agriculture clearly dominate over push effects that originate in agriculture.

Comparisons across countries of the growth periods show a great diversity in the evolution of real wages but some regularity in the evolution of the ratio of agricultural to non-agricultural wages. During the growth periods of the mid-1960s to the mid-1970s, characterised by annual growth rates of GDP per capita of 2 to 4.5 per cent and by fairly low rates of inflation (below 15 per cent for most countries), the ratio of agricultural to non-agricultural wage has, in most cases, remained fairly constant. In the growth periods of the late 1970s, characterised by higher growth rates (3.5 to 7 per cent) and higher rates of inflation (over 20 per cent in most countries), the ratio of agricultural to non-agricultural wages has increased. This resulted from either a larger decrease of the urban wage or a larger increase of the agricultural wage (PREALC, 1980). This narrowing of the wage gap can be attributed, as was seen in the study of the evolution of the employment structure of rural and urban populations (table 13), to an increasing integration of the agricultural and non-agricultural labour markets. particularly in periods of high growth rates of the economy.

Periods of stagnation and of recession, by contrast, exhibit less regularity in the evolution of relative wages. But absolute levels of real wages remain strongly affected by the overall economic performance and by the rate of inflation. In the occurrences of stagnation in the late 1970s and in all situations of recession, all real wages declined with the exception of Colombia. However, the magnitude of the decline seems to be related to the rate of inflation more than to the magnitude of the recession itself. This is also true within each of the contrasted periods when real wages are related to inflation on a year-to-year basis. This result contradicts PREALC's finding of the relative protection of agricultural wages against inflation as that study did not incorporate the high inflation periods of the late 1970s and 1980s.

Comparison of the average wage to the minimum wage in agriculture can only be done meaningfully for Colombia and Costa Rica. While, for the overall 20-year period, the ratio of these two wages seems to have kept constant (as noted in the PREALC study for the 1965-1977 period), the two countries, in fact, show contrasted behaviour in their different subperiods. In Colombia, the average wage was much less volatile than the minimum wage. It did not decrease as much as the average wage during the first period and then increased less during the second period. By contrast, in Costa Rica the average wage fluctuates more than the minimum wage.

Real wages paid to permanent and temporary workers

In table 18, wages of temporary agricultural workers are compared to those of permanent workers in Brazil and Chile. In both countries, temporary workers' wages are higher than those of permanent workers to compensate for flexibility on the employer's side and irregularity of work on the worker's side.⁴ The case of Brazil shows important differences in wage levels between the rich south and the poor north-east, although wages in the north-east have partially caught up with those in the south during the last 20 years, implying a higher integration of the region induced by the very rapid growth of the economy.

The evolution over time shows a periodisation similar to that of the previous table, with 1975 and 1981 as turning points. While growth rates in permanent workers' wages were, respectively, 5.1, 0.2, and -9 per cent during these three periods, they were 7.1, -0.9, and -10.6 per cent for temporary wages, showing a higher volatility of temporary wages. In particular, while in the last three years permanent workers' wages have kept in line with the minimum urban wage (but not with the average wage of construction workers as seen in table 16), temporary workers' incomes have deteriorated even more. The evolution of employment confirms the fact that temporary workers are in a more precarious situation than permanent workers when facing adverse economic since both their employment and their wages have higher situations fluctuations in response to changes in the labour market environment. Doc. 9307e

-	Р	ermanent workers	``````````````````````````````````````		Temporary worke	rs	Chil	e
Year	Nordeste	South	Total Brazil	Nordeste	South	Total Brazil	Permanent	Temporary
-	cruzeiro	s per month (197	/ prices)	Cruzeir	os per day (1977	prices)	pesos per day	(1980 prices)
1966	466	714	561	17	29	20	а	
1967	504	752	607	18	28	20	· ·	
1968	462	670	585	17	26	21		
1969	486	718	639	16	28	20		
1970	508	721	652	16	27	21		
•	•							
1971	500	775	681	18	31	22	164	195
1972	501	834	700	18	33	23	136	150
1973	563	887	. 784	21	39	28	113	121
1974	627	909	810	28	45	34	82	110
1975	670	977	875	29	48	37	64	84
1976	664	952	866	29	45	36	70	83
1977	684	971	903	30	46	37	71	87
1978	753	982	952	30	41	36	77	103
1979	790	959 ·	927	30	40	35	81	101
1980	718	958	870	30	44	35		
1981	772	989	888	30	· 44	35		
1982	795	969	896	27	42	32		· · · · ·
1983	658	820	743	22	36	27		
1984	656	758	670	23	31	25		

Sources:

For Brazil, Fondation Vargas, Agropecuaria, Precos Medios, Revisao e Atualizacao da Serie 1966-1984, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 1985.

For Chile, L. Jarvis, Chilean Agriculture Under Military Rule. University of California, Institute of International Studies, Berkeley, 1985, p. 63.

8 56 I

Unemployment and underemployment in agriculture

Data on rates of unemployment for Chile, Peru, El Salvador, Mexico, and Brazil show sharply rising levels, particularly through the 1970s and the early 1980s (table 19). This is true both for national unemployment as well as for unemployment in the agricultural sector. Unemployment assumes different forms in the urban and agricultural sectors, with higher levels of open unemployment in the former and higher levels of underemployment in the latter.

Open unemployment in Chilean agriculture increased from 2.2 per cent of the agricultural labour force in 1966, to 4 per cent in 1975, and 9.1 per cent in 1980. There was a similar sharp increase in Mexico, with open unemployment in agriculture increasing from 0.8 per cent in 1980, to 1.3 per cent in 1960, and 6.3 per cent in 1970.

In Chile, labour surplus in agriculture (defined as the sum of open unemployment and underemployment measured relative to labour needs for observed production) decreased between 1955 and 1970, basically as a result of rapid rural-urban migration and a declining agricultural labour force. Between 1970 and 1980, labour surplus increased in spite of the continued migration and a declining rural labour force due to the loss of access to land in the reform sector and the sharp increase in overall unemployment.

Striking are the very high estimates of agricultural underemployment in countries such as Peru, El Salvador, and Brazil. These figures do not show declining trends and indicate the permanence of large masses of surplus labour, low labour productivity, and poverty for a very large share of the rural population.

Changes over time in the pattern of underemployment due to seasonality show an interesting contrast between the more advanced regions of Brazil (the South-east, Sao Paulo, and the Center West) and the less advanced. The pattern of seasonality decreases in the former while it increases in the latter. According to Kageyama (1985), this is due to the fact that, in the less advanced regions, mechanisation is only partial across tasks, such as ploughing, planting, weeding, and harvesting, and results in an increasing

Year	National unemployment	PEM and POJ	Total unemployment	Agricultural open unemployment	Agricultural surplus labor
	1	2	3	4	5
	-	 percent of total labor force 		percent cultural	of agri- labor force
1955					18
1965					14
1966				2.7	14
1967				2.0	
1968		•		1.8	
1969				1.6	
1970	5.7		5.7	1.7	11
1971	3.8		3.8	1.5	
1972	3.1		3.1	1.0	
1973	4.8		4.8		
1974	9.2		9.2		
1975	14.5	2.0	16.5	4.0	
1976	14.4	7.5	21.9	5.0	19
1977	12.7	5.9	18.6	5.7	21
1978	13.6	4.3	17.9	7.1	19
1979	13.8	4.3	17.3	7.3	17
1980	12.0	5.2	17.2	9.1	17
1981	10.8	4.8	15.6	~ * * *	11
1982	21.1	7.0	28.1		
1983	22.0	12.0	34.0		

Table 19:	Unemployment	and underemployment	in agriculture
	Chile, Peru,	El Salvador, Mexico	and Brazil

PERU

Year	Total unemployment	Total underemployment	Agricultural underemployment
		percent	
1975	- 4.9	42.4	68.2
1976	5.2	44.3	61.8
1977	5.8	48.2	62.1
1978	6.5	52.0	65.4
1979	7.1	51.4	63.5
1980	7.0	51.2	68.2
1981	6.8	46.0	60.0
1982	7.0	49.9	60.9

EL SALVADOR

Year	Total unemployment	Agricultural open unemployment	Agricultural underemployment
		percent	
1965 1970 1975	<u> </u>		39.3 43.0 47.0
1980 (July) 1980 (November)	6.7 16.2	7.8 27.0	•

(Continued on next page.)

CHILE

•

MEXICO

Table 19 (continued):

 Year
 Total unemployment
 Agricultural open employment

 1950
 1.3
 0.8

 1960
 1.6
 1.3

 1970
 6.7
 6.3

BRAZIL: AGRICULTURAL UNDEREMPLOYMENT, BY REGIONS

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Family members	Family Temporary workers members due to seasonality			Overall	
Region	1980	1970	1975	1980	1980	
			percent			
North	33.0	34.0	30.3	35.6	35.9	
Northeast	24.8	11.0	24.1	26.7	29.6	
Southeast ex- cept Sao Paulo	19.2	33.5	39.6	25.9	25.2	
Sao Paulo	14.0	30.4	25.8	17.6	19.2	
South	26.4	43.6	40.0	45.7	32.1	
Center West	20.8	43.9	37.3	29.7	28.4	
Brazil	24.0	25.9	30.2	29.1	29.2	

BRAZIL: UNDEREMPLOYMENT IN AGRICULTURE DUE TO SEASONALITY^a

Region	1970	1975	1980
		percent	·····
North	2.9	4.0	6.3
Northeast	1.9	5.9	8.3
Southeast (except Sao Paulo	9.8	12.5	9.1
Sao Paulo	·9 . 1	8.1	7.0
South	6.7	7.8	10.3
Center West	14.6	13.8	11.9
Brazil	5.8	7.9	8.8

CHILE:

^aState-run minimum employment programs.

Sources:

For columns 1, 2, and 3, see Ministry of Finance, Exposicion de la Hacienda Publica (Chile, 1983).

For columns 4 and 5, see E. Muchnik and C. Zegers, "El Sector Agropecuario Chileno, 1974-1980: Analisis de Tendencias y Perspectivas," Department of Agricultural Economics, Catholic University of Chile, (Santiago, 1980), pp. 179-80.

PERU:

Source: Compendio Estadistico.

(Continued on next page.)

- 60 -

Table 19 (continued):

EL SALVADOR:

<u>Sources:</u> BID, <u>Informe General Sobre el Desarrollo Agropecuario y Rural de El Salvador</u>, 1976; see, also, <u>CEPAL</u>, <u>Economic Situation of Latin America</u>, 1983.

MEXICO:

Source: Censo General de Poblacion y Vivienda, 1950, 1960, and 1970.

BRAZIL:

^aCalculations based on the difference between the peak employment of temporary workers and the full-time equivalent of temporary work. Since temporary workers in agriculture may have other employment opportunities, this ratio does not reflect the actual underemployment of agricultural workers.

Source: Angela A. Kageyama, "Modernizacao, Productividade, e Emprego no Agriculture," Campinas, Sao Paulo (December, 1985), pp. 308-317.

bunching of labour needs at the time of performing the non-mechanised tasks, principally harvesting, which tends to remain manual. Agriculture in the less advanced regions also tends to be less diversified, and peaks in labour demand are consequently high. In the more advanced regions, mechanisation is more complete across tasks, allowing the reduction of labour demands throughout the year and eliminating peaks. In addition, cropping patterns are more diversified, spreading labour needs throughout the year. There thus exists a cycle in the process of modernisation and mechanisation, resulting first in a bunching in labour demands and increasing unemployment due to seasonality. This is later followed by more complete mechanisation of the labour process and greater regional diversification of activities, erasing labour peaks and reducing unemployment due to seasonality.

Implicit remuneration of family labour

In Brazil, the number of active family members per farm increased slightly between 1970 and 1980 (table 20), while the average size of farms smaller than 10 hectares declined (table 11). These two forces combined to increase the population pressure on the land for small farms. In spite of this, income per family worker increased substantially in real terms because of rising product prices. The result is that, on the average for all active family members in agriculture, the level of implicit income has caught up with and surpassed the average wage of permanent workers between 1970 and 1980. However, for all small farmers - on farms less than 5 hectares which represent 37 per cent of all farms and which employ one-third of family labour - income from home production is only 31 per cent of the wage of permanent workers; and this percentage has barely increased over the last decade. On the large farms, by contrast, implicit income increased from 118 per cent of wages to 173 per cent. Even though absolute income of the poorest increased at an annual growth rate of 5.6 per cent, inequality in family farm incomes has increased substantially over the decade. There has thus been a reduction in absolute poverty and an increase in relative poverty, an observation consistent with similar changes at the national level.

Implicit remuneration of family labour from home production on small farms is only a fraction of the wage of permanent workers and can be used as a measure of surplus labour on those farms if the wage of permanent workers is

BRAZIL

					Income per active family member ^a				
Number of active family members				Annual growth	As a pro of avera permanen	oportion ge wage of t workers			
Farm size	1970	1980	1970	1980	1970	1980	rate	1970	1980
hectares	per	farm	percent	of total	1970 c	ruzeiros	percent	pe	rcent
0-5	2.09	2.13	33.0	32.8	417	719	5.6	27.7	31.1
5-10	2.34	2.41	14.7	14.0	718	1,436	7.2	47.7	62.1
10+	2.48	2.53	52.2	53.3	1,783	3,986	8.4	118.4	172.5
Total	2.32	2.38	100.0	100.0	1,163	2,487	7.9	77.2	107.6

Table 20: Implicit remuneration of family labour

CHILE (Region IV, 1976)

	Proportion	Income per activ	ve family memberb	Proportion of minimum wage		
Farm size hectares	of farm households percent	On-farm income dollars [Total income	On-farm income	Total income	
	porconc		5. 5., 1970	per	cent	
0-2	59	92	224	17	42	
2-5	25	385	511	72	95	
5-10	11	830	967	156	181	
10+	4	1,899	2,270	356	424	

MEXICO

	Farm income per active family member ^C				
Farm characteristics	1950	1960	1970		
<u> </u>		1950 pesos			
Ejido Private, 5- hectares Private, 5+ hectares Total	656 340 2,254 1,060	597 103 2,574 787	779 745 4,747 1,315		
Rural Minimum wage, 250 days worked	665	1,078	1,985		
Ejido/minimum wage Private/minimum wage, 5- hectares Private/minimum wage, 5+ hectares Total/ minimum wage	0.99 0.51 3.39 1.59	0.55 0.10 2.39 0.73	0.39 0.38 2.39 0.66		

^aIncome calculated as difference between gross value of sales and expenses.

bIncome from all sources, and there are 3.8 active family members per household.

cIncome calculated as difference between gross value of sales and expenses.

Sources: For Brazil, Agricultural Census (various years); for Chile, Monardes, A. "El Empleo en la Pequena Agricultura: Un Estudio del Valle Central de Chile," University of Chile (1979); and for Mexico (wages), Hewitt de Alcantara, C. <u>Modernizing Mexican Agriculture: Socioeconomic Implications of Technological</u> <u>Change, 1940-1970</u> (Geneva: U. N. Research Institute for Social Development, 1976) and (other data) Agricultural Census (1950, 1960, and 1970).
taken to indicate their potential full-time income. We thus see that there is a considerable degree of surplus labour for one-third of farm family members (0 to 5 hectares), reaching 69 per cent in 1980, and that this surplus has not declined appreciably over the last decade. On farms of 5 to 10 hectares, with 14 per cent of family labour, surplus labour is still 38 per cent in 1980, but it declined by 28 per cent during the last decade. Absorption of surplus labour thus appears to have benefited the medium farms more than the smaller farms.

In Chile (Region IV), as in Brazil, on-farm income for family members increases rapidly with farm size indicating how important land is as the limiting factor on income levels. Using, again, the minimum wage of permanent workers as a measure of full-time income, we see that the small farms (0 to 2 hectares), with 59 per cent of farm households, have as much as 83 per cent surplus labour; farms of 2 to 5 hectares, with another 25 per cent of farm households, still have 28 per cent surplus labour. Off-farm income sources, principally wage income, nearly erase surplus labour for this latter farm category. For the smallest farms, however, there is still 58 per cent surplus labour when accounting for both on- and off-farm incomes.

In Mexico, as in Brazil, the data on implicit remuneration of family labour show an increase in real income on small private farms between 1950 and 1970 (an average annual growth rate of 4 per cent) but not in the <u>ejidos</u> where real income per active member remained essentially constant (an average annual growth rate of 0.9 per cent). The distribution of income thus worsened between private and <u>ejidal</u> sectors, while the ratio of family incomes on small relative to large private farms remained constant (16 per cent in 1970). The ratio of <u>ejidal</u> to large private farm income deteriorated from 29 per cent in 1950 to 16 per cent in 1970.

The real rural minimum wage increased sharply between 1950 and 1970 (an average annual growth rate of 5.6 per cent). Using this as a yardstick of full-time employment income in family farms, we see that surplus labour increases greatly over the 20-year period in both small private farms and <u>ejidos</u>, with surplus labour reaching 61 per cent in 1970. The deterioration was particularly severe on the <u>ejidos</u> where surplus labour increased from 1 per cent in 1950 to 61 per cent in 1970, showing the increasing need for ejido

family members to seek off-farm income opportunities. While the <u>ejido</u> family labour was relatively better off than small private farmers in the 1950s, their conditions converged in the 1970s to a common situation of large surplus labour and a high level of dependency on off-farm income sources.

IV. Agricultural labour contracts

Permanent and temporary employment in agriculture

The data in tables 21 and 22 show evidence of a deep structural transformaion of the wage labour market in Latin American agriculture with a shift from permanent to temporary employment in all countries but Mexico. Changes in technology with increasing mechanisation contributed to this transformation on the demand side. The data on seasonality, reported in table corroborate this evolution with the interesting point 19. that full mechanisation of the seasonal cycle of tasks, which occurs only in few very developed areas, reduces seasonality. However, in many countries, the replacement of permanent workers by temporary workers came early in the 1960s before the rapid technological transformation and, as in Brazil, it also occurred in poor areas which had not introduced technological change to any large extent. The preference given to temporary workers thus came on the part of the landlords as a means of bypassing labour laws or institutional In Brazil, for example, implementation of the Rural Labour constraints. Status in 1963, which extended to agricultural workers the minimum wage and social benefit regulations already applied in the urban labour market, did not include non-resident temporary workers which then became a much cheaper source In Chile, labour laws forced payment of the minimum wage fully in of labour. cash, leading to the replacement of permanent workers with land privileges by The antagonisms of the land reform process also led temporary workers. landlords to minimize the presence of permanent workers on their farms as these were potential candidates for land appropriations. Finally, the labour legislation of 1979 restricted union activity to farms with more than 15 permanent workers, again inducing employers to reduce the size of their permanent labour force below this critical number and to satisfy labour needs with temporary workers. On the supply side, demographic pressures reduced migration opportunities with mounting urban unemployment; and loss of access

Year	Permar	ient	Tempo	rary	Perman Tempor	<u>ent</u> ary	To	otal	
		· · · ·							
Argentina: paid worker	S					•			
1960 1969 Chapage 1960-69 $(\%)$	582 338	724 751 -41 9	212 240	582 451 +13 1	2.7 1.4			795 579	306 202 -27 2
Chile: paid workers		41.0						•	<i>L</i> • <i>L</i>
1965 1976 Change, 1965-76 (%)	184 148	464 543 -19.5	146 214	202 202 +46.5	1.3 0.7			330 362	666 745 +9.7
Mexico: paid workers o private farms larger than 5 hectares	<u>n</u>								
1960 1970 Change, 1960-70 (%)	143 184	096 846 +29.2	956 627	700 241 -34.4	0.15 0.29		1	099 812	796 087 -26.2
Brazil: paid workers			ан Ад						
1970 1980 Change, 1970-80 (%)	1 075 1 956	806 269 +81.8	1 457 2 699	141 337 +85.2	0.74 0.72		2 4	532 655	947 606 +83.8
Sources: Agricultural	Censuse	5•						•	

Table 21: Permanent and temporary employment in agriculture

.

	·		• •
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	1965	1970	1976
Chile, VI region			
Percentage of days worked by permanent workers in total number of paid work days	88	80	33
Number of permanent paid workers per HRB ²	0.14	0.11	0.05
Number of days worked by permanent paid workers per HRB	32	. 29	13
Number of days worked by temporary paid workers per HRB	13	17	17
Total number of days worked by paid workers per HRB	38	38	30
Number of work animals per HRB	0.07	0.04	0.12
Number of tractors per HRB	0.011	0.016	0.024

Table 22: Temporary versus permanent employment

Note: HRB = basic irrigated hectares.

Sample: In 1965, 16 large haciendas in Zone VI.

In 1970, the same geographical area has been transformed into 5 land reform co-operatives, 31 unexpropriated private farms created by subdivisions of the haciendas, 8 farms identical to 1965, and 2 reserves.

In 1976, the same geographical area had been transformed into 8 land reform co-operatives, 81 land reform individual farms, 3 co-operatives of land reform beneficiaries, and 49 private sector farms.

Source: J. Dorsey, "Empleo de Mano de Obra en las Haciendas del Valle Central de Chile: VI Region, 1965-1970-1976", (Santiago, Chile: PREALC/199, April, 1981). to land in the reform sector, as a result of the counterreform of the military, created a large mass of landless workers, usually based in rural towns and available for hire on a temporary basis.

The detailed data for Region IV of Chile give a clear case of this transformation in a fruit-growing area. There the percentage of days worked by permanent workers in the total number of paid workdays fell by 63 per cent between 1965 and 1976. The number of days worked by permanent paid workers per hectare decreased by 59 per cent while that of days worked by temporary workers increased by 31 per cent. The total number of days worked by temporary workers increased by 31 per cent. The total number of days worked by temporary workers of either type fell by 21 per cent as labour was substituted by work animals (plus 71 per cent) and by tractors (plus 118 per cent). We thus witness a reduction in labour use per hectare as a consequence of substitution of labour by capital and a massive substitution among labour categories of permanent by temporary labour.

The overall data for Argentina and Chile corroborate the substitution of permanent by temporary labour observed in the above regional study. Going back to the more detailed data for Brazil reported in table 10, the comparison of the evolution of temporary and permanent employment shows that temporary work is more volatile, decreasing more rapidly in the 1960s and then This flexibility of temporary contracts in a increasing more in the 1970s. context of economic instability is obviously to the advantage of employers. From the workers' side, we saw in table 18 that their wages also fluctuate more, making them vulnerable to income changes. More detailed analysis (Rezende, 1985) shows a significant transformation of the nature of the temporary workers during these two decades. Temporary workers of the 1960s were, in large part, resident workers who actually were temporary workers in terms of the length of time they worked for their employer but had long-term work agreements. When they were dismissed in the 1960s, they were replaced in the 1970s by non-resident temporary workers which often live in urban areas. The inferior attributes of these temporary jobs induced a deskilling of the corresponding labour force with an increasing participation of women, children, and elderly workers.

Forms of remuneration to workers

In Chile, there has been a rapid decline in labour payments in kind. Until the early 1960s, most permanent agricultural workers were paid largely with benefits in kind - principally access to arable land in usufruct and grazing rights (Jarvis, p. 120). Wages paid were above the minimum wage, and employers were allowed to deduct the value of in-kind benefits from cash payments. After 1960, both the minimum wage and the share of total wage to be paid in cash increased substantially. The real minimum wage in agriculture rose 27 per cent between 1960 and 1965, 60 per cent between 1965 and 1970, and another 30 per cent in 1971. The proportion of wage to be paid in cash rose from 27 per cent in 1960, to 75 per cent in 1965, and reached 100 per cent in 1970. Wages paid rose even faster than minimum wages during this period as employers were unable to reduce in-kind payments as fast as the mandatory cash The 1960s were thus a decade highly favourable for payments increased. agricultural workers, while it was detrimental to large landowners who were being negatively affected by both protective labour legislation and the progress of the land reform. This situation was reversed after 1973 with falling real wages and favourable land and labour legislation for landowners.

The rise in cash wages as a share of total labour payment thus increased from 45 per cent in 1965 to between 77 per cent and 100 per cent in 1976 (table 23). The size of land assignments per worker on large farms declined from 12 hectares in 1965 to 2 hectares in 1976 (Dorsey, 1981).

After 1976, the share of cash wage in total income of farm workers remained essentially constant. It ranged from 75 per cent on wheat farms to 100 per cent on fruit orchards (Vargas, 1982). Non-cash payments continued to decline, being replaced by increasing social security benefits and profit sharing, particularly in the most modern enterprises such as vineyards and It is, however, estimated that the proportion of the fruits for export. force covered by social security agricultural labour declined from three-fourths to less than one-half between 1976 and 1981. This is probably due to the fact that, with rising unemployment and falling agricultural wages, many workers found it increasingly difficult to make the required social security contributions. In addition, workers were trying to enhance their individual competitive position by foregoing social security benefits.

Doc. 9307e

Table 23: Forms of remuneration to workers

A. <u>Chile^a</u>

		Share of total income			
	-	Cash	Payments	Social	Profit
Activity	Year	wage	in kind	security	sharing
	-		perce	ent	
Large farms	1965	47	33	18	2
Vineyards	1976 1981	79 80	11 7	4 5	6 8
Fruits for exports	1976 1981	85 80	• ¹² • 5	1 5	2 11
Mixed crops	1976 1981	79 87	19 9	1 2	1 2
Fruits for domestic market	1976 1981	100 97	0 1.5	0 0.5	0 1
Wheat	1976 1981	77 75	23 25	0 0	0 0
Activity	Year		Farm area in land assignments to workers	Size s assi per	of land gnment worker
			percent	hec	tares
Large farms	1965 1970 1976		1.1 0.8 0.6		12 5 2

(Continued on next page.)

Table 23 (continued)

		Type of payment	
Farms —	Money	Food	Drink
		percent	
Irrigation zone		•	
Subfamily ^b	88.4	4.5	7.1
Subsistence	00.0	3 0	5.0
Conitalist	00 8	0	4.5
Capitalist	99.0	0	0.2
Total	96.9	1.0	2.1
Sierra			
Subfamily	67.8	26.2	16.0
Subsistence	54.5	23.3	18.2
••••••			•
Total	56.7	26.5	16.7

B. Valle de Mezquital, Mexico

^aRemuneration to permanent workers.

^bThe strata correspond to those given by Roger Bartra in <u>Estructura Agraria</u> <u>y Clases Sociales en Mexico</u>, Editorial Era, 1974, as agricultores pauperizados, medios, acomodados, capitalistas.

Sources:

CHILE

For large farms, see A. Valdes, "Wages and Schooling of Agricultural Workers in Chile," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 19, No. 2, January, 1971; see, also, J. Dorsey. <u>Empleo de Mano de Obra en las</u> Haciendas del Valle Central de Chile: <u>IV Region, 1965, 1970, 1976</u>, Working Paper No. 199. Santiago: PREALC, April, 1981.

For vineyards, see V. Vargas. <u>Salarios Agricolas en Chile en el Periodo</u>, 1975-1981: Estudios de Casos, Monograph 25. Santiago: PREALC, July, 1982.

MEXICO

M. Aguirre y Beltran and Hubert C. de Grammont, <u>Jornaleros Agricolas de</u> Mexico. Mexico: Editorial Macehual (no date). We can thus conclude that in-kind payments are no longer a significant source of labour income in Chile and that social security benefits and profit-sharing income represent yet a minimal complement to the cash wages received.

In Mexico, as in Chile, cash remuneration makes up the large bulk of wage labour payments. The daily payment in cash for labour services reflects the high degree of casualness of much of the agricultural labour market. This varies somewhat by region and by the type of farm offering employment.

Table 23 summarises information collected by R. Cabrera Palomec in a 1973 survey of 129 farms in the Valle del Mezquital, a relatively advanced agricultural area in the state of Hidalgo. In the irrigated lowland region where most employment was offered by capitalist or transitional farms, 96.9 per cent of the payment for labour services was in cash. This percentage is, however, high as well on sub-family farms (88.4 per cent) and on subsistence farms (88.8 per cent). In contrast, in the marginalised highland areas where all the employment was found on subsistence or sub-family farms, cash payments represent only 56.7 per cent of wage while 43.2 per cent is given in the form of food and drink.

Data for both Chile and Mexico thus indicate that payments in cash to hired workers has become the norm in the areas of commercial agriculture. Partial payment in food and drink only remains significant in the marginal areas of the peasant family.

V. Household incomes and rural poverty

Sources of income

Data on sources of income by farm size are scarce and those available apply to specific microregions where household surveys were conducted (table 24). They cannot be aggregated in any systematic way to reflect the overall Latin American situation. Yet, there is a considerable degree of consistency across the data available (table 24), showing a high level of dependency on non-farm sources of income for a large percentage of farm households. Among off-farm income sources, wages are always, by far, the largest contributor.

.

		Share of	Shares	Total household		
Country and farm size	Year	tarm households	rarm Uther activities Wages activities			annual net income
hectares			perc	ent	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	dollars (U. S.)
Cajamarca (Peru)						
0- 3.5 3.5-11.0	1973	72 17	23 55	50 24	27 21	223 270
Puebla (Mexico)					•	
0-4 4-8	1970	71 25	32 64	58 32	11 3	393 675
Garcia Rovira (Colombia)	, j					
0-4 4-10	1972	20 45	79 86	16 10	5 4	365 543
South Bolivia						
0- 5 5-10	1976-77	67 15	38 63		62 37	320 373
Region IV (Chile)					
0-2 2-5	1976	59 25	36 73	48 21	16 6	848 1,941
Vertentes (Brazi	1)					
0-10 10-20	1979	16 49	а	56 15		
Northwest Altipl (Guatemala)	ano					
0- 1.4 1.4- 3.5 3.5-44.8	1978	63 22 15	24 42 58	63 47 34	13 11 8	
El Salvador						
0-1 1-2	1975	49 22	59 75	31 19	10 6	
Ecuador			•			
0- 1 1- 5 5-20	1974	34 43 16	23 57 79	63 35 12	14 8 9	561 579 1,218
EcuadorSierra						
0- 1 1- 5 5-20	1974		19 52 71	54 36 12	27 12 17	
EcuadorCoast					•	
0- 1 1- 5 5-20	1974		32 60 77	53 31 14	15 9 9	
Chamula (Mexico)	r.					
	1970-1974	l 	11		89	240

Table 24: Sources of income

(Continued on next page.)

^a Blanks indicate no data available

Sources: For Cajamarca, Peru: C.D. Deere and A. de Janvry. "A Conceptual Framework for the Empirical Analysis of Peasants," <u>American Journal</u> of Agricultural Economics, Vol. 1, No. 4 (November, 1979), pp. 601-611.

> For Puebla, Mexico, and Garcia Rovira, Colombia: A. de Janvry, <u>The</u> <u>Agrarian Question and Reformism in Latin America</u> (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1981), p. 245.

> For Chamula, Mexico, and South of Bolivia: C.D. Deere and R. Wasserstrom, "Ingreso Familiar y Trabajo No Agricola Entre los Pequenos Productores de America Latina y El Caribe," in <u>Agricultura</u> de Ladera en America Tropical (Turrialba, Costa Rica: CATIE, 1981).

> For Chile (Region IV): A. Monardes, "Empleo de Mano de Obra, Produccion e Ingresos en Predios de Pequena Agricultura del Valle Central de Chile," Departamento de Economia, Universidad de Chile, Documento de Investigacion No. 17, Santiago, 1977.

> For Vertentes, Northeast Brazil: E. DaSilva, "Peasant Production, Labor Reserve, and the Food Economy of Northeast Brazil." Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics, University of California, Berkeley, June 1983.

> For Guatemala: A. Hintermeister, Guatemala: <u>Pobreza Rural y</u> <u>Credito Agricola al Campesino</u>. Santiago, Chile: <u>PREALC/266</u>, June 1985, p. 37.

> For El Salvador: C.D. Deere and M. Diskin, "Rural Poverty in El Salvador: Dimensions, Trends, and Causes," WEP 10-6/WP64. Geneva: International Labour Organisation, February 1984, p. 6.

> For Ecuador: S. Commander and P. Peek, "Oil Exports, Agrarian Change and the Rural Labour Process: The Ecuadorian Sierra in the 1970s," WEP 10-6/WP63. Geneva: International Labour Organisation, November 1983, p. 33.

> For Ecuador, Sierra and Coast: E. Ortega, "Peasant Agriculture in Latin America," CEPAL Review, No. 16 (April 1982), p. 94.

Doc. 9307e

This indicates high levels of semi-proletarianisation among small farmers in Latin America. With equal farm sizes, the share of wage labour in total income is higher in areas with well-developed labour markets (Cajamarca, Puebla, and Guatemala) than in areas which are predominantly peasant with few employment opportunities (Garcia Rovira). Wage earnings are thus an important determinant of the permanence of small farmers who could otherwise not subsist by home plot production alone. The more employment opportunities are available, the smaller the viable farm size. Small farmers are thus a large reserve of cheap labour for the rural and urban labour markets.

There are unfortunately no data on sources of incomee over time with the result that we cannot directly observe whether small producers are increasingly dependent on wage income or not. We have to rely, for this purpose, on other indicators such as the declining average size of small farms.

Rural poverty

In table 25, a household is considered to be destitute if it cannot afford the basic food basket providing minimum calorie and protein requirements. It is living in poverty if it cannot afford housing and public services, such as health care and education, in addition to the basic food basket.

The data for the year 1970 indicate that poverty is a much more widespread condition in rural areas of Latin America than in urban areas. For Latin America as a whole, 62 per cent of rural households live in poverty and 34 per cent is destitute (table 25). The corresponding urban figures are 26 per cent and 10 per cent, respectively.

Ranking countries in three groups by decreasing levels of rural poverty, we obtain the following statistics:

	Honduras, Brazil, and Peru	Colombia, Mexico, and Venezuela	Costa Rica, Chile, and Argentina
Rural households below poverty line (per cent)	73	49	22
Rural poverty/urban poverty	2.1	2.1	3.1
Gross domestic product per capita, 1970	479	652	933
Agricultural gross domestic product per capita, 1970	46	85	104

This shows that the percentage of rural households below the poverty line declines sharply as GDP per capita and agricultural GDP per capita increase. The location of poverty (ratio of shares of rural to urban households below poverty line) is, however, increasingly in the rural sector as per capita GDP increases across countries. Thus, in spite of rising average per capita income in the country, as a whole, and in spite of the relocation of marginality toward the urban sector, which we observed in table 6, the rural sector remains the principal reservoir of poverty.

Household surveys conducted by the Mexican Government in 1963 and 1975 give detailed information about the nature of rural poverty in that country. Table 26 shows that, while agriculture's share of poor families changed very little from 1963 to 1975, the share of the self-employed (comprised largely of smallholders and <u>ejidatarios</u>) increased by 46 per cent while the share of wage earners declined by 39 per cent. Thus, the rural poor of Mexico are increasingly smallholders rather than agricultural wage workers.

In table 27, the data show that in 1975 rural households accounted for 75.7 per cent of the total number of poor households, with households headed by agricultural workers comprising more than one-half the total poor families. The average income for poor agricultural families is much lower than for any other category of worker, as much as 21 per cent lower than for those families where the head of the household has no occupation.

	Household poverty 1	s below ine	Destitute	households
Country	Rural	Rural Urban		Urban
Argentina	19	5	1	1
Brazil	73	. 35	42	15
Colombia	54	38	23	14
Costa Rica	30	15	7	5
Chile	25	12	11	3
Honduras	75	40	57	15
Mexico	49	20	18	6
Peru	68	28	39	8
Uruguay		10		4
Venezuela	36	20	19	6
Latin America	62	26	34	10

Table 25:	Rural	poverty	: Estin	nates	of	povert	y in
	Latin	America	around	1970	(i	n per	cent)

^a The definitions and calculations of both poverty line and destitution are taken from Oscar Altimir, <u>The Extent of Poverty in Latin America</u>, Staff Working Paper No. 522 (Washington, DC: The World Bank, 1982).

Blanks indicate no data available.

		Percentage of poor	families
	1963	1975	Change
		<u></u>	
Agriculture	54.5	52.5	- 4
Employers	0.9	0.6	-33
Self-employed	22.6	33.0	+46
Family workers		0.3	
Administrators & technicians	0.7		
Wage workers	30.4	18.5	-39

Table 26: Rural poverty in Mexico, 1963 and 1975 (in per cent)

Blanks indicate no data available.

Note: Definitions of poor are as follows:

1963 = MN\$1,000 per month.

1975 = half of the estimated mean household income (MN\$1,621 per month).

Source: J. Bergsman, Income Distribution and Poverty in Mexico (Washington, DC, World Bank, 1980).

	Percent Rural (;	age of ho <u>Urban</u> In per cer	ouseholds Total nt)	Averag Rural (in d	e income Urban ollars)	Total dollars per year
Agricultural workers	50.3	1.5	51.8	483	733	491
All other occupations	17.4	18.5	35.9	698	869	787
No occupation	7.8	4.1	11.9	526	723	594
Not classified	0.2	0.2	0.4	538	566	551
Total	75.7	24.3	100.0	538	833	610

Table 27:Rural povery in Mexico, by occupation of head
of household, 1975

Source: J. Bergsman, Income Distribution and Poverty in Mexico (Washington, DC: The World Bank, 1980).

We thus conclude that agricultural poverty remains massive, affecting as much as 62 per cent of rural households. While higher levels of national per capita income reduce this percentage, the share of agriculture in total poverty does not decline, indicating the need for direct anti-poverty interventions on behalf of the rural population if poverty in that sector is to be reduced to the level of that of other sectors of the economy.

VI. Conclusion

The empirical information on the labour process in agriculture and on the rural labour market, which has been compiled and analysed in this report, gives us only a partial and imperfect picture due to the lack of systematic information and the paucity of rural labour studies in Latin America as well as the tremendous heterogeneity of Latin American nations. The general picture that nevertheless emerges from this information is one of a rapidly declining share of agriculture in the total labour force, of weak capacity of generating non-agricultural employment in rural areas, and of extremely rapid rural-urban migration dominated by pull factors. With lack of employment creation in the modern agricultural sector, insufficient access to land, and limited urban and rural non-agricultural employment opportunities, the peasantry persists not as a superior form of agricultural production but principally as a refuge sector for surplus population. The result is that, even though total marginality (which has remained roughly constant as a share of total EAP) is increasingly displaced toward the urban sector, the size of the peasantry has increased over the last 30 years both in absolute number and in share of agricultural EAP with the size of the peasantry inversely related to the global performance of the economy. Over time, the number of small but average farm size has been falling and farms has grown rapidly; landlessness has quite likely risen as well. Peasants are thus forced to rely increasingly on off-farm income opportunities - principally employment on larger farms. Semi-proletarianisation of the peasantry has thus increased.

Unpaid family labour remains the principal source of work in The bulk of wage labour still appears to be supplied by agriculture. semi-proletarianised peasant household members, not by full time wage It is for this reason that an analysis of rural labour markets in workers. Latin America needs to incorporate a study of not only the landless population but also of peasant households. Doc. 9307e

. - 79 -

An increasing integration of the rural and urban labour markets has induced a partial catching-up of rural with urban wages. But a rapid decline in permanent relative to temporary employment together with land consolidation has relocated an important fraction of agricultural workers in rural towns. These urban-based farm workers compete with the semi-proletarianised peasantry for access to scarce temporary employment opportunities in agriculture. Because they are easier to recruit on a short-term basis, these town-based workers may well outcompete peasants on the temporary agricultural labour market. The net effect on peasant welfare is, however, not clear from the existing data: Real wages in agriculture have fallen in most countries since 1965 and particularly since 1980; land availability per peasant household has declined; but temporary employment has increased as well as access to non-agricultural employment.

In countries and regions where large masses of peasants remain, that peasantry provides the bulk of labour supply; and wages are subsidised by unpaid family labour on the home plot in what has been described as functional (but contradictory) dualism. Where a substantial town-based labour force is available and well integrated labour markets have developed, this system of functional dualism increasingly breaks down either because peasant labour is unavailable or because it is not competitive with town-based workers in terms of recruitment costs for temporary assignments, particularly in peak periods of the year. In this case, agricultural wages tend to increase. How the labour of the rest of the household is utilised and, hence, how it may still subsidise agricultural wages and whether the annual real income of rural workers and households is higher than under functional dualism are unknown at this stage and warrant further research.

It is nevertheless clear that rural poverty remains extensive in Latin America and that agriculture harbours an increasing share of total absolute poverty in spite of the displacement of total marginality towards the urban areas.

Changes in the labour process in -agriculture are characterised by a rising capital/output ratio, indicating rapid mechanisation in the medium and large farms and explaining the slow pace of employment creation in spite of eventually rapid rates of agricultural output growth. Mechanisation tends to

increase the seasonality of employment except in the most advanced areas where mechanisation of all the stages of the labour process has been completed. There has been a rapid shift away from permanent employment and towards use of temporary labour. This is accompanied by both deskilling and feminisation of the labour force. Forms of labour payment in kind or in land rights have rapidly declined to be replaced by wages in cash and minimal social security benefits.

By contrast to Asia, there is only minimal evidence of interlocked factors markets, with land and credit transactions complementary to forms of access to labour. In Latin America, labour increasingly assumes the form of a pure commodity transacted for a cash wage in response to the forces of supply and demand. While open unemployment is small, hidden unemployment is extensive denoting massive surplus labour relative to the labour needs of the modern agricultural sector. The rural labour market takes the form of a secondary labour market with lower skilled and lower paid workers and increasingly precarious labour contracts. Wage determination is dominated by pull factors and wages tend to rise when urban migration tightens the rural labour supply.

The analysis suggests several lines of policy intervention to improve the welfare of rural workers and semi-proletarianised peasant households.

1. Lack of access to land remains the key determinant of poverty in rural Latin America. Consequently, policies that promote redistributive land reforms should be the prime instrument of poverty alleviation. Even access to small plots of land which allow the valorisation of the labour of household members with low or no opportunity cost on the labour market provides an important complementary source of income to wage earnings. Thus, even where land is so scarce that redistributive land reforms could not create viable family farms, access to small plots of land can contribute significantly to welfare. In most of Latin America, however, land is still sufficiently plentiful that redistributive land reforms could create viable family farms if the political will to do so were present.

2. Technological and factor price biases that favour mechanisation in modern agriculture are an important determinant of lack of employment

Doc. 9307e

creation. These biases prevent the benefits of eventually rapid agricultural output growth in the medium and large farms from benefiting the landless and marginal farmers. Removing these price and technological distortions to foment employment creation and to tighten up rural labour markets is thus an important instrument for alleviating rural poverty.

3. An important fraction of rural labour households remains tied to small plots of land. Rural development programmes should thus be promoted to increase the productivity of labour in those semi-proletarianised peasant farms which are of sufficient size to absorb modern technologies. It should be clear, however, that a majority of peasant households will not benefit from these programmes because their access to land is insufficient. Thus, effective rural development programmes need to come as а sequel to redistributive land reform and not as a substitute for it as has all too often been the case in the last 15 years.

4. By contrast to Asian countries, Latin American nations have not been particularly successful in developing non-agricultural sources of employment in the rural areas. Correcting this requires the decentralisation of the highly concentrated pattern of urbanisation and industrialisation.

5. Global labour-absorbing economic growth is one of the main determinants of migration and decline of surplus labour in agriculture. With the peasantry as a refuge sector for surplus populations, the best antidote to rural poverty is thus an actively growing and labour absorbing urban economy particularly if rural reforms and decentralisation of economic activity are not forthcoming.

6. Institutions that facilitate the integration of the rural and urban labour markets and ease the meeting of supply and demand for labour in agriculture should benefit the landless and semi-proletarian peasant households. This includes public land bureaus to provide information on employment opportunities, programmes of skilling of the rural labour force to give it better access to non-agricultural employment opportunities, and enforcement of labour laws.

Doc. 9307e

7. Finally, special anti-poverty programmes toward the rural areas are warranted by the observed inability of current patterns of economic growth to reduce rural relative to urban poverty. This includes employment creation programmes through rural public works, social welfare programmes to increase access to health, education, potable water, and other social amenities in the rural areas and food subsidies for that fraction of the population which is at immediate nutritional risk.

Footnotes

¹ Colombia has been omitted from the subgroup analysis as it was the only country with inconsistent rankings of GDP per capita and migration rate.

² Due to the small number of countries for which various data were available, regression analysis was infeasible.

³ There is no exact correspondence between traditional and marginal sectors, particularly in the urban area where the traditional sector includes self-account workers such as shopkeepers and owners of repair shops, many of whom are not marginals. The traditional sector, as measured here, thus somewhat overestimates the true size of the marginal sector.

⁴ Using as PREALC (1982, p. 141) 30 days as the number of workdays per month in wage calculations for Brazil. Higher levels of skill among permanent than temporary workers tend to narrow the observed wage gap.

Doc. 9307e

References

- 87 -

- Astorga Lira, Enrique; Commander, Simon. 1983. "Mexico: Commercialisation and the Growth of a Migratory Labour Market," WEP Working Paper. Geneva: International Labour Organisation, August.
- Brass, Tom. 1980. "Class Formation and Class Struggle in La Convencion, Peru," in Journal of Peasant Studies, Vol. 7, No. 4, July, pp. 427-457.
- Commander, Simon; Peek, Peter. 1980. "Oil Exports, Agrarian Change and the Rural Labour Process: The Ecuadorian Sierra in the 1970s," WEP Working Paper. Geneva: International Labour Organisation.
- Dorsey, J. 1981. "Empleo de Mano de Obra en las Haciendas del Valle Central de Chile: IV Region, 1965, 1970, 1976," Working Paper No. 199. Santiago: PREALC, April.
- Jarvis, L. 1985. Chilean Agriculture under Military Rule. University of California, Berkeley: Institute of International Studies.
- Kageyama, Angela A. 1985. "Modernizacao, Productividade, e Emprego no Agriculture." Campinas, Sao Paulo, December, pp. 308-317.
- Klein, E. 1984. "El Impacto Heterogeneo de la Modernizacion Agricola Sobre el Mercado de Trabajo," in Socialismo y Participacion, No. 30.
- Pare, Luisa. 1977. El Proletariado Agricola en Mexico. Mexico: Siglo XXI.
- PREALC. 1974. Asalariados de Bajos Ingresos y Salarios Minimos en America Latina. Santiago, Chile: Investigaciones sobre Empleo 18, PREALC, 1980. Shaw, R. Paul. "Land Tenure and the Rural Exodus in Latin America," Economic Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 23, No. 1, October.
- ---. 1982. <u>Mercado de Trabajo en Cifras, 1950-1980</u>. Santiago: International Labour Office.
- Rezende, Gervasio Castro de. 1985. Price of Food and the Rural Poor in Brazil, 1960-80. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Instituto de Pesquisas.
- Rivera, R.; Cruz, M.E. 1984. Pobla dores Rurales. Santiago, Chile: GIA.
- Shaw, R. Paul. 1974. "Land Tenure and the Rural Exodus in Latin America," Economic Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 23, No. 1, October.
- United Nations, Department of International Economic and Social Affairs. 1980. Patterns of Urban and Rural Population Growth, Population Studies No. 68.
- Vargas, V. 1982. <u>Salarios Agricolas en Chile en el Periodo, 1975-1981:</u> Estudios de Casos, Monograph 25. Santiago: PREALC, July.

PREVIOUS PUBLICATIONS

WEP Research Working Papers are preliminary documents circulated informally in a limited number of copies solely to stimulate discussion and critical comment. They are restricted and should not be cited without permission. A set of <u>selected</u> WEP Research Working Papers, completed by annual supplements, is available in microfiche form for sale to the public. Orders should be sent to ILO Publications, International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. This list includes many, but not all, papers which exist or may be issued in microfiche form.

Working Papers

- WEP 10-6/WP1 Poverty and inequality in rural Bangladesh by A.R. Khan (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP2 Poverty in West Malaysia, 1959 to 1970 by Eddy Lee (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP3 South Africa's lumpenproletarian army: "Umkosi Wa Ntaba" -"The Regiment of the Hills" 1880-1920 by C. van Onselen
- WEP 10-6/WP4 Growth and inequality in the rural Philippines by A.R. Khan
- WEP 10-6/WP5 Wages, employment and standard of living of agricultural labourers in Uttar Pradesh, India by Rohini Nayyar (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP6 Rural poverty in Sri Lanka, 1963-1973 by Eddy Lee (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP7 Rural poverty in Indonesia: With special reference to Java by Ingrid Palmer
- WEP 10-6/WP8 The distribution of income in rural China by A.R. Khan (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP9 Rural poverty in Tamil Nadu, India by C.T. Kurien (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP10 Causes and repercussions of rural migration in developing countries: A critical analysis by J. Gaude (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP11 Rural inequalities and the commune system in China by G.B. Ng (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP12 Migration and the urban labour market: The case of San Salvador by Peter Peek and Pedro Antolinez (out of print)
- WEP 10-6/WP13 The impact of agrarian reform on rural Egypt (1952-1975) by Samir Radwan (out of print)

ø

WEP	10-6/WP14	Rural poverty and landlessness in Pakistan - Dimensions and trends (1960-75) by S.M. Naseem (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP15	Aspects of the rural labour market in West Bengal: An analysis of household survey data, 1972-73 by Pranab K. Bardhan
WEP	10-6/WP16	Egalitarian peasant farming and rural development: The case of South Korea by Eddy Lee (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP17	Organisation of agriculture for rural development: The Indian case by Ashok Rudra
WEP	10-6/WP18	Politiques rurales et Migrations en Algírie by Professor A. Benachenhou (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP19	Operation and control of individual economic activities in collective agriculture: The case of China by G.B. Ng
WEP	10-6 /WP 20	The Commilla model and the integrated rural development programme of Bangladdesh - An experiment in "co-operative capitalism" by A.R. Khan
WEP	10-6/WP21	The Bicoa Model: A socio-economic model of rural-urban migration in the Sierra of Ecuador by P.A. Cornelisse, J. Gaude and P. Antolinez (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP22	Agrarian change and rural emigration in Latin America by Peter Peek (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP23	Rural poverty in the Third World: Trends causes and policy reorientations by D.P. Ghai, Eddy Lee and Samir Radwan (out of print)
WEP	2-32/WP17	Household surveys for poverty studies: Some guidelines by Samir Radwan and Torkel Alfthan
WEP	10-6/WP24	Urban poverty, migration and land reform in Ecuador by Peter Peek (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP25	Grassroot management in rural China: The workpoint system of the People's communes by G.B. Ng
WEP	10-6/WP26	Rural poverty in Botswana - Dimensions, causes and constraints by Christopher Colclough and Peter Fallon (out of print)
WEP	10-6/WP27	A simple migration model with market intervention by P. Cornelisse, J. Gaude and P. Antolinez (out of print)

- 90 -

WEP 10-6/WP28	Short-term changes in income distribution in poor agrarian economies: A study of famines with reference to the Indian Sub-continent by Ajit Kumar Ghose
WEP 10-6/WP29	Les liens entre migrations rurales et politiques by J. Trouvé en collaboration avec C. Bessat (out of print)
WEP 10-6/WP30	Equity and growth — Unresolved conflict in Zambian rural development policy by Charles Elliott
WEP 10-6/WP31	Social justice and development policy in Kenya's rural economy by William J. House and Tony Killick
WEP 10-6/WP32	Export-led rural development: The Ivory Coast by Eddy Lee
WEP 10-6/WP33	Poverty, inequality and stagnation: The Ghanaian experience by Assefa Bequele (out of print)
WEP 10-6/WP34	Agrarian reform in West Bengal: Objectives, achievements and limitations by Ajit Kumar Ghose
WEP 10-6/WP35	Growth and inequality: Rural development in Malawi, 1964–1978 by Dharam Ghai and Samir Radwan
WEP 10-6/WP36	Labour migration in the Sierra of Ecuador: Causes and incidence by Peter Peek and Pedro Antolinez
WEP 10-6/WP37	Agrarian reform, structural changes and rural development in Ethiopia by Alula Abate and Fassil G. Kiros (out of print)
WEP 10-6/WP38	L'exode rural des jeunes et les politiques gouvernementales de développement: L'expérience camerounaise by J. Trouvé et C. Bessat
WEP 10-6/WP39	Income distribution and labour utilisation under. different agrarian systems by Dharam Ghai (out of print)
WEP 10-6/WP40	La forma de organizacion cooperativa en la produccion de Asucar: El caso peruano by Santiago Roca
WEP 10-6/WP41	The agrarian reform in Peru: An assessment by Cristobal Kay
WEP 10-6/WP42	A socio-economic input-output matrix adapted for an analysis of internal migration: The case of Ecuador in 1974 by E. de Labastida and J. Gaude

WEP 10-6/WP43 Landholding status, farm size and rural-urban migration: Α micro-macro approach to the Sierra of Ecuador by P. Antolinez and J. Gaude WEP 10-6/WP44 Oil and inequality in rural Nigeria by Paul Collier WEP 10-6/WP45 Growth and distribution: The case of Mozambique by R.K. Srivastava and I. Livingstone "Surpeuplement" et strategies migratoires des paysans au WEP 10-6/WP46 Burundi by de André Guichaoua WEP 10-6/WP47 The agrarian question in Iran by Homa Katouzian WEP 10-6/WP48 Migraciones temporarias y mercado de trabajo rural en. America Latina: Una revision del problema y de la informacion disponible by Jorge Balan WEP 10-6/WP49 Agrarian reform in Kerala and its impact on the rural economy - A preliminary assessment by K.N.Raj and Michael Tharakan WEP 10-6/WP50 A typology of migrants: Some methodological aspects by Peter Peek WEP 10-6/WP51 Land reform and rural development in Nicaragua (1979-81) by Peter Peek (out of print) WEP 10-6WP52 Monitoring the conditions of the poor in the Third World: Some aspects of measurement by Nader Fergany WEP 10-6/WP53 Agrarian reform and structural change in Chile: 1965-1979 by L. Castillo and D. Lehmann WEP 10-6/WP54 Economic Growth, Poverty and Rural Labour Markets in India: A Survey of Research by Kalpana Bardhan WEP 10-6/WP55 Food Policy and Equity in Sub-Saharan Africa by Dharam Ghai and Lawrence Smith (out of print) WEP 10-6/WP56 Mexico: Commercialisation and the Growth of a Migratory Labour Market by Enrique Astorga Lira and Simon Commander WEP 10-6/WP57 The Social Structure and the Labour Market in Turkish Agriculture by Caglar Keyder WEP 10-6/WP58 Rural Labour Markets in Peru: A Study of Labour Exchange by Adolfo Figueroa

WEP 10-6/WP59	Contractual Constraints Upon the Processes of Labour Exchange in Rural Kenya by Paul Collier
WEP 10-6/WP60	Rural Poverty in Panama: Trends and Structural Causes by Roberto Pinnock and Charlotte Elton
WEP 10-6/WP61	Labour Availability and Smallholder Agricultural Development: The Case of Lilongwe Land Development Programme (LLDP) (Malawi) by Graham H.R. Chipande
WEP 10-6/WP62	The New Development Strategy and Rural Reforms in Post-Mao China by Ajit Kumar Ghose
WEP 10-6/WP63	Oil Exports, Agrarian Change and the Rural Labour Process: The Ecuadorian Sierra in the 1970s by Simon Commander and Peter Peek
WEP 10-6/WP64	Rural Poverty in El Salvador: Dimensions, trends and causes by Carmen Diana Deere and Martin Diskin
WEP 10-6/WP65	Agrarian Labour Arrangements and Structural Change: Lessons from Java and Bangladesh by Gillian Hart
WEP 10-6/WP66	The New International Economic Order and Rural Development by Mehmet Arda
WEP 10-6/WP67	Rural Equity in Costa Rica: Myth or Reality by Peter Peek and Carlos Raabe
WEP 10-6/WP68	Agrarian Structure and Rural Poverty: The Case of Honduras by Peter Peek
WEP 10-6/WP69	Agrarian Reform and Poverty Alleviation: The Recent Experience in Nicaragua by Peter Peek
WEP 10-6/WP70	Rural Poverty in Central America: Dimensions, Causes and Policy Alternatives by Peter Peek
WEP 10-6/WP71	Rural Poverty and Export Farming in Guatemala by Alberto Hintermeister
WEP 10-6/WP72	Food Crisis and Development Policies in Sub-Saharan Africa by Hamid Tabatabai
WEP 10-6/WP73	Structural Adjustment and Food Security in Uganda by Vali Jamal

WEP 1	0-6/WP74	Age-Sex Aspects of the Food and Nutrition Problem in rural Bangladesh by Wahiduddin Mahmud and Simeen Mahmud
WEP 1	0-6/WP75	Rural Labour Market in Varhad: A Case Study of Agricultural Labourers in Rain-fed Agriculture in India by C. Rammanohar Reddy
WEP 1	0-6/WP76	Returns to Labour in Developing Country Agriculture: India by Indira Rajaraman
WEP 1	0-6/WP77	Survival Strategies Among Rural Smallholders and Petty Commodity Producers: A Case Study of Western Guatemala by Carol Smith
WEP 1	0-6/WP78	Employment and Livelihood: The nature of the labour process in the formulation of rural development policy by Amit Bhaduri
WEP 1	0-6/WP79	Rural Labour in Latin America by Alain de Janyry Elisabeth Sadoulet and Linda Wilcov

5

Ŀ

BOOKS

Poverty and Landlessness in Rural Asia (ILO)

Agrarian Reform and Rural Poverty: Egypt, 1952-1975 S. Radwan

The Basic-Needs Approach to Development D.P. Ghai, A.R. Khan, E. Lee and T. Alfthan

Agrarian Systems and Rural Development D.P. Ghai, A.R. Khan, E. Lee, and S. Radwan (eds.)

Collective Agriculture and Rural Development in Soviet Central Asia A.R. Khan and D.P. Ghai

Overcoming Rural Underdevelopment - Proceedings of a Workshop on Alternative Agrarian Systems and Rural Development D.P. Ghai, E. Lee, Justin Maeda and S. Radwan (eds.)

Planning for Basic Needs in Kenya: Performance Policies and Prospects D.P. Ghai, M. Godfrey and F. Lisk

Profiles of Rural Poverty (ILO)

The Challenge of Rural Poverty - a progress report on research and advisory services with special reference to rural employment, agrarian institutions and policies 1975-1980 (ILO)

Pauvreté et inégalités rurales en Afrique de l'Ouest françophone René Dumont, Claude Reboul and Marcel Mazoyer

Agrarian Policies and Rural Poverty in Africa Dharam Ghai and Samir Radwan (eds.)

Agrarian Reform in Contemporary Developing Countries Ajit Kumar Ghose (ed.)

Towards Self-Reliance: A Programme of Action for Refugees in Eastern and Central Sudan Edited by Azita Berar-Awad

Labour Markets in the Sudan Ibrahim El-Bagir, Jenny Dey, Ali Abdel Gadir Ali, Tony Barnett, Jayati Ghosh and Albert Wagner

Tradition and Dynamism among Afghan refugees (ILO)

Agrarian Change in Egypt: An Anatomy of Rural Poverty Samir Radwan and Eddy Lee After the Famine: A Programme of Action to Strengthen the Survival Strategies of Affected Populations (ILO)

Labour and Poverty in Rural Tanzania Paul Collier, Samir Radwan and Samuel Wangwe

